

Deciphering the role of oncofetal fibronectin isoforms in matrix assembly and cellular function

Georgios Efthymiou

► To cite this version:

Georgios Efthymiou. Deciphering the role of oncofetal fibronectin isoforms in matrix assembly and cellular function. Molecular biology. COMUE Université Côte d'Azur (2015 - 2019), 2019. English. NNT: 2019AZUR6024 . tel-02971506

HAL Id: tel-02971506 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02971506

Submitted on 19 Oct 2020

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





THÈSE DE DOCTORAT

Etude d'assemblage et des fonctions des isoformes oncofoetales de la fibronectine

Georgios EFTHYMIOU

Institut de Biologie Valrose

Présentée en vue de l'obtention du grade de docteur en Biologie d' Université Côte d'Azur Dirigée par : Ellen Van Obberghen-Schilling Soutenue le : 19 Décembre 2019 à Nice

Devant le jury, composé de :

Corinne Albigès-Rizo, DR, IAB, Université Grenoble Alpes Robert Arkowitz, DR, iBV, Université Côte d'Azur Patricia Rousselle, DR, LBTI, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1 Ellen Van Obberghen-Schilling, DR, iBV, Université Côte d'Azur

Etude d'assemblage et des fonctions des isoformes oncofoetales de la fibronectine

Jury :

Président du jury Robert Arkowitz, CNRS DR, iBV, Université Côte d'Azur

Rapporteurs Corinne Albigès-Rizo, DR, IAB, Université Grenoble Alpes Patricia Rousselle, DR, LBTI, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1

Directrice de thèse Ellen Van Obberghen-Schilling, INSERM DR, iBV, Université Côte d'Azur

Titre

Etude d'assemblage et des fonctions des isoformes oncofoetales de la fibronectine

<u>Resumé</u>

La matrice extracellulaire (MEC) constitue une plateforme fibrillaire intégrant l'action des signaux chimiques et mécaniques de l'environnement. La fibronectine (FN), un composant majeur de la MEC, est au centre de cette plateforme de biorégulation et module de nombreuses actions biologiques telles que l'adhésion et la motilité cellulaires, la prolifération et la différenciation, ainsi que la structure et le dépôt de la MEC. La FN se présente sous deux formes : la FN plasmatique (pFN) et la FN cellulaire (cFN), dite « oncofoetale ». Cette dernière est nommée ainsi pour son expression uniquement au cours du développement et dans certaines conditions physiopathologiques (réparation tissulaire, inflammation et cancer). La différence entre les deux est l'existence dans la cFN des domaines supplémentaires EDB et EDA, qui résultent d'un épissage alternatif. Comment la présence de ces « extra-domaines », EDA et EDB, régit l'assemblage des FN et comment les variantes assemblées régulent le comportement des cellules est en grande partie inconnu. Des études de délétion ciblées d'un seul domaine chez la souris ont révélé le rôle de l'EDA dans des phénomènes très variés dont la morphogenèse des valves lymphatiques, l'athérosclérose et la cicatrisation / fibrose. Au niveau moléculaire, l'inclusion de l'EDA élargit le répertoire des récepteurs cellulaires de la FN (intégrines $\alpha 4\beta 1$, $\alpha 7\beta 1$ et TLR4). A ce jour, aucun récepteur n'a été rapporté pour l'EDB. De ce fait il a été proposé que sa présence modifierait la conformation du site de liaison de FN aux cellules et faciliterait ainsi l'assemblage fibrillaire induit par les intégrines via des mécanismes qui restent à établir.

Le but des travaux de cette thèse était de décoder les rôles de l'EDA et de l'EDB de la FN, et plus précisément de :

1) étudier l'impact de la présence des domaines EDA et EDB sur l'assemblage fibrillaire de la FN à la surface de cellules compétentes pour l'assemblage, et

2) déterminer comment la présence de l'EDB et de l'EDA influence les propriétés biochimiques, physiques et fonctionnelles de la matrice, qui à leur tour affectent le comportement des cellules qui y sont attachées.

Dans un premier temps l'équipe a développé un ensemble d'outils biologiques composé de : i) vecteurs lentiviraux hébergeant la séquence codante complète du gène de la FN humaine contenant l'un, les deux ou aucun des « extra-domaines » alternativement épissés, ii) des variants de FN recombinants purifiés, iii) des fibroblastes embryonnaires de souris FN -/- (Fn1 -/- MEF), et iv) des MEF exprimant des variantes de FN. Cette batterie outils uniques a été utilisée pour étudier l'assemblage spécifique de variantes par les fibroblastes et les effets de réseaux de cFN homogène sur le comportement cellulaire.

Nos résultats ont montré que les « extra-domaines « de la FN sont responsables au niveau des fibroblastes du réglage fin de l'amplitude de plusieurs réponses dont l'assemblage de la matrice, la croissance et le métabolisme énergétique. En utilisant une approche informatique « non-biaisée », nous avons démontré que la présence des « extra-domaines » modifie la structure de la matrice de la FN déposée par les fibroblastes. Ceci témoigne d'événements de signalisation cellulaire différents, qui sont susceptibles de modifier aussi bien les réponses précoces que tardives induites par la FN. Les matrices variant-spécifiques que nous avons développées représentent des outils très puissants pour décrypter les fonctions des « extra-domaines » de la FN dans les multiples types de cellules impliquées non seulement dans des réponses physiologiques mais également dans des situations pathologiques.

<u>Mots clés</u>: matrice extracellulaire, fibronectine, extra-domaines, EDB, EDA, intégrines, fibroblastes embryonnaires de souris, cancer

<u>Title</u>

Deciphering the role of oncofetal fibronectin isoforms in matrix assembly and cellular function

<u>Abstract</u>

The Extracellular Matrix (ECM) constitutes a fibrillar platform that integrates the action of chemical and mechanical cues from the environment. Fibronectin (FN), a major component of the ECM, is at the center of this bioregulatory stage, modulating numerous biological procedures such as cell adhesion and motility, cell proliferation and differentiation, as well as ECM deposition and structure. FN is found in two forms: plasma FN (pFN) and cellular FN (cFN). cFN differs from pFN by the presence of alternatively spliced Extra Domains, namely EDB and EDA. Each of these alternatively spliced regions is encoded by a single exon, the regulation of which is strictly regulated and limited to embryonic tissues, as well as pathophysiological conditions such as wound healing, inflammation, and cancer. The term "oncofetal" was coined in order to describe FN isoforms harboring either of the Extra Domains, that are normally absent in adult tissues.

How the presence of EDA and EDB regulates FN assembly and how the assembled variants regulate cell behavior is largely unknown. Single Extra Domain-targeted deletion studies in the mouse have revealed roles for EDA in the morphogenesis of lymphatic valves, atherosclerosis, and wound healing/fibrosis. Mechanistically, the inclusion of EDA expands the repertoire of cellular FN receptors ($\alpha 4\beta 1$, $\alpha 7\beta 1$ integrins and TLR4). To date, no ligand has been reported for EDB. Rather, its presence has been postulated to alter the conformation of the cell-binding domain of FN and to facilitate integrin-driven fibrillar assembly by mechanisms that remain to be established.

The aim of this dissertation is to provide more insight regarding the roles of the FN Extra Domains EDA and EDB, and more specifically:

1) To investigate how the presence of alternatively spliced EDA and EDB domains affect the fibrillar assembly of FN at the surface of assembly-competent cells, and

2) To determining how the presence of EDB and EDA influences the biochemical, physical, and functional properties of the matrix that in turn affect the behavior of cells attached to it.

Here we present a biological toolset composed of : i) lentiviral vectors harboring the full-length coding sequence of human cFN containing one, both, or none of the alternatively spliced Extra Domains, ii) purified recombinant FN variants, iii) FN-null mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) and iv) FN variant-expressing MEFs. These unique tools were used to study variant-specific assembly by fibroblasts and the effects of homogeneous cFN networks on cell behavior.

Utilizing an unbiased computational approach, we document that the presence of the Extra Domains results in a distinct pattern of FN deposition and assembly that in turn influences both early and late signaling events that control cell proliferation as well as cell contractility. Finally, we present a series of novel data that point towards a FN-impacted control of cell energetics.

We conclude that FN Extra Domains are responsible for the fine-tuning of the extent of several cellular processes that can reflect strict regulation in pathophysiological procedures such as tissue repair, fibrosis, and tumor progression.

Keywords: extracellular matrix, fibronectin, extra domains, EDB, EDA, integrins, mouse embryo fibroblasts, cancer

To all those who helped me get where I am now. In their own personal way.

Acknowledgments

At the time that these lines are being written, it has been almost four years since I started my PhD back in 2015, just two months after being recruited in the highly competitive SIGNALIFE PhD program. Four years are definitely not a long period, but it is long enough for knowledge and experience to be obtained, and bonds to be formed among people, the gratitude to whom is hard for me to put into words.

I would like to start by thanking all the people involved in the Labex SIGNALIFE Program. A large family who has worked together in order to create an outstanding platform that has functioned as a springboard for me and other young researchers, providing the funds needed for the smooth completion of our studies. I would like to acknowledge the efforts of Konstanze Beck who has been the guide and companion for me and so many other SIGNALIFE Students since our arrival in France, as well as Martine Avella, the Labex SIGNALIFE Project Officer, and Anna Bliznyuk, the Labex SIGNALIFE Assistant.

At this point, it is also of major importance for me to thank the ARC Scientific Committee who deemed me worthy of one extra year of funding, which has proved both useful and necessary.

My greatest thanks goes to a group of people that have been my second family for the last four years: the team "Adhesion Signaling and Stromal Reprogramming in the Tumor Microenvironment" led by Dr Ellen Van Obberghen-Schilling. My words can in no way describe how grateful I am to Ellen. First for accepting me in the group and secondly for trusting me throughout all these years. You have been a real mentor and an inspiring scientist, who considered me a colleague. I thank you for always being available to discuss, search, troubleshoot, and for always hearing my opinions and proposals. The outcome of those four years is the result of fruitful communication and real teamwork between us. For that, I truly thank you, and I hope that all my future professional partnerships will be like this.

A big "merci" to Dominique Grall. As I used to say "Sans labo, Dominique existe. Sans Dominique, labo n'existe pas"! Do, you were the first person who came in direct contact with my initial ignorance and clumsiness. Thanks to you, I learned so much in such a short time. Thank you for all your technical help in the lab, your patience, and your support. Thank you for our discussions and for believing in me.

Delphine Ciais has played a special part in my life in the lab. You have always been the toughest to convince and through this, you taught me how to be perseverant, coherent, concise, having a critical mind, and distinguish the difference between "doing experiments" and "finding the right approach to answer a question". We have not really *worked* together, but our interaction has been of catalytic importance to me.

I feel more than grateful for having met and worked side by side with so many people that have been members of this beautiful family. Primarily, Agata Radwanska, who was the initiator of the project that eventually became my own. I owe you so much. Special thanks to Angélique Saint, the "médecin traitant du labo", as well as Michael Ruff, "notre petit Michael", for their help, support, and insight, but also for making the everyday routine more pleasant! I would also like to thank all the "younger" members of the lab: young students, master students, interns. Each one of them has contributed, even in some small way, to "surviving the thesis"!

During those four years, I have been lucky to work and interact with people from different laboratories as well. I greatly appreciate the invaluable insight, help, and sharing of knowledge and expertise provided to me by Laurent Counillon and all the members of the team "Ionic Transport Pathophysiology" at the Laboratory of Molecular PhysioMedicine (LP2M), with a great emphasis to the contribution of Mallorie Poet. Additionally, I am indebted to Didier Pisani for his priceless help with the Seahorse analyzer, and Sabrina Pisano for all the AFM microscopy sessions and analysis she has performed for me.

It would be a serious omission if I did not include our collaborators in the i3S (Laboratoire d'Informatique, Signaux et Systèmes de Sophia Antipolis), namely Laure Blanc Feraud and Xavier Descombes, as well as the SIGNALIFE student Anca Ioana Grapa. Thank you very much for our nice collaboration. Many of the results in this manuscript would not have been possible without your aid and effort.

Of great importance has been the help I received from the different core facilities of the institute. Thus, I would like to thank all the people that took part in my efforts, directly and indirectly. More specifically, I would like to express my thanks to Maurice Hattab and the Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Facility for taking care of the purification of the proteins I have been working with all these years. To the Imaging facility and its personnel for all the trainings, assistance, analyses, and troubleshooting, especially Magali Mondin, Sébastien Schaub, and Simon Lachambre. I also thank in the Histopathology facility, Samah Rekima and Belinda Desrues, as well as Agnès Loubat for her assistance in the Cytomertry facility. Finally, I would like to thank all the members of the institute, students, researchers, engineers, administration personnel, and the wonderful ladies in the common services who have collectively made my lab life and work so much easier. Thank you all!

A special thanks to the members of the scientific committee, for accepting to review and evaluate my work, Dr. Corinne Albigès-Rizo and Dr. Patricia Rousselle, for taking the time to come to Nice for my thesis defense. I also express my thanks to Dr. Robert Arkowitz for being my internal advisor during these four years, and for presiding the thesis committee.

This endeavor would not have been successful if not for several people who have been and have become part of my life outside of the lab. I would like to thank my close friends, my friends and my acquaintances in Nice and anywhere else in the world for all the moments we have shared together. You have formed me in so many ways.

Finally, I would like to thank my family. Εσάς, που με ενθαρρύνετε πάντα και δεν έχετε σταματήσει λεπτό να πιστεύετε σε μένα και στις δυνατότητές μου. Σας ευχαριστώ για την υποστήριξή σας σε όλες τις στιγμές της ζωής μου έως τώρα, και για την παρουσία σας σε κάθε στιγμή, ευχάριστη ή λιγότερο ευχάριστη. Ό,τι έχω καταφέρει έως τώρα το οφείλω εξίσου σε σας. Ακόμη κι αν δεν το δείχνω, σας ευχαριστώ.

Abbreviations

67LR: 67 kDa laminin receptor

ADMIDAS: adjacent to metal-ion-dependent adhesion site

AFM: atomic force microscopy

AMPK: 5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase

B-CAM: basal cell adhesion molecule

BM: basal membrane

cFN: cellular fibronectin

CS: chondroitin sulfate

CTGF: connective tissue growth factor

DDR: discoidin domain receptor

DGC: dystrophin glycoprotein complex

DS: dermatan sulfate

ECM: extracellular matrix

EGF: epidermal growth factor

EGFR: epidermal growth factor receptor

ERK: extracellular signal-regulated kinase

ESE: exonic splicing enhancer

FACITs: fibril associated collagens with interrupted triple helix

FAK: focal adhesion kinase

FERM: protein 4.1, ezrin, radixin, moesin

FKBP12: FK506 binding protein 12

FN: fibronectin

GAGs: glycosaminoglycans

GARP: glycoprotein A repetitions predominant

GPVI: glycoprotein VI

GS domain: Gly-Ser-rich domain

HA: hyaluronic acid

Hep: heparin sulfate (may also refer to the respective binding site on FN)

HIF1: hypoxia inducible factor 1 HRS: hepatic arginine-serine rich protein HS: heparan sulfate IAP: integrin-associated protein ILK: integrin linked kinase ISE: intronic splicing enhancers JAK-STAT: Janus kinases - Signal transducer and activator of transcription proteins JNK: c-Jun N-terminal kinase KS: keratan sulfate LAIR-1: leukocyte-associated immunoglobulin-like receptor-1 LETS: large, external transformation-sensitive LGD: laminin globular domain LLC: large latent complex LOX: lysil oxidase LRRC32: leucine-rich repeat-containing protein 32 LTBP: latent TGF- β binding protein Lu: Lutheran MACITs: membrane associated collagens with interrupted triple helices MAPK: mitogen activated protein kinase MIDAS: metal-ion-dependent adhesion site mTOR: mechanistic (or mammalian) target of rapamycin PAI1: plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 PDGF: platelet derived growth factor PDGFR: platelet derived growth factor receptor pFN: plasma fibronectin PGs: proteoglycans PI3K: phosphoinositide 3-kinase PIPKIγ: phosphatidylinositol phosphate kinase type Iγ PKB: protein kinase B, also known as Akt PSI: plexin-semaphorin-integrin

PTB: phospho-tyrosine binding

RIAM: Rap1-GTP-interacting adaptor molecule

ROS: reactive oxygen species

RSV: Rous Sarcoma Virus

RTK: receptor tyrosine kinase

SDS: sodium dodecyl sulfate

SF-A: fibroblast surface antigen

SLC: small latent complex

SMAD: SMA (small work phenotype) and MAD (mothers against decapentaplegic)

family of proteins

SRSF5: serine and arginine rich splicing factor 5

TGFBI: TGF- β inducible gene

TGFβRI: transforming growth factor receptor I

TGF β RII: transforming growth factor receptor II

TGF- β : transforming growth factor β

TIAM1: T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis 1

TMD: transmembrane domain

uPARAP: urokinase-type plasminogen activator associated protein

VBS: vinculin binding site

VEFGR: vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

 α -SMA: alpha smooth muscle actin

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	vii
Abbreviations	x
Table of Contents	xiii
Prologue	xv
1. Introduction	1
1.1 The Extracellular Matrix	1
1.1.1 ECM Types	2
1.1.2 ECM Components	3
1.1.2.1 Glycosaminoglycans and Proteoglycans	3
1.1.2.2 Collagens and Glycoproteins	5
1.1.2.3 Other Matrix-Associated Components	11
1.1.3 Fibronectin	12
1.1.3.1 The Early Days	12
1.1.3.2 Fibronectin: A Major ECM Building Block	13
1.1.3.3 FN Structure	14
1.1.3.4 Fibronectin Interactions and Function	18
1.1.3.5 Oncofetal FN Variants	22
1.1.3.6 Functional Roles of the Extra Domains	24
1.2 Cell – ECM Interactions	27
1.2.1 The Integrins	29
1.2.1.1 Integrin Structure	30
1.2.1.2 Integrin Activation	33
1.2.1.3 Biological Processes Involving Integrins	35
1.2.1.4 Fibronectin Fibrillogenesis	37
1.3 The TGF-β Pathway	40
1.3.1 TGF-β Signaling, Receptors and Effectors	41
1.3.2 TGF- β Crosstalk with the ECM and the Role of Integrins	44
2. Aim of the Thesis	48
3. Results – Article	50

4. Complementary Results	.102
5. Conclusions and Perspectives	.110
6. References	.112
7. Annex 1: Fibronectin Timeline	.141
8. Annex 2: Classification of the fibronectin variants with curvelets	.151

Prologue

It has been almost 300 years since Carl von Linné coined the term biologi in his work Bibliotheca botanica in 1736. A term that has evolved as much as the scientific field it describes: "The objects of our research will be the different forms and manifestations of life, the conditions and laws under which these phenomena occur, and the causes through which they have been effected. The science that concerns itself with these objects we will indicate by the name biology or the doctrine of life" – Gottfried Reinhold Treviranus.

Biology ($\beta\iota o\lambda o\gamma i a$), the study of ($-\lambda o\gamma i a > \lambda o\gamma o \varsigma$) life ($\beta i o \varsigma$), is a relatively recent scientific field despite its ancient roots. It was Antonie van Leeuwenhoek's improvement of the microscope that led biology to its dramatic development. From the mere observation of unicellular organisms to protein purification, and from the discovery of the genetic material to gene manipulation, biology has been by far one of the most rapidly developing scientific fields.

Biological research initiated as an approach to simplify and elucidate the complex phenomena that govern life. Nowadays, biology is a scientific field that feeds from several domains (mathematics, physics, informatics) providing us with an explosive amount of information and new data on the origins of life, the function of complex intertwined cell communication, and the building of entire organisms and ecosystems. The simultaneous study of all known biological systems is impracticable. This could have possibly been the case 150 years ago. That is why it is important to break down the different biological systems in order to be able to extract useful information, but always bearing in mind that no oversimplified system makes sense except in the light of its entirety, paraphrasing the title of the well-known essay by Theodosius Dobzhansky (Dobzhansky 1973).

In this work, I will try to compile known data, as well as to enrich current knowledge with novel results regarding a major aspect of molecular cell biology in multicellular organisms (and more specifically in vertebrates, mainly focusing on mammals) that is "Cells in their Social Context". Tissues in multicellular organisms are not made up solely of cells. They are also composed of a remarkably complex

network of macromolecules, collectively known as the extracellular matrix (ECM). These macromolecules, secreted by the cells, provide structural and functional cues to the adjacent cells, resulting in the formation of the highly organized multicellular structure. The target ECM component of this dissertation is fibronectin, which will be discussed extensively in terms of structure, function, expression patterns in health and disease, and how its different forms affect cell behavior.

The following pages consist of an introduction on the nature of the extracellular matrix, and the key players that mediate cell-ECM interactions: the integrins. It is beyond the scope of this manuscript to present all the knowledge obtained about the ECM, the various ECM components, and the integrin structure and function. Basic background information will be presented instead, in order to set the stage before proceeding to a detailed description of "fibronectin, the extracellular glue" (Zollinger and Smith 2017).

1. Introduction

In the macroscopic scale, no organism or population can be viewed as an individual entity. On the contrary, it has to be considered as a part of a dynamic ecosystem composed of other individuals and/or populations, as well as the surrounding environment. This notion, initially described by Plato in his Dialogues, is also reflected in the microscale: each cell is part of a tightly regulated community of cells and extracellular material, the extracellular matrix or ECM.

1.1 The Extracellular Matrix

The ECM is an ensemble of high molecular weight macromolecules expressed by the underlying cells that forms an astonishingly elaborate and dynamic structure that constantly interacts with cells in the vicinity. This cell-derived biomaterial had not been fairly characterized until recently when a set of 1056 genes was identified and described by Naba and colleagues (Naba et al. 2012).

The extracellular matrix is a major component of all tissues in every organ, and it provides mechanical support and physical scaffolding, as well as a wide range of crucial biochemical and biomechanical cues regulating the behavior of the residing cells. This way, the ECM influences their survival, development, migration, proliferation, shape, and function, thus guiding multiple facets of different processes such as morphogenesis and tissue homeostasis (Frantz, Stewart, and Weaver 2010; Shaohe Wang et al. 2017; Trapani, Bonaldo, and Corallo 2017).

Depending on the tissue, the extracellular matrix can possess different inherent properties, characteristic of that tissue. It can become calcified to form the rock-hard structures of bone and teeth, it can form the transparent substance of the cornea, or it can adopt the ropelike organization that gives tendons their enormous tensile strength. This extensive variety of different matrix types is reflected in the numerous interactions among the components of the matrix (collectively known as the matrisome) and the components that are not necessarily part of the matrix but plausibly do associate with it. Such components are growth and secreted factors, ECMmodifying enzymes and other proteins (R. O. Hynes and Naba 2012). This interplay as well as with the cells themselves, mainly through a family of cell receptors knows as integrins (Richard O Hynes 2002), results in the ECM diversity across tissues.

1.1.1 ECM Types

Just as the same genome gives rise to different cell types in an organism, the same matrisome generates different matrix types depending on cell type and localization, even within the same tissue. In a broad sense, two types of ECMs exist varying in composition and structure: i) the interstitial matrix and ii) basement membranes (BMs) or basal laminae (**Figure 1**). Interstitial matrices surround cells, while BMs lie in the interphase between the epithelial cells of the parenchyma and the mesenchymal tissue,

the latter being characterized by the presence of interstitial matrix.

The BM is a thin (40-120nm), tough, flexible sheet of matrix molecules that lines all epithelia, but also surrounds individual muscle fibers, fat cells, and Schwann cells. Although small in volume, it plays a critical role in body architecture. The basal lamina separates cells



Figure 1 Epithelial cells reside on a rigid basement membrane (BM) that separates them from the mesenchymal part of the tissue where mesenchymal cells, like fibroblasts, produce and deposit the interstitial matrix. Each matrix type is composed of a set of different components that influence their physical properties and functions. Adapted from *Bonnans et al.* 2014.

and epithelia from the underlying connective tissue and forms the mechanical connections between them. In a different setting, a basal lamina can serve as a filtering barrier, as is the case for the kidney glomerulus. Basal membranes can also serve to determine cell polarity, influence cell metabolism, organize the proteins in adjacent plasma membranes, promote cell survival, proliferation and differentiation, and serve as highways for cell migration (Alberts 2015).

1.1.2 ECM Components

Any typical matrix is composed of a large variety of macromolecules that share characteristic modular domains. Based on this feature, Naba and colleagues bioinformatically defined ECM components by screening for proteins containing domains characteristic of ECM proteins, ECM-affiliated proteins, ECM modifiers, and secreted factors. At the same time, they eliminated proteins that shared one or more of the defining domains without being part of the ECM (**Figure 2**).

In silico results were supported by biochemical analyses on normal and tumor tissues resulting in the establishment of the core matrisome, comprising 278 genes giving rise to proteoglycans (PGs), collagens, and glycoproteins. Furthermore, a second gene set, denoted as matrisome-associated components was established, containing 778 genes that produce ECM-affiliated components, ECM regulators, and secreted factors (Naba et al. 2012). The matrisome is mainly produced locally by cells in the matrix, which also help to organize the matrix through forces generated by the cytoskeleton influencing the orientation of the matrix components outside of the cell.



Figure 2 In silico definition of ECM components identified 1056 genes comprising two distinct groups. The core matrisome, composed of 278 genes, is responsible for the generation of the structural components of the ECM. The second set is composed of matrisome-associated genes that give rise to proteins linked to the ECM, proteins that regulate ECM form and function, and soluble factors that are known or believed to bind to the ECM.

1.1.2.1 Glycosaminoglycans and Proteoglycans

Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) or mucopolysaccharides are composed of several repeats of a disaccharide unit, which is characteristic of each GAG. One of the two sugars in the repeating unit is always an amino sugar (N-acetylglucosamine or Nacetylgalactosamine), while the second is an uronic acid (glucuronic or iduronic) or galactose. GAGs are subject to extensive modification: sulfation, carboxylation, deacetylation, and epimerization (Townley and Bülow 2018), and they form stiff, highly hydrophobic chains that cannot compact to form globular structures. Thus, GAGs adopt extended conformations with a very high volume to mass ratio, attracting Na⁺ and other cations that, in turn, capture large amounts of water forming highly hydrated gel-like structures with high viscosity and elasticity. These structures fill most of the extracellular space, and can withstand massive compressive forces (Alberts 2015; Sasarman et al. 2016). A characteristic example of such matrix is the cartilage that lines the knee joint.

Six classes of GAGs are distinguished by their sugars, the type of oligosaccharide linker they contain, and the number and location of sulfate groups: chondroitin sulfate (CS), dermatan sulfate (DS), heparan sulfate (HS), heparin sulfate (Hep), keratan sulfate (KS), and hyaluronan or hyaluronic acid (HA) (Sasarman et al. 2016). Two of the aforementioned classes, CS and DS, contain N-acetylgalactosamine as one of the repeating sugars, while the second sugar in the unit is either glucuronic acid or iduronic acid. HS and HA are copolymers of N-acetyglucosamine and glucuronic acid. The disaccharide unit in Hep is N-acetylglucosamine and iduronic acid, while KS is composed of units containing N-acetylglucosamine and galactose.

As mentioned earlier, all GAGs are characterized by long and unbranched, extensively modified sugar chains, and by the covalent attachment to a core protein, giving rise to proteoglycans (PGs). The only exception is HA. Its sugar chains are not sulfated, and it is not covalently linked to any core protein. Instead, it interacts with PGs via hyaluronan-binding motifs in a non-covalent fashion (Sasarman et al. 2016).

PGs can be classified based on localization, gene/protein homology, and the utilization of specific protein modules within their respective protein cores (**Table 1**). These criteria result in the generation of four major families with distinct forms and functions: the intracellular, cell-surface, pericellular and extracellular PGs (Iozzo and Schaefer 2015).

PGs interact with numerous growth factors, cytokines and chemokines, cell surface receptors and ECM components through either their core proteins, or their GAG chains, thus participating in key regulatory cell processes such as signaling, differentiation and proliferation, adhesion and migration, and apoptosis (Iozzo and Schaefer 2015; Theocharis et al. 2016). Additionally, they can interact both with cells and with other components of the ECM, playing an important role in ECM scaffolding and remodeling, and in cell distribution within it.

Thus, they affect normal physiology as well as the development of various diseases [reviewed in detail in (Townley and Bülow 2018; Sasarman et al. 2016; Iozzo and Schaefer 2015; Schaefer and Schaefer 2010; Theocharis et al. 2010; Afratis et al. 2012; Theocharis et al. 2014)].

Intracellular	Cell Surface	Pericellular &	Extracellular PGs			Other (part-time
PGs PGs		BM PGs	Hyalectans (4) SLRPs (18)		PGs) SPOCKs (3)	
Serglycin	Syndecans 1 - 4	Perlecan	Aggrecan	Class I	Testican	Prg4/lubricin
	CSPG4/NG2	Agrin	Versican	Class II	SPARC/ Osteonectin CWCV	Endocan
	Betaglycan	Collagens XVIII & XV	Neurocan	Class III	Kazal-like domain PGs	Leprecan
	Phosphacan		Brevican	Class IV		Collagens IX & XII
	Glypicans 1 - 6			Class V		

Table 1 Proteoglycans as described in *Iozzo and Schaefer 2015*.

1.1.2.2 Collagens and Glycoproteins

Apart from the GAGs (connected to a core protein or not), there are almost 250 proteins, 43 of which are distinct collagen subunits, and around 200 glycoproteins constituting the matrisome (R. O. Hynes and Naba 2012). An extensive description of every ECM constituent is beyond the scope of this dissertation, so only a brief overview of the major collagens and glycoproteins follows ahead.

Collagens

The collagens are a family of fibrous and non-fibrous proteins found in all metazoa (**Table 2**). Collagens can form fibrils or networks, they can be laterally associated to other fibrils or serve as core proteins for proteoglycans, or they can be found docked through the plasma membrane. They are secreted in large quantities by connective-tissue cells, and they constitute the main structural element of the ECM.

	Туре	Composition	Distribution		
	Ι	α1(I) ₂ α2(I)	Bone, dermis, tendon, ligamet, cornea, etc		
	II	α1(II) ₃	Cartilage, vitreous		
	III	a1(III) ₃	Co-distributed with collagen I, skin, blood vessels, intestine		
		α1(V) ₃			
Fibrillar Collagens	V	$\alpha 1(V)_2 \alpha 2(V)$	Co-distributed with collagen I, bone, dermis, cornea, placenta		
		a1(V)a2(V)a3(V)			
	XI	a1(XI)a2(XI)a3(XI)	Co-distributed with collagen II, cartilage, intervertebral disc		
	XXIV		Bone, cornea		
	XXVII		Cartilage		
		$\alpha 1(IV)_2 \alpha 2(IV)$			
	IV	α1(IV)α4(IV)α5(IV)	Basement membranes		
		α5(IV) ₂ α6(IV)			
Network-forming		a1(VIII) ₃	Dermis, brain, heart, kidney		
	VIII	α2(VIII) ₃			
		$\alpha 1(\text{VIII})_2 \alpha 2(\text{VIII})$			
	Х	α1(X) ₃	Cartilage		
	IX	α1(IX)α2(IX)α3(IX)	Co-distributed with collagen II, cartilage, vitreous, cornea		
	XII	α1(XII) ₃	Found with collagen I, dermis, tendon		
	XIV	α1(XIV) ₃	Found with collagen I, bone, dermis, cartilage		
EACIE-	XVI		Dermis, kidney		
FACIIS	XIX		Basement membrane		
	XX		Cornea		
	XXIV		Stomach, kidney		
	XXII		Tissue junctions		
	XIII		Neuromascular junctions, skin, endothelial cells, eye, heart		
MACITA	XVII	a1(XVII) ₃	Hemidesmosomes in epithelia		
MACIIS	XXIII		Heart, retina		
	XXV		Brain, heart, testis		
Anchoring fibrilis	VII	$\alpha 1(\text{VII})_2 \alpha 2(\text{VII})$	Dermal-epidermal junction, bladder		
	VI	a1(VI)a2(VI)a3(VI)	— Bone, cartilage, cornea, dermis, muscle		
Boodod-filomont-	VI	a1(VI)a2(VI)a4(VI)			
forming collagens	XXVI		Testis, ovary		
	XXVIII		Dermis, sciatic nerve		
MULTIPLEXINS	XV		Basement membranes, eye, muscle, capillaries, testis, heart, kidney		
	XVIII		Basement membranes, liver		

Table 2 Types and composition of the currently known collagens, as well as examples of the tissues where they are most commonly found. Table adapted from *Theocharis et al*, 2016.

Collagens are found in the fibers of tendons, in the matrices of bone and cartilage, in the laminar sheets of basement membranes, in the viscous matrix of the vitreous humor, and in the interstitial ECM of the dermis and of capsules around the organs. They are the most abundant protein family representing 25 – 30% of the total protein mass (Frantz, Stewart, and Weaver 2010; R. O. Hynes and Naba 2012; Alberts 2015).

The collagen superfamily comprises 28 members designated with Roman numerals in vertebrates [I – XXVIII, reviewed in (Ricard-Blum 2011)]. The primary typifying feature of a collagen molecule is the presence of the repeating triplet Gly-X-Y, where X is frequently proline and Y is frequently 4-hydroxyproline, though they can be any of the 20 amino acids in proteins (Heino 2007). This repeating unit gives rise to stiff, trimeric coiled coils, in which three collagen polypeptide chains, also known as α chains, are wound around one another in a rod-like superhelix.

The length of the superhelix can vary significantly ranging from most of the molecule structure (96% in collagen I) to less than 10% of it (collagen XII), and it correlates with the localization within the tissue, as well as with ECM organization and structure [see (Ricard-Blum 2011) and references therein]. For example, the original type I collagen of bones and tendons consists almost entirely of a long and rigid uninterrupted collagen triple helix that spans approximately 1000 amino acids (R. O. Hynes and Naba 2012; Heino 2007). Each trimer assembles into higher-order fibrils and fibers after being crosslinked by various enzymatic and non-enzymatic reactions, and it is found in all interstitial matrices of the organism.

Other collagen types have interruptions in the repeating sequence (Gly-X-Y), thus adding flexibility into the molecules. An extra level of complexity is added because of the existence of several molecular isoforms for the same collagen type, and of hybrid isoforms comprised of α chains belonging to two different collagen types, distinguished by the use of Arabic numerals (Ricard-Blum 2011). For example, collagen XI is comprised of three α chains assembled into a heterotrimer, but the α (XI) chain forms type V/XI hybrid collagen molecules by assembling with the α 1 (V) chain in the vitreous humor (Mayne et al. 1993) and cartilage (J.-J. Wu et al. 2009).

The criteria to name a protein collagen are not well defined. Many proteins contain the triple helical domain but do not belong to the collagen family. At the same time, all collagen genes encode additional non-collagenous domains, some of which are characteristic collagen N and C pro-domains, while others are domains shared with other ECM proteins.

Fibrillar collagens are the most abundant collagens in vertebrates where they play a structural role by contributing to the molecular architecture, shape, and mechanical properties of tissues such as the tensile strength in skin and the resistance to traction in ligaments, as also mentioned previously. However, as stated before for the ECM, the various matrix components are "not just pretty fibrils" (Richard O. Hynes 2009).

Indeed, it is now well documented that fibrous collagens, as well as fibrilassociated collagens, alongside many other ECM constituents, play important roles in tissue homeostasis, growth factor signaling, differentiation, development, and disease. **Table 3** displays a non-exhaustive list of functions that depend on various collagens and their receptors. For details, reader can refer to the following reviews and references therein (Frantz, Stewart, and Weaver 2010; Ricard-Blum 2011; Heino 2007;

Function/Role		Receptor(s)	Reference		
Platelet activation		α2β1, GPVI	(Chen et al. 2002; He et al. 2003; Edelson et al. 2004)		
Inflammation and immunity		α1β1, α2β1, LAIR-1	(Lebbink et al. 2006; Rubio et al. 1995; Fiorucci et al. 2002; Ray et al. 2004)		
Angiogonosis	Cancer	α1β1, α2β1	(Pozzi et al. 2000; Senger et al. 2002)		
Angiogenesis	Wound healing	α2β1	(Grenache et al. 2007; Zweers et al. 2007)		
Mesenchymal cell proliferation		α1β1, DDR2	(Ekholm et al. 2002; Zemmyo et al. 2003; Pozzi et al. 1998; Labrador et al. 2001)		
Matrix remodelling	Collagen synthesis	α1β1, α2β1	(Ivaska et al. 1999)		
	MMP expression	α2β1, DDR2	(W. Vogel et al. 1997; Ravanti et al. 1999)		
	Collagen endocytosis/phagocytosis	α2β1, Endo180	(Curino et al. 2005; Upla et al. 2004)		
	Mammary gland	α2β1, DDR1	(Chen et al. 2002; W. F. Vogel et al. 2001)		
Development	Skeleton	α10β1, DDR2	(Bengtsson 2005; Labrador et al. 2001)		
	Periodontal ligament	α11β1	(Popova et al. 2007)		

Table 3 Role of collagens in various biological processes exerted by collagen receptors (see also Section 1.2.) Table based on *Heino* 2007.

Richard O. Hynes 2009; Daley and Yamada 2013; Watt and Huck 2013; Bonnans, Chou, and Werb 2014; Pickup, Mouw, and Weaver 2014; Boyd and Thomas 2017).

Elastin and elastic fibers

Fibrillar collagens, as described above, are responsible for providing tissues with tensile strength. Indeed, a collagen fiber can withstand 25 times stronger tensile strain compared to a steel fiber of the same diameter before fracture occurs (Buehler 2006). However, organ functionality depends also on the extendibility of the underlying tissue. Skin, blood vessels, lung, heart, and bladder tissues need not only be strong, but also elastic in order to function properly. This is where the network of elastic fibers comes into play, giving tissues the resilience to recoil after transient stretch.

Elastic fibers are the largest structures in the ECM and consist of two morphologically distinct components [reviewed in (Wagenseil and Mecham 2007)]. The principal component is elastin, a crosslinked polymer of the monomeric secreted form of the protein tropoelastin (Sandberg, Weissman, and Gray 1971), a 60-72kDa precursor protein characterized by short segments that alternate along the polypeptide chain (Alberts 2015; Theocharis et al. 2016; Wagenseil and Mecham 2007; Wise and Weiss 2009). Highly hydrophobic segments are responsible for the elastic properties of the molecule (Muiznieks, Weiss, and Keeley 2010), and alanine- and lysine-rich α -helical segments are crosslinked to adjacent molecules by covalent attachment of lysine residues (Wagenseil and Mecham 2007). This covalent modification is performed by lysil oxidase (LOX) or LOX-like molecules (Lucero and Kagan 2006), eventually stabilizing the polymer rendering the network insoluble (Wagenseil and Mecham 2007; Muiznieks, Weiss, and Keeley 2010). **Figure 3** shows the organizations of elastin in the developing mouse lung.

While elastin arises from a single gene, the second component of elastic fibers, the microfibrils, is characterized by higher complexity. Microfibrils are, as their name states, small, 10-15nm fibrils that localize to the periphery of the elastic fiber in the adult tissues (Wagenseil and Mecham 2007). The major structural trait of microfibrils is provided by a set of proteins termed fibrillins, large (350kDa), cysteine-rich glycoproteins (L. Y. Sakai 1986; Kumra and Reinhardt 2018), that in combination with

other associated proteins (Kielty, Sherratt, and Shuttleworth 2002) perform structural and regulatory roles (Kumra and Reinhardt 2018; Sengle and Sakai 2015).

After secretion, fibrillin monomers go through several interactions with other molecules to form short microfibrils that are subsequently transferred onto FN fibers for stabilization (Kinsey et al. 2008). Elongation then occurs through interaction with other microfibril proteins (Sabatier et al. 2009).

Furthermore, fibrillins regulate transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) localization and activity by modulating the binding of latent TGF- β binding proteins [LTBPs (Dallas et al. 2000; Isogai et al. 2003)], that in turn regulate TGF- β latency (duscussed in Section 1.3). More specifically, LTBP-1 is assembled in the ECM through the presence of FN (Dallas et al. 2005), but it is finally transferred to microfibrils as the ECM matures (Ono et al. 2009). Additionally, different LTBPs show preferential binding for ECM components with various resistance to strain (Zilberberg et al. 2012), thus reflecting a differential



Figure 3 Immunofluorescence staining of elastin (magenta) in P7 mouse lung, showing elastin network and patches of elastin present at the tip of alveolar protrusions (arrowheads). Nuclei staining (blue) was used to visualize the structure of the lung tissue. Adapted from *Luo et al. 2018*.

TGF- β activation depending on the ECM composition and state.

Laminins

As described earlier, BMs are thin-layered surfaces responsible for tissue architecture providing protection against stress, and serving as an interactive platform between cells and the microenvironment. BMs are quite heterogeneous in terms of composition and structure, and this heterogeneity depends on the tissue, but also on the localization within the same tissue. Typically, a mature BM consists of laminin, type IV collagen, nidogen, agrin, and perlecan (Alberts 2015; Theocharis et al. 2016; Durbeej 2010).

Laminins are large (400 – 900kDa), trimeric, cross or T-shaped molecules with two or three short arms and one long arm (Aumailley et al. 2005). Short arms are composed of parts of one chain, while the long arm is formed by parts of each of the three chains. The three different polypetide chains are termed α , β , and γ . Five α , three β , and three γ chains have been identified so far both for mouse and for human (Theocharis et al. 2016; Aumailley et al. 2005). All chains are glycosylated, while some of them have been shown to contain glycosaminoglycan side chains (Aumailley et al. 2005).

The members of the laminin family are generally characterized by the presence of an α-helical coiled coil domain, but they contain additional domains that contribute to laminin-cell and laminin-ECM interactions. Such domains comprise a large globular N-terminal domain, and five laminin globular (LG) domains at the C-terminal end (Theocharis et al. 2016; Durbeej 2010). Via their various domains, laminins can selfassemble to form networks in close association with the cells. This tight interaction is mediated via cell receptors like integrins or syndecans (See also Section 1.2).

1.1.2.3 Other Matrix-Associated Components

So far, only a small fraction of the elements that contribute to the formation of the ECM has been described. Many other components, members of the aforementioned matrisome, take an active part in matrix generation and assembly. Major examples are the glycoproteins fibronectin (the focus of this work, to be discussed shortly), and tenascins. Other members of the matrisome comprise non-structural extracellular modulators of cellular functions that facilitate cell-cell and cell-ECM interactions (Frantz, Stewart, and Weaver 2010; R. O. Hynes and Naba 2012; Theocharis et al. 2016).

There are also ECM-associated components such as modifiers of the ECM structure and function (transglutaminases, lysyl oxidases, hydrolases, metalloproteinases, ADAMs, etc.), and ECM-bound growth and secreted factors (VEGF, HGF, PDGF, TGF). This way the ECM acts as a reservoir of factors the bioavailability and/or activity of which is subject to the regulation of the cells surrounded by or assembling it (Naba et al. 2012; Frantz, Stewart, and Weaver 2010).

1.1.3 Fibronectin

1.1.3.1 The Early Days

In 1948 at Harvard University, Peter Morrison and colleagues were working on the identification and the properties of serum and plasma proteins. Their main interest was fibrinogen and its ability to form clots under the action of thrombin, reflecting a clinical importance considering blood coagulation. In their effort to optimize their fibrinogen isolation technique, they came to realize that they were able to obtain high amounts of fibrinogen from two distinct fractions. The first was separated from the bulk of non-clottable proteins by precipitation at low pH, while the second was obtained after centrifugation and the presence of ethanol at higher pH and low temperature (0°C). This second fraction, however (Fraction I-1) contained an unknown material of lower solubility than fibrinogen, which precipitated. The researchers introduced the term cold-insoluble globulin to denote the insoluble component, in the absence of a specific name (Morrison, Edsall, and Miller 1948).

It took more than 20 years to successfully purify to homogeneity the "coldinsoluble globulin" from plasma cryoprecipitate (Mosesson and Umfleet 1970). In the meantime, other researchers, independently, identified new features in a plasma component that had similar properties with the cold-insoluble globulin, without though being able to assign the described properties to a defined protein (Smith and Korff 1957; Wolff et al. 1967).

It was during the 1970s when a series of studies described a large glycoprotein found on the surface of fibroblasts [large, external, transformation-sensitive (LETS) protein or galactoprotein a, or cell surface protein (CSP)] that was lost after virus-induced transformation (Gahmberg and Hakomori 1973; R. O. Hynes 1973; Yamada and Weston 1974). Additionally, its presence varied depending on the growth state of normal cells (Richard O. Hynes 1974). During the same period, an antiserum was generated that recognized a fibroblast surface antigen [FS-A (Erkki Ruoslahti and Vaheri 1974)], that was also found to react with a serum antigen, later found to be the cold insoluble globulin (Erkki Ruoslahti and Vaheri 1975). This cell surface antigen

was recognized as the previously described transformation-sensitive protein LETS (Keski-Oja, Vaheri, and Ruoslahti 1976).

Despite the doubts generated by the limitations of the methods used at the time (not well-defined immunogens, not highly specific antiserum), several data converged towards the opinion that the cell surface glycoprotein and the cold-insoluble globulin were indeed the same protein. In the following years, several studies showed clearly the similarities between the cell-associated protein and the one purified from plasma. The use of antibodies to visualize stain patterns in cultured cells, the use of gel affinity chromatography to simply and rapidly purify the protein, as well as other biochemical approaches (solubility assays, SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) resulted in the acceptance that the described proteins comprised a family of related proteins (Richard O Hynes 1990).

Those early studies, even if the researchers at the time could not fully explain their findings, provided information about the function of the molecules that are now known as fibronectins. The term was coined around the mid-1970s (from the latin *fibra* for fiber and the verb *nectere* which means to link, to connect), and was later adopted by all scientists in the field to describe the different forms of the protein fibronectin (FN).

1.1.3.2 Fibronectin: A Major ECM Building Block

Since its discovery, FN has been the subject of extensive studies that have importantly contributed to our knowledge regarding its structure, and the wide range of different functions it exerts. Product of a single gene, FN is expressed in two distinct forms with both additive and overlapping functions. The main source of FN is the liver, which secretes plasma FN (pFN) in a soluble form circulating through the blood plasma. Furthermore, cellular FN (cFN) is produced mainly by fibroblasts, as well as endothelial cells, chondrocytes, macrophages, platelets, and other cell types (Richard O Hynes 1990) both in vivo and in culture. cFN is mainly found in an insoluble form around the cells secreting it, where it is assembled into fibrils and fibers, resulting eventually in the formation of the underlying ECM. Only a handful of human disease cases linked to FN mutations have been documented so far, and they concern either glomerulopathy with FN deposits (Castelletti et al. 2008; dos Reis Monteiro et al. 2019) or skeletal dysplasias (Costantini et al. 2019). This suggests that even point mutations can lead to deleterious or lethal effects. Indeed, a gene knockout study in the mouse has shown that inactivation of both FN alleles leads in early embryonic lethality resulting from severe defects in mesodermal migration, reflecting anomalies in cell adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation (George et al. 1993). Additionally, the highly conserved modular structure of the protein reinforces the notion that intact FN is indispensable for normal development and tissue homeostasis (Ni et al. 2003; J. Xu and Mosher 2011; Richard O Hynes 1990), functions that are mainly mediated via direct interactions with cell surface receptors, such as integrins (Richard O Hynes 1990; Richard O. Hynes 2009).

The most important property of FN is the fact that it drives the assembly of the ECM. Being among the very first components of the ECM (if not *the* first), FN is deposited and polymerized by assembly-competent cells, such as fibroblasts, in a provisional matrix that drives the deposition of other ECM components, such as collagens and other proteoglycans (Richard O. Hynes 2009). Hindering FN assembly in vivo results in delayed embryonic development (Darribère et al. 1990), while absence of FN in cultured fibroblasts impedes the formation of ECM (Cseh et al. 2010; Gopal et al. 2017). FN assembly will be discussed in more detail in Section 1.2.1.4.

1.1.3.3 FN Structure

FN is a high molecular weight glycoprotein composed of two similar subunits of 220-250 kDa (Engel et al. 1981; Erickson, Carrell, and McDonagh 1981). Every FN subunit has two carboxy-terminal cysteine residues that form two disulfide bonds with the cysteine residues of another FN subunit, giving rise to a functional FN dimer. FN is highly produced and secreted by the liver, or expressed locally by fibroblasts and other cell lines. In the first case, FN circulates in the blood plasma in a soluble form (plasma FN – pFN), while in the latter case FN forms an insoluble mesh that gives rise to the extracellular matrix (cellular FN, cFN). The linear structure of the subunits is highly repetitive, characterized by the presence of three distinct types of domains that

together constitute approximately 90% of the sequence [reviewed in (J. Xu and Mosher 2011)]. There are 12 type I repeats (hereafter FNI_x , where subscript x denotes the number of the repeat), 2 type II repeats (hereafter $FNII_x$), and 15 – 17 type III repeats (hereafter $FNII_x$) (Richard O Hynes 1990). Apart from the repetitive domains, there is also a variable region (V or IIICS, type III connecting segment) that lies between $FNIII_{14}$ and $FNIII_{15}$, which is subject to high alternative splicing, as well as short linker segments between different modules across the protein [reviewed in (J. Xu and Mosher 2011) and **Figure 4**].

The FNI repeat is composed of 45 amino acids, four of which are cysteine residues that give rise to two disulfide bonds within the repeat. 3D structure studies of the FNI repeat have shown that a scaffold of hydrophilic amino acids forms two compact β -sheets, with two and three strands, that enclose a hydrophobic core of aromatic residues (Baron et al. 1990; Potts et al. 1999).



Figure 4 Graphic representation of the linear structure of FN showing the different FN modules. FN forms dimers linked in their C-terminal ends by two disulfide bonds. Each dimer is composed of 12 FNI repeats (blue rectangles), two FNII repeats (purple rectangles), and 15-17 FNIII repeats (green and red rectangles) two of which are subject to alternative splicing (EDB and EDA), a Variable region (gray), and short peptide segments that do not constitute parts of the modular domains (black lines). Different segments of FN result after proteolytic cleavage (70 kDa, 40 kDa, and 27 kDa segments). Glycosylation sites are indicated with pink triangles. The highly modular structure of the molecule permits an enhanced degree of folding resulting in the formation of cryptic sites (yellow arches) exposed by addition of extra domains, strain, and proteolysis. FN has multiple binding sites for cells (FNIII9-10 repeats) and other molecules. Adapted from *Xu and Mosher 2011*, and *Van-Obberghen Schilling et al.* 2011.

The FNII repeats have a somewhat similar structure with the FNI repeats. They are about 60 amino acids long and have two intra-domain disulfide bonds. Like FNI repeats, they consist of two antiparallel β -sheets each containing two strands, while the amino acid sequence is mainly characterized by the presence of aromatic residues (Constantine et al. 1992; Pickford et al. 1997). Unlike FNI repeats that are only present in vertebrates (Tucker and Chiquet-Ehrismann 2009), FNII repeats have also been identified in other, less complex organisms (Ozhogina and Trexler 2001), as well as in matrix metalloproteinases (Collier et al. 1988).

The FNIII repeat is a functionally conserved domain found in many other proteins including extracellular matrix components, cell surface receptors, and cytoskeletal proteins both in vertebrates and in invertebrates (Bork and Doolittle 1992). There are 15 standard FNIII domains present in every FN monomer, and two additional domains termed Extra Domains (EDB and EDA) that are included in the molecule under specific circumstances.

Each FNIII repeat is composed of 90 amino acids (though slight variations do exist across proteins and species) organized in seven β -strands [A, B, C, D, E, F, and G, (**Figure 5**)], further folding into two antiparallel β -sheets (like the other two types of FN repeats). One β -sheet is composed of three β -strands, while the other is composed of four, and they fold in a sandwich-like conformation the center of which is highly hydrophobic (Dickinson, Veerapandian, et al. 1994; Dickinson, Gay, et al. 1994; Leahy, Aukhil, and Erickson 1996; Main et al. 1992). Surprisingly, FNIII repeats lack any cysteine residues, thus they contain no intra-chain disulfide bonds. This affects the



Figure 5 Linear representation of the structure of the FNIII₁₀ repeat. FNIII repeats are composed of seven β strands organized in two β sheets that fold in a sandwich-like structure with a highly hydrophobic core. In FNIII₁₀, between strands F and G, lies the cell binding sequence (RGD), shown here in red. See text for details.

form of the entire molecule, as the separate FNIII domains are prone to conformational changes resulting from mechanical forces (Krammer et al. 1999). These changes can greatly influence the folding state of the FNIII repeat while maintaining its structural integrity. Also the inclusion of additional type III repeats, through alternative splicing, can impact FN conformation (Barbara Carnemolla et al. 1992).

The variable region (V) is not homologous to any other part of the protein. Several functional and structural studies have shown that the variable region is 120 amino

acids long and it can be partly present or completely absent from the molecule, while most FN dimers naturally form with distinct variable regions in each subunit [see Figure 4, Figure 6 and (J. E. Schwarzbauer 1989)]. The different forms of the V region arise from alternative splicing, which appears to be regulated in tissue-dependent manner, and it changes а throughout development and lifetime of the organism (Chauhan et al. 2004). The inclusion of different parts of the V region determines the repertoire of cell receptors that FN can interact with in order to promote cell attachment and spreading (Kocher, Kennedy, and Madri 1990), and controls FN dimer secretion and incorporation into fibrin clots and ECM in tissues [reviewed in (J. E. Schwarzbauer and DeSimone 2011)].



Figure 6 The variable region (V) or type III connecting segment (IIICS) is subject to alternative splicing and it is involved in fibronectin secretion and integrin binding. Five splice variants are found in human fibronectin. See text for details.

FN in solution is found in a compact conformation, which is mainly due to noncovalent interactions established within the FNIII domains (Ohashi and Erickson 2005), as well as an intramolecular interaction between FNI₄ and FNIII₃ leading in the bending of the N-terminal region of both subunits [reviewed in (J. Xu and Mosher 2011)]. Furthermore, the ability of FN to self-associate through other regions has been documented, namely FNI₁₋₅ (McKeown-Longo 1985), FNIII₁₋₃ (Aguirre, McCormick, and Schwarzbauer 1994; Hocking, Sottile, and McKeown-Longo 1994; Johnson et al. 1999), FNIII₁₂₋₁₄ (Bultmann, Santas, and Peters 1998), and FNIII₇ (Ingham et al. 1997). Another factor that largely contributes to FN conformation is the variety of posttranslation modifications. FN can be phosphorylated, sulfated, and (as every glycoprotein) glycosylated (Paul and Hynes 1984). The degree of glycosylation often depends on the tissue, though generally FN contains approximately 5% of carbohydrate chains either N-linked, or O-linked in distinct sites of both subunits [see Figure 4 and (J. Xu and Mosher 2011)]. Addition of glycans affects FN sensitivity to proteolysis, thermal stability, and binding affinity to other proteins such as collagen, thus modulating cell adhesion and migration (Olden, Pratt, and Yamada 1979; Bernard, Yamada, and Olden 1982; Jones 1986). Phosphorylation has been described in serine residues (Etheredge et al. 1985) enhancing cell attachment and mechanical cell functions (Yalak et al. 2019), while sulfation has been suggested to take place in the V region (Paul and Hynes 1984). Finally, citrulination, the conversion of arginine residues to citruline, was recently described as another type of post-translational modification of FN. Twenty four sites of varied degree of citrulination were identified, impacting the FN attachment to both $\alpha5\beta1$ and $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrins, and reflecting a refined regulation of integrin clustering and cell contractility (Stefanelli et al. 2019).

1.1.3.4 Fibronectin Interactions and Function

The modular structure of FN, as well as its multiple post-translational modifications result in numerous interactions with a variety of proteins mediating cell attachment, ECM deposition and assembly, cell motility, cytoskeleton contractility, and host-pathogen interactions, to name just a few. The major family of proteins fibronectin interacts with is the family of integrins through which it exerts multiple roles in health and disease.

Many integrins have been shown to interact with FN. The "classic" FN receptor is integrin α 5 β 1 that binds FN through the tripeptide cell-binding site Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) located within the flexible loop formed between the F and G strands in the FNIII₁₀ repeat [see Figure 5 and (Main et al. 1992; Pytela, Pierschbacher, and Ruoslahti 1985; Pierschbacher and Ruoslahti 1984; Pankov and Yamada 2002)]. This interaction is facilitated and further stabilized by the synergistic effect of the PHSRN site that is located in the adjacent FNIII₉ (Pierschbacher and Ruoslahti 1984). Binding of FN to α 5 β 1 results in activation of the integrin, subsequently leading in Rho-mediated contractility that in turn promotes assembly of fibronectin into a fibrillar matrix
(Danen et al. 2002; Zhong et al. 1998; Wennerberg et al. 1996). Apart from α 5 β 1, α v β 3 also binds the RGD site as well as the integrins α 3 β 1, α 8 β 1, α v β 1, α IIb β 3, α v β 5, and α v β 6 [reviewed in (J. Xu and Mosher 2011)]. The importance of the RGD sequence has been demonstrated in mice expressing FN with a mutated cell-binding site. These mice die before birth and exhibit anomalies similar to those observed in mice with integrin α 5 deletion (Takahashi et al. 2007).

Other integrins that have been demonstrated to interact with FN are integrins α4β1 and α4β7. These two integrin dimers can bind to the dedicated sequences KLDAPT found in FNIII₅ (Moyano et al. 1997), and IDAPS in FNIII₁₄ (Pankov and Yamada 2002). FN interaction with integrins results in the transmission of extracellular information to the cell interior inducing cytoskeletal re-organization, and activation of signaling pathways that regulate cell morphology, proliferation, and growth (Richard O Hynes 2002; Assoian and Schwartz 2001; Ginsberg 2014). Additionally, integrin-mediated cell contractility results in integrin-applied tension forces upon FN, which is subsequently stretched to an open conformation that reveals cryptic sites, further promoting the binding of other molecules or the assembly of FN into fibrils [reviewed in (Richard O Hynes 1990; J. Xu and Mosher 2011; Mao and Schwarzbauer 2005)].

Much effort has also been invested in the identification of integrins that bind the alternatively spliced regions of FN. More specifically, the sequence of EDA has been shown to contain the EDHIGEL site that was subsequently identified as a binding site for integrins $\alpha 4\beta 1$, $\alpha 4\beta 7$, and $\alpha 9\beta 1$ (Liao et al. 2002; Shinde et al. 2008). EDA has also been recognized as a ligand and activator of TLR4 (Okamura et al. 2001). No receptor has been identified so far for EDB, though a role has been suggested in osteoblast differentiation involving integrin $\beta 3$ (Sens et al. 2017). The V region presents an interesting integrin binding site, bearing the sequences LDV and REDV, both recognized by $\alpha 4\beta 1$ and $\alpha 4\beta 7$ (Komoriya et al. 1991; Mould et al. 1991; J. D. Humphries 2006).

A major regulatory domain of fibronectin is the collagen and gelatin-binding region that spans FNI₆ through FNI₉ repeats, including the two FNII repeats. FN binds locally unfolded collagen in vivo, mediating cell adhesion to denatured collagen and contributing to the maturation of the extracellular matrix, as well as the blood vessel morphogenesis during embryonic development and pathological angiogenesis [reviewed in(J. Xu and Mosher 2011; Van Obberghen-Schilling et al. 2011)]. Interestingly, the collagen-binding domain is also a binding site for other ECM components such as fibrillin and thrombospondin (Dallas, Chen, and Sivakumar 2006).

One of the early-identified functions of FN was its role in wound healing and its incorporation in fibrin clots [reviewed in (Cho and Mosher 2006)]. This procedure is mediated via the three fibrin-binding domains of fibronectin. One comprises the first five FNI repeats (FNI₁ through FNI₅) and overlaps with another fibrin-binding site composed of FNI₄ and FN₅ (Williams et al. 1994; J. Xu and Mosher 2011). The third fibrin-binding site is located near the carboxy-terminus and spans FNI₁₀ through FNI₁₂ (J. Xu and Mosher 2011). Fibrin is covalently attached to FN via the crosslinking activity of Factor XIII transglutaminase, thus incorporating FN into the fibrin clot, subsequently regulating platelet growth and cell migration within the clot during the wound healing process (Cho and Mosher 2006).

FN interacts with several heparin sulfate proteoglycans via three heparin-binding domains (Hep I, II, and III). FNI₁ through FNI₅ constitute a weak Hep domain [Hep I, (Yamada et al. 1980; Richard O Hynes 1990), while Hep II spans FNIII₁₂ – FNIII₁₄ and presents the strongest heparin-binding site (Barkalow and Schwarzbauer 1991). Hep III lies within the region covered by FNIII₄ – FNIII₆ (Moyano et al. 1999), while a fourth heparin-binding domain has been identified within the V region (Mostafavi-Pour et al. 2001). Heparin binding domains are thought to co-operate with integrin-binding domains enhancing adhesion and spreading. It has been demonstrated, for example, that syndecan-4, among other proteoglycans, synergizes with α 5 β 1 binding to the RGD sequence in order to promote FN fibrillogenesis through the Hep II domain (Saoncella et al. 1999; Woods 2001; Cheng et al. 2016).

The ECM functions as a reservoir of growth factors, facilitating their bioavailability and activity in the cells of the underlying tissue (Frantz, Stewart, and Weaver 2010; R. O. Hynes and Naba 2012). FN interacts with several growth factors (see Figure 4) regulating their function, such as members of the TGF- β superfamily (namely TGF- β 1, BMP-2, and BMP-7), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and fibroblast growth factor (FGF). Apart from HGF that binds a region lying within the FNI₁ – FNI₉ repeats, all other growth factors bind the Hep II domain of FN (Sawicka et al. 2015). Direct interaction of FN with growth factors may result in enhanced cell migration, cell proliferation, survival signals, and angiogenesis, as downstream results of the activation of the different growth factors through mechanical or enzymatic activation (Richard O. Hynes 2009).

Finally, FN interacts with ECM components other than the ones mentioned above, such as tenascin-C (TNC), and ECM-associated enzymes, like tissue transglutaminase and lysyl oxidase (LOX) (Naba et al. 2012; R. O. Hynes and Naba 2012). Especially for TNC there are two distinct binding sites, one in the amino-terminal region of the molecule (FNI₁ – FNI₅) and another in the central part of the molecule (FNIII₄ – FNIII₆), and a crosstalk between FN and TNC has been described that fine-tunes cell adhesion and motility during angiogenesis, and tumor progression [reviewed in (Van Obberghen-Schilling et al. 2011)]. Additionally, FN can self-associate at the N-terminal domain between FNI₄ and FNIII₃ probably impacting assembly procedures (Aguirre, McCormick, and Schwarzbauer 1994).

We will close this section by referring to the role of FN as a binding partner of bacterial proteins. The amino-terminal region (FNI₁ – FNI₅) has been shown to be binding site for bacteria like *Staphylococus aureus* and *Streptococus pyogenes* [reviewed in (J. Xu and Mosher 2011)], while several bacterial proteins have been identified (FnBPs – fibronectin binding proteins) that bind that region facilitating FN-mediated cell adhesion and entry of the bacteria into host cells (Schwarz-Linek, Höök, and Potts 2004). Beside the N-terminal region, *Borrelia borgdorgeri* protein BBK32 binds FNIII₁ – FNIII₃ (Harris et al. 2014), *Clostridium perfringens* binds FNIII₉ – FNIII₁₀ (Katayama et al. 2015), *Yersinia pestis* protein Ail binds to FNIII₉ (Tsang et al. 2012), *Pasteurella multocida* protein PM1665 to FNIII₉ – FNIII₁₀ (Mullen et al. 2008), and the *Salmonella enterica* protein ShdA binds FNIII₁₃ (Kingsley et al. 2004).

1.1.3.5 Oncofetal FN Variants

As previously mentioned, many different FN isoforms arise from a single gene through alternative splicing. In this section, we will focus on current knowledge on the oncofetal fibronectin isoforms and their role in health and disease. The term "oncofetal" was introduced to describe the reappearance of an embryonic FN splicing pattern during wound healing in adult tissues (Ffrench-Constant 1989; Jarnagin 1994). This splicing pattern involves the inclusion of Extra Domains B and A (**Figure 7** and **Figure 8**), that are under normal conditions only observed in embryonic development and are absent from the circulating plasma FN (pFN). Later it was documented that this embryonic splicing pattern not only reappeared during wound healing, but it also constituted a signature of tumorigenic transformation (B. Carnemolla 1989; P. Castellani 1986), with EDB and EDA FNs being markers of tumor angiogenesis and metastasis (Rybak et al. 2007; Patrizia Castellani et al. 1994; Ventura et al. 2010).

FN splicing is regulated by proteins of the SR family¹ (Serine- and Arginine-rich proteins), and depends on regulatory sequences that significantly vary between EDB and EDA. In the case of EDB, specific sequence repeats found in the downstream intron result in the inclusion of Extra Domain B in the FN mRNA. These intronic splicing enhancers (ISE) contain the sequence [TGCATG]_n, and are recognized by SRSF5 (Huh and Hynes 1993; 1994; Lim and Sharp 1998). An exonic splicing enhancer (ESE) has been found within the EDB sequence of rat regenerating liver that comprises a purine-rich stretch (Du et al. 1997). This sequence is recognized by HRS (hepatic arginine-serine rich protein), which is the rat homolog of SRSF5 (Screaton et al. 1995).

Extra Domain A is characterized by the presence of an exonic splicing enhancer (ESE) and an exonic splicing silencer (ESS) that form a stem-loop structure (Muro et al. 1999) that influence the binding of the splicing machinery by exposing the regulatory elements (Buratti et al. 2004). The ESE is comprised of the sequence GAAGAAGA and its absence results in constitutive exclusion of EDA in the FN mRNA (Caputi et al. 1994). On the other hand, the ESS comprises the sequence CAAGG, absence of which

¹ The nomenclature of the SR protein family members follows the scheme proposed by Manley and Krainier 2010.

leads in constitutive inclusion of EDA (Caputi et al. 1994). Whether EDA is included or not in the mature mRNA depends on a complex interplay between SRSF1, SRSF7, the promoter sequence and the physical properties of RNA pol II transcribing the gene (Caputi et al. 1994; White, Baralle, and Muro 2008).

Interestingly, the splicing factors that have been described so far as modulators of oncofetal FN expression, all belong in the same family (SR proteins). The expression of each family member depends on the cell type, while activity is regulated by SR protein kinase activity (Prasad and Manley 2003), extracellular factors (Shi and Manley 2007), while an Akt-dependent and growth-factor-dependent regulation of SR proteins has also been described (Blaustein et al. 2005). It is important to mention that several members of the SR protein family, namely SRSF5 and SRSF3, are subject to post-



Figure 7 NMR-generated spatial structure of Extra Domain A according to *Niimi et al 2001*. The linear structure is also demonstrated for simplicity.

translational modifications, and differential expression, that highly correlate with specific cancers, like oral squamous cell carcinoma (Yuhan Chen et al. 2018; S. Yang, Jia, and Bian 2018). Importantly, inclusion of the Extra Domains in the FN molecule has been shown to TGF-β-signalingbe dependent (Balza et al. 1988; Borsi et al. 1990; Viedt,

Bürger, and Hänsch 1995). TGF- β stimulation of cultured fibroblasts has been shown to modulate SRSF protein family expression (Hallgren et al. 2012), though the precise mechanisms that generate EDB- and/or EDA-containing FNs remain unknown. Finally, microenvironment mechanosensing has been shown to regulate the inclusion of Extra Domains in the FN molecule. More specifically, in an in vitro study, Bordeleau and colleagues plated endothelial cells on substrates with increasing stiffness and found that FN expression was enhanced with increasing stiffness. Interestingly, inclusion of EDB was significantly upregulated in both RNA and protein levels, and this effect was controlled by cell-contractility-mediated phosphorylation of SRSF5 involving the PI3K/ Akt pathway (Bordeleau et al. 2015). Similar results were obtained in a separate study in which authors report the increased inclusion of EDA in FN with increasing stiffness, followed by increased expression and matrix deposition of LTBP1, which in turn modulates TGF- β activity (Klingberg et al. 2018). These results might reflect a complex regulatory loop between TGF- β signaling and FN Extra Domain splicing.

1.1.3.6 Functional Roles of the Extra Domains

Despite extensive research, the precise functional properties of EDB and EDA have yet to be fully deciphered. A non-exhaustive list of in vitro and in vivo studies regarding the Extra Domains is presented in Annex 1. Early in vitro studies have shed some light to the role of EDA, suggesting that its inclusion results in enhancing cell adhesive capacity and migration on pFN. This is done in a complementary way (Xia and Culp 1995) by potentiating the interaction of full length FN with α 5 β 1 integrin through a conformational change facilitated by the presence of the Extra Domain resulting in the exposure of the RGD site (Manabe et al. 1997). In line with this is the fact that the presence of either Extra Domain leads in increased assembly of FN by cultured cells (Guan, Trevithick, and Hynes 1990), an event that is potentially reflected by the increase in EDA- (and EDB-) containing FN at the base of wounds inflicted in the flanks of adult rats (Ffrench-Constant 1989). Further supporting its role in wounds and injured tissue, EDA is constitutively upregulated in relation to the duration and the tissue stress inflicted (Satoi et al. 1999), and the effects are associated with inflammation induced by EDA-mediated TLR-4 activation (Okamura et al. 2001). Finally, it has been suggested that the increased cell adhesive capacity of EDAcontaining FN compared to pFN and its increased cell receptor repertoire might partly explain its pro-thrombotic role, characterized by enhanced thrombosis and vascular occlusion (Chauhan et al. 2008).

Highlighting its role in matrix remodeling, EDA has been shown to induce MMP expression and reorganization of F-actin and these effects highly depend on the native state of FN or FN fragments that occur through proteolytic cleavage (Saito et al. 1999). Another early study suggested that the presence of EDA affects the targeted secretion of FN, with EDA-containing FN being preferentially secreted apically in a tracheal epithelial cell setting (A. Wang et al. 1991). In a similar context, it has been suggested that aberrant EDB and/or EDA splicing may reflect apico-basal polarity defects in endothelial cells, subsequently resulting in abnormal endothelial tube formation (Astrof, Crowley, and Hynes 2007; White, Baralle, and Muro 2008).

A key feature of EDA in cell differentiation was acknowledged when EDAcontaining endothelial FN matrices induced the conversion of normal lipocytes to myofibroblast-like cells (Jarnagin 1994). This role in differentiation was subsequently reinforced when EDA-containing polymerized FN was shown to be necessary for TGF- β 1-mediated induction of myofibroblastic phenotype (Serini et al. 1998). The interplay between TGF-β-mediated myofibroblast differentiation and EDA implication in tissue fibrosis was presented in a study showing that absence of EDA-containing FN in an idiopathic pulmonary lung fibrosis mouse model resulted in less collagen deposition and fewer a-SMA expressing myofibroblasts. This effect correlated with diminished activation of TGF- β suggesting that EDA is implicated in latent TGF- β activation (Muro et al. 2008). Similar results were reported for EDB- and EDA-containing FN in glioblastoma-derived cells in culture, in which aSMA levels were significantly reduced, suggesting a role for oncofetal FNs in favoring EMT in a glioblastoma context (Ventura et al. 2018). In a different background, EDA and EDB were reported to promote osteoblast differentiation by activation of the $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrin, or by enhancing RGD binding to β 3 integrins respectively (Sens et al. 2017).

A complex crosstalk between EDB- and EDA-FN and TGF- β activation and signaling has been postulated (Astrof and Hynes 2009; Gopal et al. 2017), with TGF- β regulation of FN expression and splicing having been described in several studies (Balza et al. 1988; Borsi et al. 1990; Viedt, Bürger, and Hänsch 1995; Ventura et al. 2018). Conversely, TGF- β can be regulated by the presence of EDB and EDA in the

underlying matrix (Ventura et al. 2018; Klingberg et al. 2018; Richard O. Hynes 2009). Additionally, EDA-containing FN was found potent in inducing G1-S phase transition by increasing the expression of Cyclin D1 and upregulation of integrin-mediated mitogenic signal transduction (Manabe, Oh-e, and Sekiguchi 1999), pointing towards a complex interplay of pathways activated by FN (Extra Domains).

A major breakthrough came with the targeted deletion or mutation of either the Extra Domains themselves or their splicing sites. In a novel approach, Muro A. and colleagues developed a mouse model in which engineered mice expressed FN with



Figure 8 NMR-generated spatial structure of Extra Domain B according to *Fattorusso et al 1999*. The linear structure is also demonstrated for simplicity.

constitutively included or excluded EDA. Homozygous mouse strains were viable and developed normally independent of the presence or absence of EDA. However, mice lacking EDA displayed abnormal and delayed skin wound healing, while mice constitutively expressing EDA showed a pronounced decrease in the level of FN in all tissues. Interestingly, both mouse strains had a shorter lifetime compared to

control littermates (Muro et al. 2003). On the other hand, deletion of EDB displayed no significant phenotype in mouse development and fertility. However, fibroblasts extracted from mice lacking EDB grew more slowly in vitro, and were less efficient at depositing and assembling FN (Fukuda et al. 2002). It is evident that Extra Domains have overlapping functions during embryonic development, and at least one of the two is necessary for normal body growth since the absence of both Extra Domains is deleterious for the organism due to severe cardiovascular defects ranging from vascular leakage to defective angiogenesis and heart defects (Astrof, Crowley, and Hynes 2007).

Enhancing the notion that EDA might support various biological functions, several studies focused on the role of EDA- and EDB-containing FN in the arterial wall. Normally, the arterial wall is rich in FN, though no EDB or EDA FN is present (White, Baralle, and Muro 2008). In one study, increased levels of EDA-FN were found next to smooth muscle cells (Glukhova et al. 1989) resulting in the activation of TLR4 which can induce inflammation and atherogenesis (X. H. Xu et al. 2001). In a different approach the researchers removed EDA from FN in a mouse model that develops arterial wall lesions, and the mice not expressing EDA-FN displayed smaller lesions throughout the aortic tree suggesting that EDA modulates plasma lipoprotein metabolism (Tan et al. 2004). This hypothesis, however, was greatly opposed when subsequent analyses showed that mice bearing either variant of FN (constitutively including or excluding EDA) displayed similar reduction in atherosclerotic lesions, suggesting that strict regulation of EDA splicing is involved in atherosclerosis progression (Babaev et al. 2008).

1.2 Cell – ECM Interactions

In order for a multicellular organism to form and function properly, cells need to interact with each other as well as with the different components of the extracellular matrix. These interactions take place in a spatiotemporal manner starting at the very beginning of embryonic development and continue throughout the entire lifespan of the organism. Key players in these interactions are transmembrane protein complexes that link cells together (for example, epithelial cells lining the different organs, immune cells during antigen presentation), or with their extracellular environment (for example, epithelial cells bound on the basement membrane, or mesenchymal cells interacting with their supporting stroma).

ECM-binding cell receptors transmit signals bi-directionally. They induce intracellular signaling determined by the state (compositions and physical properties) of the ECM, and they participate in ECM deposition and dynamics driven by cytoskeletal rearrangements. ECM receptors are characterized by heterogeneity and specificity, with different receptors displaying binding preference for distinct ECM components. This specificity makes ECM receptors an attractive therapeutic target against many pathological conditions such as inflammation, fibrosis, cardiovascular diseases, and cancer.

A major class of ECM receptors is the integrin family, a conserved family of heterodimer cell receptors that link the ECM with the cell interior by binding to different ECM molecules (collagens, FN, TNC, laminin) and to cytoskeletal proteins (actin, intermediate filaments). Integrins are described in detail below.

Syndecans (see also Section 1.1.2.1 and Table 1) comprise a family of four proteoglycans the core proteins of which are embedded in the cell membrane and are linked to HS or CS GAG chains (Morgan, Humphries, and Bass 2007; Cheng et al. 2016). Apart from binding to ECM components (both core matrisome and matrisome-associated components), syndecans can co-operate with integrins (**Figure 9**) to mediate cell adhesion and signaling as in the case of syndecan-4 and α 5 β 1 (Bloom, Ingham, and Hynes 1999), and they are capable of activating signaling pathways (Keum et al. 2004).



Figure 9 Activation of the cytoskeletal regulators Rac and Rho, upon integrin binding to FN, facilitated by syndecan-4 engagement. The cytoplasmic domain of syndecan-4 mediates GTP loading of Rac and Rho, the localized activation of which initiates downstream signaling leading to actin cytoskeleton re-organization. Acquired from *Morgan et al 2007*.

In Section 1.1.2.2 laminins were referred to as ligands for integrins. Laminins, however, are ligands for additional cell receptors. The dystrophin glycoprotein complex (DGC) is a multimeric apparatus that spans the cell membrane linking the actin cytoskeleton with laminin in the ECM through α -dystroglycan (Ibraghimov-

Beskrovnaya et al. 1992; Haenggi and Fritschy 2006), mediating cell adhesion on BMs (Montanaro, Lindenbaum, and Carbonetto 1999). Other, less well-studied laminin receptors are the Lutheran (Lu) and the basal cell adhesion molecule (B-CAM) that derive from the same gene, and were identified in blood samples of the Lutheran blood group (Udani et al. 1998; I. G. Campbell et al. 1994). Finally, the 67 kDa laminin receptor (67LR) has been identified in tumors and has a high affinity for laminin (Lesot, Kühl, and von der Mark 1983; Malinoff 1983; Terranova et al. 1983).

Similar to laminins, collagens are also recognized by integrins and other receptors. Discoidin domain receptors (DDRs) are receptor tyrosine kinases activated upon collagen binding (Shrivastava et al. 1997; W. Vogel et al. 1997), and their distribution is cell type specific (W. F. Vogel, Abdulhussein, and Ford 2006). Additionally, glycoprotein IV (GPIV) is involved in platelet activation by binding collagen together with $\alpha 2\beta 1$ (Auger et al. 2005); leukocyte-associated immunoglobulin-like receptor-1 (LAIR-1) regulates collagen-mediated immunosuppression (Lebbink et al. 2006; Meyaard 2008); and urokinase-type plasminogen activator associated protein (uPARAP), also known as Endo180, is involved in collagen phagocytosis after collagen binding (Wienke, MacFadyen, and Isacke 2003; Curino et al. 2005).

Closing this section, it is worth mentioning CD168 and CD44, two cell receptors that recognize and bind HA, resulting in signaling pathway activation by regulation of protein tyrosine kinases, such as Src, and small GTPases such as Rho, while modulating growth factor receptor signaling (Turley, Noble, and Bourguignon 2002).

1.2.1 The Integrins

A major set of proteins that mediate cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions is the integrin family. Integrins are transmembrane complexes involved in a wide range of physiological processes. With their extracellular head regions, integrins bind extracellular matrix glycoproteins such as laminins and collagens in basement membranes, or connective tissue components like fibronectin. Through such interactions, integrins facilitate numerous functions including but not limited to stable adhesion to basement membranes, the formation of extracellular matrices and migration thereon, the formation of platelet aggregates, the establishment of

intercellular junctions in the immune system, as well as bacterial and viral entry in infectious diseases. The aforementioned adhesion-related processes modulate signaling pathways that control cell motility and migration, cell cycle regulation and differentiation, immune response, and mechanotransduction. Thus, integrins link the cell interior with the microenvironment, and are capable of transmitting signals and forces both ways across the plasma membrane depending on the state of the underlying tissue.

1.2.1.1 Integrin Structure

Integrins are heterodimeric type I transmembrane complexes composed of an a and a β subunit (Giancotti and Ruoslahti 1999). In mammals, there are 18 α and 8 β subunits with a differential expression pattern across tissues (Richard O Hynes 2002). These subunits are noncovalently associated in order to form 24 known integrin complexes characterized by distinct function, and ligand specificity (Richard O Hynes 2002; Giancotti and Ruoslahti 1999; M. J. Humphries 2000; Kim, Ye, and Ginsberg 2011). Both α and β subunits are composed of a large extracellular domain [approximately 1000 amino acids for α subunits, and approximately 700 amino acids for β subunits (I. D. Campbell and Humphries 2011)], a single transmembrane domain, and a short cytoplasmic tail. Exception to this rule is integrin β 4 that possesses an intracellular domain that is significantly larger than the extracellular domain [about 1000 amino acids long (Takada, Ye, and Simon 2007)]. A few integrin subunits can pair with multiple subunits of the opposite set, while others can form functional complexes only with a specific subunit of the opposite set (Figure 10). However, all integrin subunits are believed to interact with their respective partners and to exert their functional roles in a similar way.

An $\alpha\beta$ integrin dimer is composed of three distinct regions (**Figure 11**): the extracellular region, the transmembrane domain (TMD), and the cytoplasmic tail. The extracellular region can be further divided in two parts: the head of the complex, which is responsible for ligand binding, and the leg of the complex, that is involved in integrin activity.

The extracellular part that comprises the head of the α subunit is composed of a large domain named β -propeller which contains seven 60-amino-acid repeats that fold into a seven-bladed structure (propeller) (Takada, Ye, and Simon 2007; Barczyk,



Figure 10 Eight β subunits pair with 18 α subunits and form 24 different combinations that differ in expression across tissues and in binding specificity. Adapted from *Hynes* 2002.

Carracedo, and Gullberg 2010). Within the β -propeller, between blades 2 and 3, resides the I domain, a domain of approximately 200 amino acids also known as A domain [Figure 11, (Barczyk, Carracedo, and Gullberg 2010)].

The I domain is characterized by the presence of five β -sheets surrounded by seven α -helices and it is only present in half of the α integrin subunits, [α 1, α 2, α 10, α 11, α L, α M, α X, α D, and α E (Takada, Ye, and Simon 2007; Barczyk, Carracedo, and Gullberg 2010)]. The I domain is responsible for ligand binding through a motif named metalion-dependent adhesion site (MIDAS). Mg²⁺ ions bind within the MIDAS motif facilitating a conformational change that results in ligand binding in a cleft formed between the α I domain and the β I domain (described below). The α integrins that lack an I domain bind their ligands through a ligand binding site formed between the β I domain (Richard O Hynes 2002; M. J. Humphries 2000; I. D. Campbell and Humphries 2011; Barczyk, Carracedo, and Gullberg 2010). The α head (β -propeller plus I domain, if present) is connected with a *thigh* region, a calf-1, and a calf-2 domain, which collectively comprise the leg of the α subunit (Figure 11). This region, in concert with the β subunit, orchestrates the activation status of the integrin dimer. Downstream from the leg domain there is the TMD usually

spanning around 20 amino acids (both for α and β subunits), and finally lies the cytoplasmic tail of the subunit (M. J. Humphries 2000).

The β subunit is generally shorter than the α subunit. It contains a plexin-semaphorinintegrin (PSI) domain, followed by a hybrid domain within which lies the βI domain (Barczyk, Carracedo, and Gullberg 2010). The β I also domain contains а MIDAS motif that binds a Mg²⁺ ion, well as as an **MIDAS** adjacent to (ADMIDAS) motif, that either binds an inhibitory Ca²⁺ ion,



Figure 11 Integrin dimer scheme displaying the active conformation of the dimer. The different subunits, α and β , and the distinct regions of each subunit are shown (see text for details). In the inactive conformation, the extracellular part is in a folded conformation and the transmembrane domains are found in an X-like conformation. Activation drives the extracellular part to adopt an uptight conformation, and the transmembrane and cytoplasmic domains are separated. See also Figure 12. Adapted from *Campbell and Humphries 2011*.

or a Mn^{2+} ion resulting in an active form of the integrin though a conformational change (Barczyk, Carracedo, and Gullberg 2010; M. Humphries 2003). As mentioned above, the β I domain is responsible for the formation of the ligand-binding cleft.

The PSI, hybrid, and β I domains, constituting the head of the β subunit, is connected to the leg, which is composed of four cysteine-rich epidermal growth factor (EGF) repeats, as well as a membrane-proximal extracellular domain (Figure 11). The latter is connected to the β TMD region, and the β cytoplasmic tail, which is mainly

responsible for integrin activity/activation (Kim, Ye, and Ginsberg 2011; Barczyk, Carracedo, and Gullberg 2010). While integrins have no enzymatic activity themselves, the β tails have NPxY motifs that are recognized by proteins that contain phospho-tyrosine binding (PTB) domains. Several proteins have been identified to directly interact with the β subunit PTB domains (Barczyk, Carracedo, and Gullberg 2010).

1.2.1.2 Integrin Activation

As mentioned above, an α subunit will non-covalently bind a β subunit to form a functional integrin, and their head regions will generate a ligand binding site. However, ligand binding is an operation that can be regulated both by the presence of the ligand, and cytoplasm related processes.

Since their identification, integrins have been subjected to extensive studies in order to identify the overall structure and the various conformations, as well as the way they contribute to integrin function. Crystallization and electron microscopy approaches of entire integrins or fragments, with or without ligand, and in presence or absence of bivalent ions led to the establishment of a model in which integrins can be found in three distinct states (Richard O Hynes 2002; M. J. Humphries 2000; Kim, Ye, and Ginsberg 2011). A recent microscopy-based approach (J. Li et al. 2017) confirmed these findings and demonstrated that integrin conformation can be i) bent and inactive, ii) stretched and primed, iii) stretched and active (**Figure 12**). Furthermore, through site-directed mutagenesis, it has been shown that the regions contributing to the different forms of the complex lie mostly within the TMDs and the cytoplasmic tails (I. D. Campbell and Humphries 2011; Takada, Ye, and Simon 2007; Calderwood 2004).

In the proposed model, both cytoplasmic tails and transmembrane domains are found in close proximity through electrostatic interactions, and the hydrophobic properties of the underlying amino acids, respectively. In this state, the extracellular part of the complex adopts a bent, V-shaped conformation that is considered to be inactive and of low affinity for ligand. Activation can occur either by weak ligand binding or by effects that occur on the cytoplasmic side of the complex, leading to straightening and separation of the legs, the transmembrane domains and the cytoplasmic tails. At this stage, the complex is considered as "primed" and affinity for ligand is increased. Additionally, the straightening of the complex results in the exposure of previously cryptic sites that function as binding/docking sites for cytoplasmic proteins and signaling.

Finally, when the complex is fully active, the cytoplasmic tail binding sites are occupied by a vast set of proteins (adhesome) that exert a wide range of processes such as mechanosensing and signaling (Figure 12 and



Figure 13). At this state, ligand binding is at its peak forming a catch bond, which gets stronger upon application of higher force (Barczyk, Carracedo, and Gullberg 2010; Ginsberg 2014; Changede and Sheetz 2017; Klapholz and Brown 2017).

adapted from Li et al. 2017.

The cytoplasmic tails of the integrins are short, but they are also extended and flexible (I. D. Campbell and Humphries 2011). The β tail, more specifically, is able to act as a docking site for multiple interactions with many different proteins, as previously mentioned. More particularly, proteins containing the PTB domain bind directly to one of the two conserved NPxY motifs in β tails, resulting in partial activation of the complex. The most important among these is the protein talin, a large protein of approximately 2500 amino acids that has a head-and-rod structure. Talin has two integrin binding sites, three actin binding sites and can dimerize (Klapholz and Brown 2017). Talin molecules in a closed conformation are recruited to ligand-bound integrins, through their FERM (protein 4.1, ezrin, radixin, moesin) domain and more specifically through the F3 subdomain that binds directly to the β tail. Their orientation depends on which integrin binding site is used, and this can greatly affect

the spacing between integrin subunits, resulting in a stretched integrin configuration. Additionally, talin associated with one ECM-bound integrin can expand the adhesion site by binding to an adjacent non-ligand-bound integrin and stimulating its ECM binding (Klapholz and Brown 2017).

The second step involves integrin-bound talin binding to the actin cytoskeleton. This event is followed by stretching of the molecule by mechanical forces either in the plane of the membrane and the actin cortex, or perpendicular to it. This stretching results in the unfolding of distinct domains and the exposure of additional protein interacting sites, notably vinculin binding sites [VBSs, (Gingras et al. 2005)]. Consequently, talin translates actin-mediated forces on integrins into recruitment of integrin-associated proteins (IAPs), which strengthen and/or modify the adhesion.

Talin also recruits additional proteins independently of force, directly or indirectly, thus acting as a major docking site or hub, initiating numerous cell processes. For instance, the talin head binds Rap1 proteins through the F0 subdomain of the FERM domain (Goult et al. 2010), as well as focal adhesion kinase [FAK, (Lawson et al. 2012)], layilin (Wegener et al. 2008), T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis 1 [TIAM1, (Shujie Wang et al. 2012)], and phosphatidylinositol phosphate kinase type I γ [PIPKI γ , (de Pereda et al. 2005)], and the Rap1-GTP-interacting adaptor molecule (RIAM) via the F3 subdomain (H.-S. Lee et al. 2009). Additional regulating proteins that are found docked in the intracellular part of integrin complexes are filamins and migfilin (Ithychanda et al. 2009), ILK (Honda et al. 2009), the family of PINCH proteins (C. Wu 2004), Parvins (Brakebusch 2003), paxillin (Liu et al. 1999), and tensin (Danen 2013).

1.2.1.3 Biological Processes Involving Integrins

Integrin engagement and adhesion establishment can regulate intracellular signal transduction cascades that eventually control differentiation, proliferation, survival, actin dynamics, and metabolism (Figure 13). For most cell types, activation of the Raf – MEK – ERK signaling pathway is weak and transient in the absence of adhesion, but it is accentuated and sustained in the presence of integrin-mediated adhesions (Danen 2013; Renshaw 1997; Q. Chen et al. 1996).

Receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) signaling is also regulated by integrin clustering and transactivation of PDGFR, EGFR (Miyamoto 1996; Moro 1998), VEGFR (J. F. Wang, Zhang, and Groopman 2001), and other RTKs, while growth factors concentrated



Figure 13 Integrin activation results in the activation of different pathways that in turn initiate biological responses responsible for cell adhesion and motility, or proliferation, differentiation, and survival. See text for details.

by/within the ECM can be activated by integrins and presented to their respective growth factor receptors, as is the case for TGF- β 1 (John S Munger et al. 1999).

Through its effect on multiple signal transduction cascades, integrin-mediated cell adhesion regulates also the cell cycle, and the differentiation state. Integrins cooperate with RTKs to stimulate the cyclin E-cdk2 activity that drives the entry to the S-phase, through organization of the actin

cytoskeleton by the integrins (Danen 2013; Assoian and Schwartz 2001; Danen and Yamada 2001). Integrin-mediated adhesion also regulates the expression of genes related to differentiation, such as the synthesis of milk proteins by mammary epithelial cells (M. L. Li et al. 1987; Edwards et al. 1998), the formation of contracting myotubes and expression of meromyosin by embryonic fibroblasts (Menko and Boettiger 1987), the production of inflammatory cytokines by monocytes (Haskill et al. 1988), and the expression of terminally differentiated keratinocyte markers (Adams and Watt 1989).

More recently accumulating evidence suggests that integrin-mediated signaling is tightly linked to metabolic procedures. Metabolic flux, through specific pathways (AMPK, mTOR, HIF1), controls integrin expression, trafficking and degradation, thus affecting cell adhesion and integrin-mediated cell migration (Koike et al. 2004; Keely et al. 2008; Ryu et al. 2010; T. Kong et al. 2004; Tang and Lu 2009; Chiu et al. 2009; Rainero et al. 2015). Moreover, integrins themselves control various metabolic signals and pathways, establishing a reciprocity of this regulation (Ata and Antonescu 2017).

A major function of integrins and the downstream signaling discussed above is cellular motility. Cell migration is crucial for embryonic development, immune response, tissue repair, while deregulated migration is a primary cause of metastatic cancers (Danen 2013; Ridley et al. 2003). Integrin-mediated adhesion to the ECM or to other cells is required for the establishment of cell polarity during migration. The lamellipodium in the front is characterized by an extended network of stationery focal complexes resulting in the generation of propulsive forces, while the rear edge is rich in F-actin stress fibers generating forces that produce inward sliding focal contacts (Ballestrem et al. 2001). The integrin expression profile, as well as the cell adhesion machinery within each cell type can promote distinct modes of motility, and cells can alter their motile behavior by expressing different integrins and/or adhesome proteins (Danen 2013; Danen et al. 2005).

1.2.1.4 Fibronectin Fibrillogenesis

Given the direct link between integrins and fibronectin/ECM, it only seems fit to close this chapter with ECM assembly. Integrins are found in the core of the assembly process of various types of ECM. In the case of basement membranes, β 1 integrins cooperate with the dystroglycan receptor to promote synthesis and polymerization of laminin chains into a multivalent network in which eventually, collagens and other components are incorporated. In the case of mesenchymal stroma and other fibronectin-rich matrices, α 5 β 1 is the typical integrin that, upon interaction with syndecans, drives fibronectin matrix assembly, a crucial step for cell migration during embryonic development, wound healing, and various pathological conditions (George et al. 1993; Wennerberg et al. 1996). Binding of fibronectin to α 5 β 1 stimulates the activity of RhoA, that in turn stimulates actomyosin-derived contractility, which is required for fibronectin fibrillogenesis (Mao and Schwarzbauer 2005).

Fibronectin fibrillogenesis is a multistep process (Figure 9 and **Figure 14**) that involves inherent physical properties of FN, interactions with other ECM molecules (FN included), binding to cell receptors, and cytoskeletal rearrangements. Functional studies involving the use of FN or FN fragments revealed that FN assembly is based on self-association, and on FN binding to integrin α 5 β 1 through the RGD sequence.

FN can be presented on the cell surface in a soluble form, or it can be produced by cells and secreted in close proximity to the plasma membrane. In this state, FN is most probably found in a compact conformation. Several in vitro studies have shown that this compact conformation is controlled by the ability of FN to self-associate through several regions (See also section 1.1.3.3). Additionally, the FNIII repeats are characterized by the presence of two β -sheets enclosing a hydrophobic core (Dickinson, Veerapandian, et al. 1994; Dickinson, Gay, et al. 1994), without any covalent interactions, suggesting that each FNIII repeat can acquire an open or stretched conformation if strain is applied. Indeed, in silico and in vitro studies have demonstrated the extendibility of FNIII domains (Krammer et al. 1999; Baneyx, Baugh, and Vogel 2002).



Figure 14 Stages of FN fibrillogenesis. 1) FN is secreted or is exogenously presented to cells. 2) Integrin α 5 β 1 binds the RGD sequence of FN and is activated resulting in receptor clustering and 3) recruitment of integrin partners in the cytoplasmic site of the plasma membrane (ILK, PINCH, parvin – IPP, depicted by the gray oval). 4) Tensin is recruited in the cytoplasmic side of the plasma membrane, and at the same time FN acquires an extended conformation resulting in 5) binding to additional ECM components and cell receptors subsequently enhancing actin polymerization and further FN fibrillogenesis. Adapted from *Van Obberghen-Schilling et al.* 2011.

Once recognized by $a5\beta1$ (and $av\beta3$) integrin, FN-integrin interaction takes place through the RGD domain in FNIII₁₀ (E Ruoslahti and Pierschbacher 1987), and this association is facilitated by the synergy sequence (PHSRN) in FNIII₉. Elimination of the regulatory activity of either sequence abolishes early FN fibril formation (Fogerty et al. 1990; Jean E Schwarzbauer 1991; McDonald et al. 1987), highlighting that FNintegrin interaction is a key step initializing FN fibrillogenesis. FN binding to integrins induces an increase of the local concentration (clustering) of the receptors that are now forming focal complexes by recruiting ILK, PINCH, parvin and tensin, activating Rhomediated actin polymerization, resulting in cell spreading and motility thus "laying" FN fibrils along the way [**Figure 15**, and reviewed in (Van Obberghen-Schilling et al. 2011)].

At the same time, integrin clustering and binding of additional cell receptors like syndecan-4 [reviewed in (Morgan, Humphries, and Bass 2007)] or urokinase plasminogen activator receptor [uPAR (Monaghan et al. 2004)] enhances FN assembly by stimulating Rho GTPase and FAK activities (Saoncella et al. 1999; Wilcox-Adelman,



Denhez, and Goetinck 2002) or by strengthening FN-integrin binding respectively (Monaghan et 2004). al. Finally, longitudinal and lateral association of FN molecules to existing fibrils facilitated by their stretched conformation, FN results in polymerization and promotion of assembly, probably mediated by the

Figure 15 Pericellular deposition of FN fibrils in passively immortalized Mouse Embryo Fibroblasts after 2 days in culture. Scale bar: 50µm.

protein-disulfide isomerase activity of FN, located in the FNI₁₂ (Langenbach and Sottile 1999).

FN fibrillogenesis is a key step in ECM deposition and maturation since loss of FN has deleterious effects in matrix generation (Cseh et al. 2010), abolishing the deposition and processing of other ECM components such as collagen I (Saunders and

Schwarzbauer 2019) and thrombospondin-1 (Sottile and Hocking 2002), as well as fibrillin-1 (Kinsey et al. 2008; Sabatier et al. 2009).

This introduction has only been a mere scratch on the surface of the integrin information pool, but I think that it contains the necessary elements in order for the reader to understand the complexity and the charm that lies within the cell-ECM interplay.

1.3 The TGF-β Pathway

The TGF- β family of proteins is composed of a large set of secreted peptides that mediate a vast range of cellular processes. Thirty-three genes have been identified in mammals so far (Derynck and Budi 2019), encoding highly specialized secreted proteins that homodimerize or heterodimerize, and bind to specific cell receptors in order to mediate their roles. TGF- β family proteins control cell proliferation and differentiation, they induce or protect from cell death depending on the cell type and the biological context, they control the expression of ECM components, they promote cell motility and invasion, and they are involved in the regulation of cell energetics [reviewed in (Derynck and Budi 2019)].

This work mainly focuses on the most well studied member of the TGF- β family, the TGF- β 1. TGF- β 1 is seen as the archetype TGF- β family member, as it was the first one to be purified, cloned and characterized, and the recombinant protein was subsequently produced for laboratory studies (Moses, Roberts, and Derynck 2016; Derynck et al. 1985). The first documented role of TGF- β 1, together with EGF, was its effect on colony cell proliferation in soft agar. Many cell types stimulated with TGF- β 1 alone displayed decreased proliferation rates including epithelial, endothelial, mesenchymal, hematopoietic, and cells of the immune system (Y. Zhang, Alexander, and Wang 2017). However, the cytostatic effect of TGF- β 1 is not universal. It is now known that there is an extensive crosstalk between TGF- β signaling and other pathways determining cell fate. Such pathways include the ERK-MAPK, JNK, p38-MAPK, PI3K-PKB and mTOR, JAK-STAT (Roberts et al. 1985). This crosstalk can result in either reduced or increased cell proliferation, both in physiological and pathological

conditions, such as in tumor progression where TGF- β 1 may act either as a tumor suppressor or as an oncogene (Roberts et al. 1985; Inman 2011).

1.3.1 TGF-β Signaling, Receptors and Effectors

From a historical perspective, TGF- β 1 was initially characterized in platelets (Moses, Roberts, and Derynck 2016) as a secreted pair of identical subunits linked through disulfide bonding (Assoian et al. 1983). The *TGFB1* gene encodes a pre-propeptide composed of an N-terminal signaling sequence responsible for secretion, and a pro-domain termed LAP (latency-associated peptide) adjacent to the mature peptide (**Figure 16**). This pre-pro-peptide is subjected to dimerization and folding in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Dimerization takes place through cysteine residues lying within the mature peptide sequences forming a single disulfide bond covalently linking the pro-peptides.

The dimer LAP-TGF- β is called small latent complex (SLC). During its presence in the ER, the SLC is covalently bonded to other proteins, targeting TGF- β to different compartments. (Gleizes et al. 1996; Nunes et al. 1997; Isogai et al. 2003). The glycoprotein-A repetitions predominant (GARP), also known as leucine-rich repeatcontaining protein 32 (LRRC32), a cell membrane docked protein, is linked with one disulfide bond per LAP within the dimer complex, thus retaining the inactive complex in close proximity to the extracellular side of plasma membrane. Similarly, disulfide bonding of LAP to a latent TGF- β binding protein (LTBP) results in localization of the resulting large latent complex (LLC) in the ECM (Rifkin 2005).

Proteolytic processing in the trans-Golgi by furin enzymes (Robertson and Rifkin 2016) results in removal of the signaling sequence, and cleavage of LAP from the mature peptide. The mature peptide and the LAP remain associated through non-covalent interactions.

The first step for pathway activation is the release of the mature peptide (the TGF- β 1 dimer) from the complexes that confer latency, LAP and LTBP or GARP. The dimer is then free to bind to TGF- β 1 receptors that are found in the vicinity (**Figure 17**). There are two kinds of receptors, TGF β RI and TGF β RII (or T β RI and T β RII), that are only scarcely found at the plasma membrane, generally in a homodimeric form. Despite

their low abundance (less than 1000 to 5000 per cell, depending on the cell type), TGF- β 1 is able to bind the receptors with very high affinity, the dissociation constants of which are approximately 10⁻¹¹M (Derynck and Budi 2019). Active TGF- β 1 binds with high affinity to TGF β RII homodimer, followed by the tethering of the TGF β RI homodimer, resulting in ligand induced receptor activation.

Activation of the factor-receptor complex induces conformational changes that



Figure 16 A. TGF- β is produced as a homodimeric pre-pro-peptide in the endoplasmic reticulum. **B.** Maturation involves cleavage of the LAP from the mature peptide, though they remain associated through non-covalent interactions resulting in TGF- β being in an inactive, or latent, state. TGF- β is finally secreted and docked in the ECM (C), or on the cell membrane (D) through non-covalent association with proteins that confer latency. Image adapted from *Derynck and Budi* 2019.

stabilize the association between the receptor tetramer, which facilitates the cytoplasmic domains of the receptors to be placed in proximity (Chaikuad and Bullock 2016; Hinck, Mueller, and Springer 2016). This interaction results in the phosphorylation of the type II receptor by TGF β RI. More specifically, both receptor types are characterized by the presence of a membrane-proximal domain that is rich in serine and glycine residues, denoted GS domain that has serine kinase activity. The TGF β RI GS domain is phosphorylated at different sites by the TGF β RII kinase upon binding of the ligand (Heldin and Moustakas 2016; Chaikuad and Bullock 2016; Wieser, Wrana, and Massague 1995), namely a threonine residue and several serine residues.

Phosphorylation of the TGF β RI GS domain leads in additional conformational rearrangements that cause FKBP12 to be released from the phosphorylated GS domain. FKBP12 is a cytosolic protein that interacts with the cytoplasmic domain of TGF β RI (T. Wang, Donahoe, and Zervos 1994), preventing its spontaneous phosphorylation by TGF β RII in a ligand-independent manner (Y.-G. Chen, Liu, and Massague 1997). The dissociation of FKBP12 from the type I receptor cytosolic domain results in its kinase activation (Chaikuad and Bullock 2016; Huse et al. 2001).

Upon receptor activation, several intracellular effector proteins transmit the signal



Figure 17 Active TGF- β binds sequentially TGF β RII and TGF β RI, resulting in the activation of the phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic domain of the TGF β RII. This event induces the phosphorylation and activation of the TGF- β signaling effectors SMAD2 and SMAD4 that form a complex that translocates into the nucleus. Interaction with additional transcription factors (brown circle) results in transcriptional regulation of target genes. Adapted from *Schmierer and Hill 2007*. into the nucleus to guide gene expression. Once TGF β RI kinase is activated, it phosphorylates the SMAD proteins, the principal TGF- β signaling effectors, at two C-terminal serine residues. Typically, these are SMAD2 and SMAD3, which are subsequently released from the receptor complex and partner with SMAD4. The active trimeric SMAD complex then translocates to the nucleus through the combined effect of nuclear localization sequences in the N-terminal domains and the association of SMADs with specific importins or nucleoporins (Hata and Chen 2016; Hill 2009). Inside the nucleus, the SMAD complexes are brought together with highly specific transcription factors and regulatory elements in order to promote activation or repression of target gene expression, as well as epigenetic modifications and mRNA processing (Derynck and Budi 2019).

The system described so far is a simplified version of the currently known network of TGF- β pathways. There are many different receptors and effectors highly specializing the system in a spatiotemporal and cell-type dependent manner. Additionally, there are proteins that facilitate ligand binding through presentation of the ligand to the receptor, or through regulating the local ligand concentration (Nickel, ten Dijke, and Mueller 2018; Heldin and Moustakas 2016; Hinck, Mueller, and Springer 2016). It is interesting to present two such well-known co-receptors with distinct functions.

Betaglycan, originally named as TGF β RIII (T β RIII), is a transmembrane proteoglycan with CS and Hep side chains attached to its extracellular part, able to bind TGF- β 1 (M. Dong et al. 2007; Bilandzic and Stenvers 2011), and stabilize receptor association. Betaglycan promotes ligand presenting to the receptor resulting in enhanced TGF- β signaling (Bilandzic and Stenvers 2011; Heldin and Moustakas 2016; Hinck, Mueller, and Springer 2016; Nickel, ten Dijke, and Mueller 2018). Conversely, cleavage of the extracellular domain of betaglycan results in decrease of the local concentration of the ligand, finally quenching the signal (M. Dong et al. 2007; Lopez-Casillas et al. 1994).

Endoglin, just like betaglycan, is a single pass transmembrane protein found in a homodimeric form (Heldin and Moustakas 2016; Nickel, ten Dijke, and Mueller 2018; Sugden and Siekmann 2018). Endoglin can act either as a promoter of TGF- β signaling or as a suppressor, depending on the receptor complexes and the effectors implicated in the pathway. More specifically, endoglin binds TGF- β 1 and inhibits TGF β RI mediated signaling (Heldin and Moustakas 2016; Nickel, ten Dijke, and Mueller 2018).

1.3.2 TGF- β Crosstalk with the ECM and the Role of Integrins

It is generally accepted that the ECM serves as a growth factor reservoir, which can locally regulate the bioavailability of active growth factors when they are needed. Many growth factors bind to GAG chains attached to ECM proteins, as well as directly to the proteins themselves (Richard O. Hynes 2009). Fibronectin is a good example of a matrix protein that has been shown to bind a large variety of growth factors, modulating cell behavior.

As mentioned previously, TGF- β can be found in a latent (inactive) form in the ECM and this localization is facilitated by LTBP. TGF- β 1, as well as other members of the family, are incorporated into the ECM by binding to different ECM components, such as fibrillins, fibronectins, and collagen II (Richard O. Hynes 2009). The apparent question raised by the presence of TGF- β in the matrix was whether the ECM could contribute to the release of the mature peptide and trigger TGF- β signaling. Several lines of evidence have provided insight in TGF- β activation through different ECM mediated routes. Proteolytic degradation of fibrillin and/or LTBP through metalloproteinase activity, MMP2, MMP3, MMP9, MMP13, and MMP14, leads in active TGF- β being released from the LLC [reviewed in (Jenkins 2008)]. Thrombospondin is an ECM protein that can activate metalloproteinases, but it can also bind on LAP resulting in its dissociation from the mature peptide (Crawford et al. 1998). Conformational changes in LAP can also release active TGF- β or result in its exposure towards TGF- β receptors, which are subsequently activated (Rifkin 2005; ten Dijke and Arthur 2007).

The LAP-TGF- β complex is characterized by the ability to bind to integrins. This is mediated through RGD sequences that are found in LAP and are recognized mainly by $\alpha\nu\beta6$, $\alpha\nu\beta8$, but also $\alpha\nu\beta1$, $\alpha\nu\beta3$, and $\alpha\nu\beta5$ [see (Robertson and Rifkin 2016) and references therein]. More specifically, $\alpha\nu\beta6$ integrin binds LAP-TGF- β through the RGD sequence, while being stable in position through its anchoring to the underlying actin cytoskeleton, while LAP-TGF- β is bound to the ECM through LTBP. Generation of traction forces results in the distortion of the steady-state conformation of actin-integrin-LLC-ECM, resulting in the liberation of mature TGF- β which can subsequently bind TGF β RII (Flaumenhaft 1993; John S Munger et al. 1999; Annes et al. 2004). A similar way of TGF- β activation has been described for integrins $\alpha\nu\beta3$ and $\alpha\nu\beta5$ (J. S. Munger and Sheppard 2011; Hinz 2013; Worthington, Klementowizc, and Travis 2011; Hinz 2015). Recently, it was shown that the presence of the Extra Domain

A in FN enhances recruitment of LTBP1 to the fibroblast matrix, which in turn confers latency to TGF- β , thus regulating its bioavailability (Klingberg et al. 2018).

Other ways of TGF- β activation have been proposed and are currently under study such as the cooperation of integrins and proteases, deglycosylation of potential glycosylation sites, the presence of mimicking peptides, and other TGF- β interacting proteins. Physicochemical factors such as detergents, ionizing and UV radiation, increased temperature, reactive oxygen species (ROS) and pH extremities also result in TGF- β activation.

ECM mediated regulation of TGF- β activity is not unidirectional. Several studies have shown that TGF- β signaling regulates expression of $\alpha\nu\beta3$, $\alpha\nu\beta5$, $\alpha\nu\beta6$, and several $\beta1$ integrins (Khan and Marshall 2016). It also regulates the expression of ECM components like collagen I and fibronectin (Ignotz and Massague 1986), thus changing the ECM landscape and resulting in a strictly regulated network of interactions, perturbations of which reflect pathological phenotypes like fibrosis, and cancer. In the case of FN, TGF- β expression correlates with inclusion of EDB and EDA (Borsi et al. 1990; Balza et al. 1988; P. Castellani 1986) and involvement of SMAD3 and SMAD4 signaling in different cell lines (Ventura et al. 2018). In line with this is the fact that the SRSF family of splicing factors, that regulate Extra Domain splicing in FN (Du et al. 1997; Lim and Sharp 1998; Caputi et al. 1994), are downstream targets of TGF- β signaling (Hallgren et al. 2012).

Activation of TGF- β signaling results in increased expression of TGF- β -response genes, such as *TGFBI*, *CTGF*, and *PAI1*. TGF- β inducible (TGFBI) is an ECM glycoprotein induced by TGF- β that interacts with FN (Billings et al. 2002) and has a role in normal ECM deposition in several contexts (Ween, Oehler, and Ricciardelli 2012; Ahlfeld et al. 2016). Connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) is a multifunctional matricellular protein (Leask and Abraham 2003) that influences tissue remodeling (Lipson et al. 2012), and it is considered a marker of the fibrotic response (Riser et al. 2000; Gupta et al. 2000). Its expression is positively controlled by TGF- β (Youjun Chen et al. 2002; Riser et al. 2000) and negatively regulated by endoglin (Obreo et al. 2004), which is also a TGF- β signaling modulator (see Section 1.3.1), while modulating signaling by BMP and TGF- β (Abreu et al. 2002).

Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI1) is a matrisome-affiliated protein (Naba et al. 2012) that regulates the plasma fibrinolytic activity. A direct role has been postulated for PAI1 in lung fibrosis, and tissue remodeling in the vasculature [reviewed in (Cesari, Pahor, and Incalzi 2010) and (Yamauchi et al. 2018)]. PAI1 expression is also regulated by TGF- β (Kutz et al. 2001) and it is believed to be involved in the alleviation of elastin network integrity and collagen fiber modifications, thus compromising the structure of BMs (Callaghan and Wilhelm 2008; Calleja-Agius 2007).

Finally, the physical properties of the matrix, reflected for example in tissue stiffness and straining, can directly control and be controlled by the efficacy of TGF- β activation by fibroblasts [reviewed in (Hinz 2015)]. Taken together, these data support the notion of an elaborately regulated crosstalk between cells and ECM, and TGF- β plays a pivotal role in this crosstalk.

2. Aim of the Thesis

Fibronectin is one of the most extensively studied ECM components. Many aspects of the structure and function of FN have been elucidated since its discovery, such as its structural role in matrix deposition and assembly that in turn control normal tissue homeostasis both in developmental processes and in pathophysiological conditions. These effects have been demonstrated through a series of in vitro and vivo experiments that have shown that FN is indispensable for normal development by regulating cell adhesion, motility, proliferation, and differentiation (George et al. 1993).

FN is characterized by the presence of repeating modular domains with distinct structure and binding partners, influencing its conformation, which can be compact or stretched [reviewed in (Pankov and Yamada 2002; Zollinger and Smith 2017)]. However, functional studies regarding the two alternatively spliced FN type III repeats (EDB and EDA) have only recently started to provide some insight regarding their function. In vivo experiments in the mouse have shown that knockout of either Extra Domain results in viable and fertile mice (Muro et al. 2003), while absence of both leads in embryonic lethality (Astrof, Crowley, and Hynes 2007). For EDA a role has been described in the morphogenesis of the lymphatic valve, atherosclerosis and wound healing, while several cell receptors have been shown to interact with it [reviewed in (White, Baralle, and Muro 2008)]. Conversely, no role or receptor has been described so far for EDB. Furthermore, in vitro studies have demonstrated that the Extra Domains influence FN autocrine deposition and remodeling, cell morphology, adhesion and motility, and cell cycle progression (Cseh et al. 2010; Van Obberghen-Schilling et al. 2011). These results alongside the evolutionarily conserved linear and spatial structure of the Extra Domains underline a refined mechanism by which cells deposit FN in a network and respond to it in an autocrine and/or paracrine manner, but this mechanism remains elusive.

In order to understand this mechanism, we implemented a set of biological tools comprised of full-length human recombinant FN proteins containing one, both, or none of the alternatively spliced domains. So far, most in vitro studies have used gene knock down approaches, and recombinant FN fragments or entire FN constructs labeled with fluorescent proteins or other molecular tags. However, while the generation of recombinant FN fragments has been a valuable method to study FN interactions, they might not reflect the physicochemical properties of the entire native molecule. Furthermore, the presence of extra sequence inserts in the modular structure of FN might result in structural modifications that will interfere with partner binding and assembly. Therefore, we have chosen to analyze full-length FN variants in their native form, rather than introduce voluminous tags or probes that could disrupt their physical properties.

Additionally, we utilized FN-null mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs), or MEFs expressing ED-specific FNs. With this toolset, we set out to elucidate how the presence of alternatively spliced (EDA and EDB) domains 1) affects the fibrillar assembly of FN at the surface of assembly-competent cells, and 2) impacts the biochemical, physical, and functional properties of the matrix and affects the behavior of cells growing on it.

3. Results – Article

The presence of alternatively spliced extra domains EDB and or EDA domains of cellular fibronectin confers topographically and

functionally distinct features (in preparation)

Georgios Efthymiou^{1*}, Agata Radwanska^{1*}, Anca-Ioana Grapa², Stéphanie Beghelli-de la Forest Divonne^{1,3}, Dominique Grall¹, Xavier Descombes², Laure Blanc-Feraud², Sébastien Schaub¹, Mallorie Poet⁴, Didier Pisani⁴ Laurent Counillon⁴ Maurice Hattab¹, and Ellen Van Obberghen-Schilling^{1,5}

¹Université Côte d'Azur, CNRS, INSERM, iBV, Nice, France
 ²Université Côte d'Azur, Inria, CNRS, i3S, Nice, France
 ³Centre Antoine Lacassagne, Nice, 06189, France
 ⁴Université Côte d'Azur, CNRS UMR7370, LP2M, Nice France

* These authors contributed equally
⁵Corresponding author:
Ellen Van Obberghen-Schilling
Institut de Biologie Valrose (iBV)
CNRS - INSERM - UCA
Université Côte d'Azur
Parc Valrose,
06108 Nice cedex 2, FRANCE
Tel +33 (0)4 92 07 6430
E-mail: vanobber@unice.fr

Running title: Alternatively spliced fibronectin variants

XXXX Words

The authors declare no competing interests.

Financial support for this work was provided by (see acknowledgements)

Abstract

The Extracellular Matrix (ECM) constitutes a structural support and signaling platform for cells to integrate the action of chemical and mechanical cues from the environment. Fibronectin (FN), an early provisional matrix component and obligate partner for the assembly of collagen, lies at the center of this bioregulatory stage during tissue repair and remodeling. FN exists in two forms, plasma FN (pFN) and cellular FN (cFN). cFN differs from pFN by the presence of alternatively spliced FN type III repeats (Extra Domains, EDB and EDA) that flank the cellbinding RGD sequence. Direct functional comparison of full length cFN variants in a defined cellular context has been difficult to achieve. Here we generated a cFN toolset to analyze the impact of the Extra Domains on FN assembly and functions in FN-null fibroblasts expressing the variants, or presented with the purified proteins. Moreover, robust computational tools were developed to classify and characterize cFN network features. Our results show that the presence of Extra Domains differentially affets the fibrillar architecture of the matrix and the induction of both early and late signaling events impacting fibroblast proliferation, energetics and contractility. The different biological readouts were affected to varying extents by the cFN isoforms suggesting that FN Extra Domains are involved in fine-tuning the extent of several processes that enable tissue repair, fibrosis, and tumor progression.

Keywords: fibronectin, oncofetal isoforms, recombinant proteins, fibronectin fibrillogenesis, Extra Domain B, Extra Domain A

Introduction

The extracellular matrix (ECM) is a cell-derived scaffold, composed of more than a thousand macromolecules (R. O. Hynes and Naba 2012), providing mechanical support to the underlying cells and promoting tissue integrity. Furthermore, the composition and the physical state of the ECM affect cell physiology by modulating cell adhesion, motility and morphology, cell proliferation, survival and differentiation [reviewed in (Theocharis et al. 2016; Frantz, Stewart, and Weaver 2010; Richard O. Hynes 2009), thus acting as a multifunctional platform for the transmission of biomechanical and biochemical cues.

Fibronectin (FN), a major component of the ECM, is found in the epicenter of this platform. Abundantly present in almost every tissue in the human body, FN is assembled by cell-driven forces into a firbillar array that provides an obligate scaffold for the deposition of other matrix proteins, and binding sites for bioavailability regulation of soluble factors in physiological and pathological conditions. FN is a large glycoprotein composed of two similar, but not identical, subunits, encoded by a single gene, and linked by two disulfide bonds at their C-terminal ends. Each subunit (240 – 270 kDa) has a highly repetitive modular structure, composed of FN type I, FN type II and FN type III repeats, giving FN the ability to acquire compact and stretched conformations, and to partner with a large variety of ECM components and cell receptors exerting its various roles in health and disease.

Early knockout studies in the mouse stressed the importance of FN in the developing organism, since FN-null mice die during gestation (before E10.5) due to severe defects in neural tube formation and vascular development (George et al. 1993). Similar results were obtained when a mutant tripeptide sequence (RGE) replaced the wild-type cell binding site (RGD) at the central region of the molecule (Takahashi et al. 2007) which is recognized and bound by integrin α 5 β 1, the principal FN binding integrin.

Binding of $\alpha 5\beta 1$ to FN at the cell membrane leads to the recruitment of cytoplasmic cytoskeleton binding partners. Acto-myosin-generated force applied to FN leads to partial unfolding of the molecule and exposure of cryptic self-association sites that support higher-order assembly (V. Vogel 2006). Thus, modulation of intracellular signaling systems that regulate intrinsic forces, such as the RhoA pathway, modifies matrix assembly. In addition to integrins, members of the syndecan family of FN-binding adhesion co-receptors, have been reported to support FN assembly by mechanisms that are not fully understood (Singh,

Carraher, and Schwarzbauer 2010). Outside cells, matricellular components that interact with FN or integrins, such as decorin or galectins have been reported to enhance FN matrix deposition. Others, including hyaluronan (HA), a multifunctional glycosaminoglycan (GAG) in the pericellular matrix interferes with FN assembly. Interestingly, HA can bind to cFN but not to pFN (Laterra and Culp 1982).

FN is normally found in two distinct forms: plasma FN (pFN) is produced by the liver and circulates in the blood plasma at a high concentration (400µg/ml), while cellular FN (cFN) is expressed locally by specialized cells, such as fibroblasts, endothelial cells, chondrocytes, macrophages, and platelets (Richard O Hynes 1990). cFN differs from pFN in the presence of alternatively spliced regions termed Extra Domain B (EDB or EIIIB) and Extra Domain A (EDA or EIIIA). Each alternatively spliced Extra Domain is generated from a single exon and gives rise to a FNIII repeat, the expression of which is tightly regulated and limited to embryonic development, wound healing (Ffrench-Constant 1989), and tumor-transformed cells (P. Castellani 1986). Interestingly, EDB and EDA flank the cell binding (RGD) and synergy sites (PHSRN) that reside on FNIII₁₀ and FNIII₉ respectively. The term "oncofetal" was coined in order to describe FN isoforms harboring either of the Extra Domains, that are normally absent in adult tissues.

In vivo studies have demonstrated that mice lacking either Extra Domain are viable and fertile (Muro et al. 2003; Fukuda et al. 2002) but combined deletion of both leads in embryonic lethality (Astrof, Crowley, and Hynes 2007). EDA-targeted deletion and EDA-constitutive inclusion studies have revealed roles for this FNIII repeat in lymphatic valve morphogenesis, atherosclerosis, tissue injury, inflammation, and lifespan, while several receptors have been identified that bind EDA, such as integrins $\alpha 9\beta 1$, $\alpha 4\beta 1$, $\alpha 7\beta 1$, and TLR4 [reviewed in (White, Baralle, and Muro 2008)]. Much less is known about EDB, for which no receptor has so far been identified. Rather, its presence has been demonstrated to induce conformational changes regulating the accessibility to adjacent cryptic sites (Ventura et al. 2010), and facilitating RGD presentation to $\alpha 5\beta 1$ integrins favoring integrin clustering and downstream signaling (Schiefner, Gebauer, and Skerra 2012). Both Extra Domains are considered as markers of angiogenesis (Glukhova et al. 1989; Patrizia Castellani et al. 1994), and are used to evaluate the level of angiogenic process in neoplastic tissue.

In terms of in vitro FN assembly, EDB or EDA containing FNs were shown to be more efficiently integrated in pre-existing extracellular matrices (Guan, Trevithick, and Hynes 1990), concomitant with a more recent study demonstrating that fibroblasts isolated from EDB-lacking mice exhibit reduced FN assembly in vitro (Fukuda et al. 2002). These data suggest that while the Extra Domains are not necessary for FN fibrillogenesis and assembly, they may impact assembly efficiency, through a so far unknown mechanism.

In addition to cellular receptors and key ECM components, FN can specifically interact with matrix cross-linking proteins and remodeling enzymes, and serve as repository for positively charged growth factors [(e.g. FGF, VEGF, TGF- β), reviewed in (Sawicka et al. 2015)] that trigger pro-fibrotic signaling in adjacent cells.

TGF- β , in particular, is a potent cytokine involved in many cellular processes in embryonic and adult tissues, the action and bioavailability of which are regulated, at least in part, by the ECM. Latent TGF- β is bound to the ECM through latent TGF- β binding proteins [LTBPs, (Rifkin 2005)]. Latency is abolished via ECM-integrin-mediated processes [reviewed in (J. S. Munger and Sheppard 2011)] thus releasing the active factor, which is free to bind TGFRs and activate signaling.

Several lines of evidence point towards a highly regulated interplay between ECM and TGF- β signaling [reviewed in (Robertson and Rifkin 2016)]. Among others, TGF- β controls FN expression itself (Ignotz and Massague 1986), as well as FN splicing, influencing the inclusion of Extra Domains B and A (Balza et al. 1988). Furthermore, TGF- β can be activated by matrix straining and stiffening. Whether or how the presence of the Extra Domains is involved in ECM-mediated TGF- β activation and signaling is currently under investigation.

In order to study the role of the Extra Domains in FN deposition and how cells respond to EDAand/or EDB-containing FN networks, we implemented the use of a toolset comprised of recombinant FN proteins, as well as assembly-competent and assembly-incompetent cell lines. More specifically, in order to analyze FN variants in their native form, we generated fulllength human recombinant FN variants containing one, both, or none of the alternatively spliced Extra Domains. We chose not to utilize FN fragments, as they are unable to form interand intra-molecular interactions, thus not reflecting the intrinsic physicochemical and conformational properties of the entire molecule. In addition, given the complexity of the protein, we avoided the inclusion of molecular tags and probes that might disrupt molecule
flexibility and/or naturally occurring interactions that may interfere with assembly and function.

These constructs were used in conjunction with assembly-incompetent cells (HEK293), in which FN expression is not detected, to purify ED-specific FN variants for functional analyses. Furthermore, different assembly-competent cell lines were established from a *Fn1 fl/fl* mouse embryo fibroblast (MEF) population. MEFs represent a model of choice for investigations of FN binding, integrin signaling, adhesion dynamics, and cell-driven mechanisms of FN assembly.

Using this complete toolset, we set out to elucidate how the presence of alternatively spliced (EDA and EDB) domains 1) affects the fibrillar assembly of FN at the surface of assemblycompetent cells, and 2) impacts the biochemical, physical, and functional properties of the matrix and affects the behavior of cells growing on it.

Materials and Methods

Materials

Human plasma FN was from BD Biosciences (Bedford, MA, USA). All other chemicals and reagents were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA) unless otherwise stated.

Cell Culture

All cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) containing L-Glutamine (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) supplemented with 10% Fetal Calf Serum (Biowest, Nuaillé, France). Cells were cultured at 37 °C in a humidified incubator with 5% CO₂. For experiments, FN was depleted from FCS using gelatin sepharose-4B columns (GE Healthcare, Uppsala, Sweden), and culture medium was supplemented with Penicillin-Streptomycin 100U/ml. Absence of *Mycoplasma sp.* contamination was routinely verified by PCR as described elsewhere (F. Kong et al. 2001).

Antibodies

Primary antibodies are indicated in **Supplemental Table 1**. Secondary antibodies coupled to horseradish peroxidase were from Jackson Immunoresearch Labs (West Grove, PA). Fluorescently labeled (Alexa Fluor 488, 564 and 647-conjugated) secondary antibodies were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific.

Lentiviral vector construction and production of lentiviral particles

Alternatively spliced FN variants (containing EDA and/or EDB, or no extra domains) with variable region V-89 (also called IIICS) were expressed in the third generation lentiviral vector 2K7 (Suter et al. 2006) under the elongation factor 1 alpha promoter (EF-1 α) in HEK293 cells and *Fn1* -/- MEFs.

Full-length cellular FN1 cDNA was amplified using primers: CACCTCTCT CCCCCACCGTCTCAACA (forward) and GATCTTGGCAGAGAGAGACATGC (reverse) in a two-step RT-PCR with total RNA isolated from primary human endothelial cells (HUVECs). Next, FN1 cDNA was cloned with the pENTR™/D-TOPO® Cloning Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). EDB or EDA domains were inserted or deleted using site-directed mutagenesis to obtain four different constructs (pENTR-FN) corresponding to the following FN variants: FN/EDB-EDA- (FN B-A-), FN/EDB+EDA-(FN B+A-), FN/EDB-EDA+ (FN B-A+), and FN/EDB+EDA+ (FN B+A+). When verified by sequencing, cDNA of each variant was inserted in the 2K7 lentiviral expression vector by recombination between appropriate sites in pENTR-EF-1 α (L4-R1), pENTR-FN variant (L1-L2) and 2K7-BSD vector with a blasticidine resistance gene. Recombination reaction was performed with LR plus clonase (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA).

Lentiviral particles were produced by transfecting the HEK293FT cell line (Life Technologies, Saint Aubin, France) with a mixture composed of a 2K7-FN variant construct (6 μ g) and the virus packaging vectors [6.74 μ g of p8.92 (VSVG), and 6.74 μ g of p8.93 (Gag, Pol)] using Lipofectamine 2000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Virus-containing supernatants were collected 48 h after transfection.

Purification of FN variants

To generate FN-expressing clones for purification of recombinant variants from conditioned medium, HEK293 cells were transduced with virus-containing supernatants and selected with 7.5 µg/ml blasticidine (Invivogen, San Diego, CA). Blasticidine-resistant cells were cloned by limiting dilution with a flow cytometer (FACSAria, BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) and FN-expressing clones were selected for variant purification based on the level of FN secretion, as assessed by the Human Fibronectin ELISA kit (Abcam, Cambridge, MA).

FN variant purification was performed according to a modified protocol (Akiyama 2013). Briefly, HEK293 cells expressing FN variants were cultured at confluence in basal culture medium for 2-3 days. Conditioned medium was subsequently collected and centrifuged in the presence of 0.2 mM PMSF. Ten ml of Gelatin-Sepharose[®] 4B (GE Healthcare) were added per 500 ml of supernatant prior to overnight incubation at 4 °C with slight agitation. Eluted FN fractions corresponding to the highest absorbance (A₂₈₀) were pooled, and FN was subsequently dialyzed against CAPS-saline buffer pH 11.0. FN aliquots were flash frozen and stored at -80 °C. The purity and concentration of FN variants were verified using Coomassie Blue gel staining, silver stain, and the Pierce™ BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to manufacturer's instructions. To assess the presence of insoluble aggregates, glass coverslips were coated with 10 µg/ml of FN variants at 37 °C for 1 h then fixed, blocked, and stained for immunofluorescence analysis with an anti-FN antibody.

Knockout of FN in FN floxed mouse embryo fibroblasts and re-expression of FN variants

Fn1 fl/fl MEFs were kindly provided by Dr. Reinhard Fässler [Max Plank Institute, Martinstread, Germany (T. Sakai et al. 2001)]. Cre recombination was performed by infecting cells with a self-excising Cre retrovirus [pMMP-RV-Cre-GFP (Silver and Livingston 2001)] and transduced cells were selected with 6.5 μg/ml puromycin. Clones were obtained by limiting dilution with a flow cytometer and analyzed for FN expression and gene deletion by immmunofluoresence staining and PCR analysis, respectively.

MEFs expressing variant-specific FN were generated by infection of *Fn1* -/- Clone D MEFs with viral supernatants, as described above. Transduced cells were selected in the presence of 7.5 μ g/mL blasticidine + 6.5 μ g/ml puromycin and cloned by limiting dilution with a flow cytometer. Stable FN variant-expressing clones were selected for analysis based on FN expression levels, as assessed by immunofluorescence staining.

RNA isolation, reverse transcription, and qRT-PCR

Cells were lysed with Trizol reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA samples were quantified using a small-volume spectrophotometer (DeNovix DS-11 series, Wilmington, DE) and 1 μ g of RNA was reverse-transcribed into cDNA using the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The resulting cDNA was diluted tenfold and amplified in a StepOne Plus thermocycler (Thermo Fisher Scientific) using gene-specific primers and PowerUpTM SYBRTM Green Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Standard cycling conditions were used. Results were analyzed according to the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method, using *Tbp* as normalizing gene, and expressed as fold expression or change compared to respective control. Primer sequences are indicated in **Supplemental Table 2**.

Western blot

Whole cell lysates and conditioned media were collected under non-reducing or reducing conditions (5% β -mercaptoethanol), separated by gel electrophoresis and transferred onto Immobilon P membranes (Millipore, Bedford, MA). Membranes were blocked with 3% skimmed milk in TBS (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7,4; 150 mM NaCl) before protein immunodetection with the indicated antibodies (**Supplemental Table 1**). Protein bands were visualized with

horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies followed by enhanced chemilluminescence (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) in a Fusion Fx7 Advanced system (Vilber Lourmat, Eberhardzell, Germany).

Immunofluoresence staining and microscopy

For immunofluorescence analyses, cells or decellularized matrices were fixed in 3% paraformaldehyde/3% sucrose and permeabilised with 0.2% Triton X-100. The dilutions of the primary and secondary antibodies are shown in **Supplemental Table 1**. Nuclei were detected with Hoechst 33342 (Thermo Fisher Scientific). After staining, the coverslips were mounted in ProLong[®] Gold antifade reagent (Thermo Fischer Scientific). Widefield fluorescence was observed through 40X/1.3 oil objectives on a Zeiss Axiovert 200M microscope equipped with a CoolSnap HQ CCD. Image acquisition was performed using the MetaMorph Imaging System. Confocal imaging was performed on a Zeiss LSM710 confocal system using 10X/0.45 and 63X/1.4 objectives. Image analysis was performed using Fiji (Schindelin et al. 2012).

Proliferation rate and cell doubling time

Fn1 -/- MEFs were plated in triplicate at a density of 2.5×10^4 cells/well in 24-well plates. Cells were stimulated after 3-4 h with 15 µg/ml of recombinant FN variants, or vehicle buffer (CAPS-saline). At the indicated times, cells were trypsinized, resuspended in culture medium and enumerated with a Malassez heamacytometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Cell doubling time was calculated by utilizing the reverse equation and the "Goal-Seek" function in MS Excel.

Internal pH measurement

Fn1 -/- MEFs were plated in duplicates in 24-well plates (5X10⁴ cells/well). Cells were stimulated with 15 μg/ml of recombinant FN variants, or vehicle buffer (CAPS-saline) for 48 h. Internal pH (pHi) measurement was performed as described (Cophignon et al. 2017). Briefly, cells were incubated with 1 μM BCECF-AM (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 1 h, rinsed with recovery solution (120 mM choline chloride, 5 mM KCl, 1 mM MgCl₂, 2 mM CaCl₂, 5 mM glucose, 15 mM Hepes), and fluorescence intensity was measured using a multi-well plate spectrophotometer (BioTek Synergy 4, Winooski, VT). Data was collected with the integrated software. Recovery solution was removed, and nigericin solutions were added (140 mM KCl,

1 mM MgCl₂, 2 mM CaCl₂, 5 mM glucose, 5 μ M nigericin at pH values ranging from 6.5 to 8.0 in the presence of 20 mM Hepes).

Mitochondrial metabolism

For metabolic analysis, cells were seeded in 24 multi-well plates (Seahorse Bioscience, Billerica, MA) and stimulated with 15 μ g/ml of recombinant FN variants or vehicle buffer for 48 h. Oxygen consumption rate (OCR) and extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) were determined using an XF24 Extracellular Flux Analyzer (Seahorse Bioscience) and Seahorse basal media supplemented with 2 mM glutamine. Maximal OCR was determined by using FCCP (1 μ M), and rotenone and antimycin-A (2 μ M each) were used to inhibit Complex I- and Complex III-dependent respiration, respectively. All parameters were calculated as described previously (Brand and Nicholls 2011).

Collagen-based gel contraction assay

Collagen contraction assay was performed as described elsewhere (Su and Chen 2015) with slight modifications. Briefly, *MEF Fn1 -/-* cells were seeded ($2.5X10^5$ cells/ml) in a mixture of cell culture medium, FN variant (or vehicle control), 1 mg/ml rat tail collagen I (BD Biosciences, Bedford, MA), and the appropriate volume of NaOH 2.5 N. Mixtures were cast into 12-well plates, and culture medium containing 15 µg/ml of FN variant was added on top of the lattices 30 min later. Lattices were detached from the well walls with a sterile spatula, and were incubated for 24 h prior to scanning the plates and quantifying lattice surface with Fiji.

Detection of TGF-β1 in FN preparations

Detection of TGF-β1 in the purified FN preparations was performed with the Quantikine[®] ELISA Human TGF-β1 Immunoassay Kit (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Generation of MEF derived matrices

MEF derived matrices were generated as described in (Kaukonen et al. 2016). Briefly, coverslips were coated with 0.2% gelatin for 60 min at 37 °C, followed by crosslinking with 1% glutaraldehyde for 30 min at room temperature. Crosslinker was quenched with 1 M glycine

for 20 min and gelatin-coated coverslips were incubated with medium before seeding $2X10^5$ cells. Ascorbic acid (50 µg/ml) and FN variants (15 µg/ml) were added the next day. On day 3 medium was changed and on day 7 matrices were decellularized in 20 mM NH₄OH, 0.5% Triton X-100 in PBS followed by 10 µM DNAse I treatment (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Penzberg, Germany).

Computational analysis of matrix topology

Image acquisition for numerical characterization of FN variant fibers and classification

Confocal images 3128 × 3128 pixels with a lateral resolution of 0.27 μ m/pixel were acquired with a Zeiss LSM710 confocal system 10X/0.45 with the pinhole diameter set to its maximal value. For each FN variant, 70 images corresponding to a representative region of 512 × 512 pixels were selected for feature extraction and classification. The set of 280 gray-scale images was classified with the GoogLeNet (Szegedy et al. 2015) pretrained Convolutional Neural Net (CNN) architecture using the MATLAB Deep Learning Toolbox and a 22-layer deep network trained on more than 1 million images for classification into 1000 object categories. A set of 196 images was used for the training of the algorithm, and the remaining 84 for testing it. The training image set was presented to the algorithm 25 times (epochs) as described (Ruder 2017), in order to improve classification accuracy.

Definition of Gabor kernels

Fibrillar structures were detected and enhanced with Gabor filters (Petkov 1995), commonly employed in image processing for the detection of structures with different frequencies, and certain directionalities. A set of Gabor kernels was defined, characterized by the formula $\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}v^t\sum_{\theta_i}^{-1}v\right)\cos\left(\frac{2\pi x_{\theta_i}}{\lambda_j}+\varphi\right)$, where $v = (x, y)^t$. The exponential term provides the shape of a bivariate Gaussian kernel, and the cosine function describes its oscillations in space, while v is the 2D coordinate vector, indicating pixel localization in a bi-dimensional Cartesian coordinate system.

Fiber detection computation and morphological skeletonization

Fiber orientation was represented by θ_i with values within the interval $[0, \pi]$, with a stepsize of $\frac{\pi}{20}$. The covariance matrix of the bivariate Gaussian function rotated with θ_i is related to the

anisotropy of the kernel spatial support and is designated by Σ_{θ_i} . Fiber thickness is represented by λ_j that corresponds to the wavelength (in pixels) of the cosine term, the values of which are equal to $\frac{\lambda_j}{2}$ and vary between 3 and 5 pixels. The thinnest fibers are detected when $\lambda_j = 6$ pixels, medium thickness fibers correspond to $\lambda_j = 8$ pixels, while the thickest are characterized by $\lambda_j = 10$ pixels. For accurate localization of fibers we used phase, φ , set to 0. The pixel intensity of a detected fiber at a specific location corresponded to the Gabor filter with the highest coefficient within the Gabor kernel set. The specific parameters of the best corresponding Gabor kernel for a detected fiber orientation.

Morphological skeletons of the detected fibers were computed using morphological operations provided by the Image Processing Toolbox of MATLAB 2015a. Fiber skeletons were portrayed as graph-based representations in which a set of nodes is linked by edges (connecting segments), using a toolbox (Kollmannsberger et al. 2017) that generates the network graph of a 3D skeleton voxel, that we adapted to the 2D setting. Nodes typically represent intersecting fibers or fiber ends, while edges correspond to the detected fibers connecting the nodes.

Feature extraction and Principal Component Analysis (PCA)

Features related to fiber thickness and connectivity were directly computed using Gabor kernels and graph-specific parameters. More specifically, connectivity was defined as the proportion of degree 1 nodes (those corresponding to fiber ends) relative to the nodes with a degree higher than 2 (corresponding to branching and intersecting points). Fiber thickness kurtosis, was determined by the formula $k = E[(x - \mu)^4]/(\sigma^4)$ where μ is the mean value of x, σ is the standard deviation of x, and E[s] is the expected value of the quantity s. Attributes describing pore regions were computed using the MATLAB tool Regionprops. Pore dimension was measured as the total number of pixels within the area delimited by the skeleton, while pore circularity was determined by the formula $(4 * Area * \pi)/(Perimeter^2)$, the values of which vary between 0 (oval-like) and 1 (perfect circle). For pore size, only pores distributed above the 90th percentile were taken into account, and the mean was calculated. For PCA visualization, each FN network sample (image) was represented in a 5-dimensional space defined by the previously selected features.

Results

Recombinant human FN isoforms

In order to explore the functions of alternatively spliced cellular FN (cFN) variants and the impact of the Extra Domains EDB and EDA on FN matrix assembly, we constructed a set of lentiviral expression vectors harboring the full-length coding sequence of the human *FN1* gene containing one, both or none of these alternatively-spliced FN type III repeats that flank the central cell-binding RGD and synergy sites in the molecule (**Fig. 1A**). All of the constructs contain the alternatively-spliced variable region, more precisely the V89 sequence (Jean E. Schwarzbauer 1991). We chose not to insert additional sequences encoding fluorescent proteins or molecular tags, to avoid modifying the structural conformation of the protein and disrupting inter- and intra-molecular interactions.

Re-expression of FN variants in FN-null MEFs

As recipient cells for FN re-expression studies, Fn1-/- MEF clones were generated (Supplemental Fig. 1). One clone was selected for transduction with the human FN expression vectors based on its fibroblast morphology, its ability to readily assemble exogenously presented FN and the absence of multinucleated and/or senescent cells. Following transduction, variant-expressing clones were isolated for analysis of FN expression and assembly. A representative clone of each variant is shown in Fig. 1B-D. The presence of the expected Extra Domains in the pericellular FN matrix was confirmed by immunofluorescent staining with Extra Domain-specific antibodies (Supplemental Fig. 2). Despite similar FN transcript levels (Fig. 1B), differences were observed in the amount and organization of the pericellular FN matrix of the variant-expressing clones, at 2 days (Fig. 1C) and 7 days of culture (Supplemental Fig. 3). At both times assembly of FN containing one or both of the Extra Domains was more efficient than assembly of plasma-like FN, lacking the alternatively-spliced sequences. Western analysis confirmed the increased amounts of cell-associated FN in lysates from MEFs expressing the Extra Domain-containing variants, compared to MEFs expressing plasma-like, B-A- FN. Conversely, more soluble FN was present in cell conditioned medium from FN B-A- MEFs (Fig. 1D). The levels of human FN produced and deposited by the MEF clones 11, 1 and 2 (B+A-,B-A+ and B+A+, respectively) were similar to that of the endogenous protein in control MEFs (*Fn1 fl/fl* MEFs) containing one or both Extra Domains (**Fig. 1D**). We have previously demonstrated that autocrine FN expression is tightly coupled to its fibrillar assembly whereby differences in FN expression levels could have a considerable effect on assembly of the protein (Cseh et al. 2010). Therefore, it was essential to determine whether the observed increase in assembly of FN containing the Extra Domains, was due to the presence of the alternatively spliced sequences, or whether it simply reflected quantitative differences in FN expression and assembly. Comparison of three clones each expressing either FN B-A- or B+A- variants are depicted in **Fig. 1E-G**. Indeed, assembled FN is more abundant in clones with higher mRNA expression levels (B-A- clone 210 and B+A- clone 11) indicating that FN assembly is extremely sensitive to autocrine expression levels. Further, as exemplified by B+A- clones gA2 and gA6 that express equivalent amounts of the same mRNA, marked differences are observed in their ability to deposit a FN matrix.

We conclude from the above re-expression studies that FN containing either one or both of the Extra Domains is more efficiently assembled by cells than FN lacking Extra Domains. Importantly, although a homogeneous population of cells is required for functional analysis of FN and comparison of the FN variants (i.e. cell clones *versus* a heterogeneous population of transduced cells), varying FN expression levels and clonal differences across MEFs expressing a single variant seriously impair mechanistic studies of FN assembly and the functions of Extra Domain in FN re-expressing MEFs.

FN matrix generated by presentation of recombinant variants to FN-deficient MEFs

To circumvent the problems associated with dissimilar FN expression levels by recipient MEFs and the inherent phenotypic variability of different clones, subsequent studies were performed in an identical cellular context. Hence, as schematized in **Fig. 2A**, FN variants were purified and provided in soluble form to a single clone of *Fn1-/-* MEFs that readily assemble soluble FN into an insoluble extracellular matrix.

For purification, the recombinant isoforms were expressed in HEK293 cells. These cells are well suited for this purpose as expression of endogenous FN is undetectable, transduced cells are assembly-*incompetent* and they secrete high levels of the exogenous variants into their

culture medium. FN expression had little or no effect on the epithelial-like morphology of cells (**Fig. 2B**). The purified variants (B-A-, B+A-, B-A+, B+A+) displayed appropriate molecular mass and the ability to form naturally occurring dimers, absolutely required for fibrillogenesis (Jean E Schwarzbauer 1991), as determined by SDS-PAGE under reducing and non-reducing conditions (**Fig. 2C**). Specific inclusion of each Extra Domain was confirmed by western analysis using isoform-specific anti-FN antibodies (**Fig. 2D**). Cellular FN is much less soluble than plasma FN under physiological buffer conditions (Yamada and Olden 1978). Thus the absence of aggregates in the purified FN preparations was routinely verified by immunofluorescent staining of FN variant-coated coverslips (**Supplemental Fig. 4A**), and concentrations of the soluble proteins were determined in each experiment, prior to their addition to cells.

For comparative studies, FN variants were added to the same *Fn1*-/- MEF clone that was used for FN re-expression studies. Cells were plated at near confluence and allowed to adhere prior to addition of the variants. A concentration of 15 µg/ml was chosen for experiments, following dose response analyses of plasma FN assembly by cells (**Supplemental Fig. 4B**). First, we examined the ability of cells to assemble the recombinant proteins by western blotting of cellassociated FN and immunofluorescence microscopy. Assembly could be detected as early as 2 h after addition to the culture medium (**Fig. 2E,F**). Similar to the above re-expression studies, FN containing the Extra Domains was more readily assembled at early times of exposure to cells. After 2 days, all of the recombinant FN variants were present in a dense meshwork around cells.

Interestingly, variant-specific differences were observed in the organization of the matrix assembled by FN-deficient MEFs presented with the purified FN proteins. For optimal comparison of the matrices, MEF cultures were denuded of cells after 7 days and MEF-derived matrices (MDM) were stained for FN, or other matrix proteins. Consistent with the role of FN as an essential template for other matrix components, the distinct architecture of FN fibrils impacted higher order matrix organization. The distinct patterning of collagen VI and Tenascin C can be seen in the mature FN variant-specific matrices depicted in **Fig. 3**. Differences in the thickness of the matrices containing the four FN variants were also noted. The average thickness of the MDMs ranged between 6.3 μ m (for B-A+) and 9.0 μ m (for B+A-), with MDMs of variants containing no, or both Extra Domains of an intermediate thickness of 7.5 μ m.

Computational analysis of the FN variant matrices

To explore the specific physical attributes of FN matrices containing the Extra Domains, that appear topographically different by eye, a computational image analysis approach was employed. Mathematical "computer vision" tools were developed to interrogate whether the architectures of the variant-specific matrices (assembled by the same cells) are distinguishable, and if so, whether they can be described, quantified, modelled, or attributed to Extra Domain-specific biological functions.

Automatic classification of Images of Extra-Domain-specific FN Networks

To optimize the quality of the images for processing, high-resolution images of the decellularized matrices were acquired with a confocal microscope (**Fig. 4A**). Images were subsequently classified using a pre-trained algorithm, as described in Methods. The results of this classification are presented in **Fig. 4B** as a confusion matrix, which allows the visualization (on the diagonal) of the percentage of images that were correctly classified as belonging to the expected FN variant class. High intra-variant accuracy scores were observed (general accuracy, 83.3%), indicating that the information contained in the images is sufficient for the algorithm to recognize topological differences inherent to the four matrix types. Additionally, machine based classification outperformed the ability of a blinded biologist to correctly classify the same image set (biologist accuracy, 61.42%). Topological properties of fiber arrangements containing only EDA (B-A+) are the most distinguishable (90.5%), followed by the B-A- fibers (85.7%), devoid of Extra Domains. FN networks containing only EDB (B+A-) are less distinguishable, while B+A+ fibers are the least distinguishable in automatic classification.

Geometrical Properties and Feature Extraction

As a first step in the characterization of the geometrical properties of FN fiber networks, fibrillar structures were detected using the workflow shown in **Fig. 4C**. After generating a highquality dataset of images (1), we defined a set of Gabor kernels, or "dictionary of elementary fibers" (2) that incorporates a set of parameters (described in Methods) that capture the entire range of different fibers. After fiber detection (3), the morphological skeleton, or shape descriptor, of the detected fibers was computed (4) for feature extraction and analysis (5). **Fig. 4D** displays the FN variant-specific graphs, or sets of edges connected by nodes, associated to the morphological skeletons of the fibers. The advantage of using a graph-based representation is that apart from Gabor-specific descriptive parameters, we are able to compute additional features that, in turn, can help us characterize the geometrical properties of the FN fibers.

PCA analysis of the fiber features on the first two components

After establishing a faithful representation of the fibers, a set of features was selected to characterize fiber geometry and to perform principal component analysis (PCA). The PCA method was used to explore the relatedness between the different FN variants with respect to various physical attributes, or features, including i) connectivity, ii) fiber thickness, iii) fiber heterogeneity, iv) pore shape v) and pore size distribution. In order to describe the connectivity of the fibers, we computed the relative abundance of nodes of different degrees. The degree of every node was determined by the number of edges connected to the node. The variant-specific connectivity distributions are shown in **Supplemental Fig. 5A**. Interestingly, B-A- fibers are characterized by a higher abundance of fiber ends, delineating a low level of connectivity, compared to the other variants, especially to B-A+. These results reveal that the absence of Extra Domains leads to a less branched FN fiber arrangement.

Next, we considered fiber thickness by computing the proportion of thin to thick fibers. As shown in **Supplemental Fig. 5B**, B-A- fibers display low proportion of thin fibers, hence characterized by the presence of medium and thick fibers, while the opposite is observed for B-A+. In order to analyze fiber thickness heterogeneity, or fiber diversity, we implemented the fiber thickness kurtosis, a parameter that indicates how outlier-prone the fiber thickness distribution is relative to a normal distribution with identical variance. In terms of fiber thickness, B-A+ values are distributed around the mean, suggesting a high homogeneity in fiber thickness, compared to B-A- fibers which are highly heterogeneous (**Supplemental Fig. 5C**).

Pore shape was measured through a circularity parameter and the average pore size. Circularity measures pore anisotropy allowing us to distinguish circular and oval-like pores. **Supplemental Fig. 5D** shows that B-A- FN arrangements are characterized by a high number of oval pores, while pores in B-A+ FN networks are predominantly circular. The same pattern is observed in terms of pore size. Large pore sizes are found within B-A- FN networks, while smaller pore size is observed in B-A+ FN networks (**Supplemental Fig. 5E**). The PCA (**Fig. 4E**) was performed with the aforementioned features, by adopting the representation provided by the first two principal components. The plot illustrates both the samples (images) projected in a bi-dimensional space, and the five features represented by vectors, the direction and length of which indicate the contribution of each feature to the two principal components. Generally, the samples belonging to FN B-A- and FN B-A+ are concentrated in non-overlapping areas, displaying the distinguishability of these two variant-specific FN networks through the chosen features.

Altogether, these analyses demonstrate that B-A+ FN matrices feature highly branched, homogeneous, thin fibers that form small pores. In contrast, B-A- FN forms thicker, unbranched networks with larger more elongated pores. Interestingly, the presence of EDB results in matrices (either B+A-, or B+A+) characterized by a mixture of the attributes seen in B-A- and B-A+.

FN-induced collagen remodeling and TGF- β signaling

FN assembly is intimately related to the organization of the cellular acto-myosin contractile apparatus (Q. Zhang et al. 1994; Zhong et al. 1998; Fernandez-Sauze et al. 2009). When fibroblasts are embedded into hydrated collagen lattices, the lattices contract (Bell, Ivarsson, and Merrill 1979). This phenomenon, extensively used to study how distinct factors can contribute to matrix contraction, reflects cellular processes that take place during physiological procedures such as tissue remodeling and repair (Ngo et al. 2006). It was previously shown that in the absence of serum FN, fibroblasts can readily interact with collagen lattices but they are unable to cause contraction, and this phenotype can be rescued with exogenously added FN (Gillery, Maquart, and Borel 1986). In order to uncover a potential role of the Extra Domains in FN-induced collagen lattice contraction, we embedded *Fn1* -/- MEFs in collagen lattices containing 15 μ g/ml of the FN variants and determined the extent of contraction after 24 h. Whereas the presence of FN resulted in pronounced reduction in the lattice surface, only slight differences were observed among the four variants, suggesting that presence of the Extra Domains had little impact on FN-induced collagen gel contraction (**Fig. 5A**).

The action of TGF- β , a major fibrinogenic cytokine, has been implicated in cell-mediated collagen lattice contraction since anti-TGF- β neutralizing antibodies were found to suppress

this effect (Levi-Schaffer et al. 1999). As the addition of FN alone was able to induce lattice contraction by Fn1 -/- MEFs, we hypothesized that this effect might be due to activation of latent TGF- β in the local milieu. To test this, we analyzed the ability of FN variants to stimulate TGF- β signaling in *Fn1* -/- MEFs by monitoring the regulation of TGF- β response genes, PAI1, CTGF and TGFBI (Leask and Abraham 2003; Kutz et al. 2001; Ween, Oehler, and Ricciardelli 2012), and SMAD phosphorylation (**Fig 5**). The absence of TGF- β in the FN preparations was confirmed by ELISA (Fig 5B). The time course of PAI1, CTGF and TGFBI mRNA expression following the addition of 15 μg/ml FN to cells is shown in **Fig. 5C**. Indeed, FN stimulated a rapid increase in PAI1 and CTGF mRNA expression, which peaked at 2 h and returned to near-basal levels by 6 h, strongly suggesting that FN triggers TGF- β signaling in *Fn1* -/- MEFs. Accordingly, FN stimulated SMAD2 phosphorylation in these cells (Fig. 5D). For these effects, the presence of FN Extra Domains had a significant impact on the magnitude of stimulation. Thus, FN B+A+ was found to be the most potent agonist of TGF- β signaling in MEFs (Fig. 5B, C) whereas FN B-A+ induced the weakest response. Pretreatment of cells with a TGF β RI antagonist precluded FN-induced SMAD2 phosphorylation, indicating that it is mediated by TGFBRI (Fig. 5E) and most likely involves FN-dependent activation of latent TGF- β .

TGFBI (TGF- β -induced) mRNA expression was unaffected at early times after FN addition. Rather, significant downregulation was observed after 48h (Fig. 5C), reflecting a possible FNdependent retro-control of TGF- β pathway activation.

Effect of FN variants on cell growth and survival

Extra Domains EDB and EDA in cellular FN have been reported to confer distinct growth promoting properties on the molecule, recombinant FN (Manabe, Oh-e, and Sekiguchi 1999; Fukuda et al. 2002). Therefore, we examined the proliferative effects of the recombinant full-length cellular FN variants on *Fn1* -/- MEFs. Differences in both growth rates and saturation densities were observed in cells presented with the four variants (**Fig. 6A**). Surprisingly, FN addition had little effect on early exponential growth, with the exception of FN B+A- which increased the doubling time of cells, compared to control (no FN) or other conditions (**Fig. 6B**). Interestingly, cell numbers plateaued by 4 days of culture in absence of FN, or in presence of FN lacking the Extra Domains (B-A-), whereas the numbers of harvested cells continued to increase in presence of FN containing one or both Extra Domains. This variant-dependent

difference in saturation density of confluent monolayers at day 5 is apparent in the phase contrast images of **Fig. 6C**, which depict the densely-packed and aligned B+A+ treated cells to which post-mitotic cells could adhere and survive (**Fig. 6C**, right), and the less-elongated arrangement of FN B-A- treated cells covered with rounded cells unable to integrate into the monolayer (**Fig. 6C**, left). Thus, the presence of a pericellular FN matrix containing the Extra Domains can provide a survival advantage for fibroblasts in crowded conditions (i.e. fibrotic state).

In sparse cultures, we observed variant-specific differences in the cohesive properties of cells (**Fig. 6D**). One day after plating, when intercellular adhesion is virtually absent in control *Fn1* - /- MEFs, the addition of FN promoted cell-cell adhesion and the formation of multicellular arrangements. Intercellular cohesion was highest in cultures treated with the B+A+ variant and lowest in B-A- treated cells, consistent with the least efficient deposit of this variant in the FN matrix (**Fig. 2E, F**).

Metabolic effects of FN

While performing growth curve experiments, we observed that the color of the culture medium became more acidic in cells exposed to FN, as compared to control cells (**Fig. 6E**). The effect became visible after 2 days and the increment was most pronounced in cells presented with FN B+A-. Cell proliferation was slowest in this condition (**Fig. 6B**), thus excluding the possibility that the lower pH resulted from more rapid cell proliferation. Moreover, addition of the FN B+A- variant significantly decreased internal pH (**Fig. 6F**). Extracellular acidification is a proxy for lactate production suggesting that FN-induced acidification of the intra- and extra-cellular space could be due to a shift in the metabolic state of the cells from an oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis. To assess this, we measured glucose uptake, lactate production extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) and oxygen consumption rate (OCR) in control and FN variant-treated cells. Glucose transport and lactate extrusion measurements after 48 h showed a tendency for FN-induced stimulation although statistical significance was not reached (**Supplemental Fig. 6A, B**). Expression of glycolytic enzymes were significantly increased (**Supplemental Fig. 6C, D**), yet no variant-dependent differences were detected. Next, we determined glycolysis and mitochondrial respiration simultaneously after 72 h of FN

treatment (**Fig. 6G**). Compared to control cells, FN B+A- and FN B-A+-treated cells displayed a higher ECAR both in absence (not shown) and presence of glucose (**Fig. 6H**), and this in line 70

with media color changes. Surprisingly, ECAR in response to glucose, expressed as % of basal ECAR and reflecting glycolytic response, remained unchanged across conditions, and even slightly decreased in cells treated with B-A+ and B+A+ FN (**Supplemental Fig. 7A**). Cells in presence of B+A+ displayed lower mitochondrial activity (lower basal OCR and lower maximal OCR) although no differences in OCR were observed in cells treated with the other variants (**Supplemental Fig. 7B, C**). Respiration coupled to ATP synthase was similar for all conditions and mitochondria capacity was maximal, even without glucose, evidenced by the same values in basal and maximal OCR, suggesting the use of another substrate for oxidative phosphorylation in these cells (**Supplemental Fig. 7D, E**). From these results, we conclude that exogenous FN does not induce a strong metabolic reprogramming in these cells.

Discussion

We previously performed isoform-specific RNA interference to interrogate the role and functional redundancy of cFN variants in primary endothelial cells (Cseh et al. 2010). The most striking effects were observed following knock down of FN containing the EDB domain, which profoundly impacted cell morphology and migration. Here we have taken a gain-of-function approach to perform a comprehensive study of cellular FN isoforms to determine how the presence of alternatively spliced Extra Domains of FN affects the architecture and function of the ECM. Fibroblasts were selected for our studies because of their advantages as an in vitro model to study cell adhesion, cell cycle regulation, and signal transduction. Additionally, they are ideal for their mesenchymal characteristics, namely their capacity to synthesize and remodel ECM, their involvement in wound healing, inflammation and fibrosis [reviewed in (Yusuf et al. 2013)], and their role in tumor progression [reviewed in (Alkasalias et al. 2018). Fn1-/- MEFs were used, as it was crucial to perform these analyses in FN-null cells to avoid interference with endogenous FN isoforms of recipient cells. Moreover, these studies required the isolation of clonal populations in which FN variants were homogeneously re-expressed, as FN-deficient fibroblasts can assemble FN produced by neighboring cells. After isolation and extensive characterization of multiple clones for each variant, we concluded that comparison across the variants was more complex than we had imagined. We did observe that the cellular FN variants were assembled by cells more efficiently than their plasma-like FN counterpart lacking the Extra Domains. However, differences in FN assembly were observed between clones re-expressing the same variant and these differences were linked in part to FN expression levels. Identifying clones that produce the same amounts of FN was complicated by that fact that for a given mRNA level, protein levels were not always the same. Even when levels of the protein were similar by western analysis, cellular localization could vary (cytoplasmic versus matrix-bound) for the same isoform.

These findings demonstrate that caution should be taken when using independent FNexpressing clones for phenotypic comparisons, even when the clones are isolated from the same preparation of mouse embryo fibroblasts (not to mention MEFs from different mice with distinct genetic backgrounds). FN is an exquisitely regulated protein. Both positive and negative controls operate at the levels of transcription, mRNA processing, translation, intracellular trafficking and secretion of the protein (polarized/non-polarized), which is coupled to its assembly. In heterologous expression systems these regulatory mechanisms are circumvented by forced expression, under the control of an exogenous promoter (loss of transcriptional regulation), of the FN cDNA (no splicing) with no mRNA regulatory (e.g. 3' noncoding) sequences for modulation by multiple signaling pathways. Therefore, we turned to analysis of the purified FN variants produced by HEK-293 cells using a single assemblycompetent *Fn1-/-* MEF clone for functional readouts.

Considering the modular structure of FN, we chose to generate full-length FN constructs in order to study the protein in its native form, consisting of all the possible binding sites, without disrupting potential interactions or its spatial conformation in solution and in matrix. All constructs were characterized by the presence of the variable region V-89. This IIICS variant has been shown to display a relatively stable expression across different tissues and developmental stages (Oyama et al. 1989), and it has been suggested to facilitate intramolecular interactions to promote fibrillogenesis and cell spreading by utilizing the Hep II domain (Santas et al. 2002). The V-89 sequence also includes the CS1 region which contains the LDV cell binding site (Pagani et al. 1993), recognized by the $\alpha4\beta1$ integrin (Mould et al. 1991), but lacks the CS5 region which bears another $\alpha4\beta1$ binding site (REDV). This site lies within a highly hydrophobic region, is structurally related to the RGDS cell binding site, and

adds an extra level of complexity in cell binding regulation, adhesion, and migration (M. J. Humphries 1986; M. J. Humphries et al. 1987). All our FN constructs were efficiently secreted by assembly-incompetent cells. However, considerable differences in solubility between our recombinant plasma-like and cellular FN were observed, as previously reported by Yamada using a heterogeneous mixture of cellular FN purified from cultured cells (Olden, Pratt, and Yamada 1979). Given the reduced solubility of cellular FN variants, it was necessary to measure the concentration of each variant prior to every assay to assure experimental reproducibility. The purified isoforms were dimerized as expected, lacked noticeable degradation, and were free of TGF- β , a known contaminant of purified protein preparations (Kaur and Reinhardt 2012; Olsen et al. 2017). Additionally, they were readily harvested by assembly-competent cells and deposited in a pericellular network that gave rise to a mature FN matrix.

cFN re-expression in MEFs

Re-expression of FN variants in a *Fn1* -/- MEF cell line resulted in pronounced differences in FN deposition and FN network organization. More specifically, FN containing either one or both Extra Domains was more efficiently assembled into fibrils, which is consonant with a previous study which demonstrated that Extra Domain-containing FNs were more readily incorporated in pre-existing matrices in vitro (Guan, Trevithick, and Hynes 1990). In this study, however, FN variants differed not only in the inclusion of the Extra Domains, but also in the presence of the Variable region, which is known to confer additional binding sites to FN and play a role in dimerization and secretion (J. E. Schwarzbauer 1989; J. E. Schwarzbauer et al. 1987). It is noteworthy that the most efficient clone in FN assembly was MEF B+A- 11, which also displayed the highest mRNA level, suggesting that transcription levels regulate FN deposition. This is in line with previous results showing the coupling between autocrine FN secretion and matrix assembly (Cseh et al. 2010).

When we established additional clones expressing either FN B-A- or FN B+A, our results were highly variable across clones expressing the same variant. While increased transcription resulted in enhanced FN deposition in the MEF B+A- expressing clone 11, clones gA2 and gA6 secreted variable amounts of FN despite equal transcript levels. Similarly, B-A- expressing MEF

clones 4 and 206 were characterized by similar messenger quantities, yet FN secretion in the medium or assembled into fibrils was considerably different. These results point towards a clonal variability induced by the overexpression approach.

It has previously been reported that overexpression experiments can results in cellular defects triggered by an overload of protein localization processes (Kintaka, Makanae, and Moriya 2016). Furthermore, a series of primary mechanism of cellular defects caused by protein overexpression has been described (Moriya 2015). In the case of a large, dimeric protein like FN, overexpression might require large amounts of cellular resources for translation, folding, localization, or degradation, leading to overloading of these processes. In addition, FN has numerous binding sites, interacting with many partners, and its overexpression might cause promiscuous interactions and aggregation, that might subsequently perturb pathway modulation. These data clearly underlined the need to turn our attention towards a model system that abolishes bias inherent to this approach for direct quantitative comparisons between EDB and EDA functions in FN-re-expressing clones.

ED-dependent FN assembly

By presenting FN variants to the same *Fn1* -/- MEF clone, we were able to eliminate clonal variations and attribute the various phenotypic differences observed to the FN Extra Domains. Consistent with previous studies, our results show that cFN was more readily harvested by cells compared to the plasma-like FN (B-A-). More specifically, the presence of EDB resulted in enhanced binding of FN by cells and subsequent fibril formation as early as 2 hours after variant addition. A previous study with Extra-Domain-containing FN fragments showed that fragments containing EDB alone or both EDB and EDA enhanced adhesion and spreading in cultured fibroblasts, while sole inclusion of EDA resulted in lower staining of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers (Hashimoto-Uoshima et al. 1997). This study is in agreement with our results, suggesting that EDB-mediated conformational changes enhance presentation of the RGD sequence to $\alpha 5\beta 1$. Xia and Culp reported a complementary role of EDA in RGD-mediated binding of FN to cells, demonstrating that a FN-EDA fragment increased adhesion, stress fiber formation and spreading of cells on a mixture of EDA/pFN substrate compared to pFN alone (Xia and Culp 1995), though they did not include EDB in their comparative analysis.

In a study similar to ours, Manabe and colleagues reported that EDA-containing FN was significantly more potent than FN lacking EDA in promoting cell spreading and motility, irrespective of the presence or absence of EDB (Manabe et al. 1997). They showed that the observed effects were mediated by $\alpha 5\beta 1$ and they proposed that an EDA-modulated conformational modification could result in increased exposure of the RGD site. Although we also observed an increased harvesting of soluble FN B-A+ by cells compared to FN B-A-, the contribution of EDB was considerably greater. Synovial cells were reported to adhere more strongly on FN-EDA coated surfaces compared to pFN, and this effect was facilitated via the Hep II domain, since antibody targeting of the Hep II domain or the EDA repeat, and heparitinase treatment reduced adhesion of synovial cells to levels equivalent to pFN (Hino et al. 1996).

Furthermore, it was recently shown that $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin, which also binds RGD, altered the deposition and structure of FN fibrils via a $\beta1$ integrin/ROCK-independent mechanism, and that $\beta3$ -dependent fibronectin assembly facilitates tumor invasion (Attieh et al. 2017) suggesting that an alternative way of matrix assembly might influence matrix-modulated functions (Filla et al. 2019).

Metabolic reprogramming

We observed here that the addition of cellular FN variants to *Fn1 -/-* MEFs led to a decrease in their intra- and extra-cellular pH, as compared to non-treated control cells. The most significant acidification was observed with FN B+A-, whereas cells treated with FN B+Adisplayed the slowest exponential growth rate. This result was unexpected since the generation of an acidic environment is a common feature of rapidly proliferating cells during several physiological processes (wound healing) and disease states. Moreover, it is in contrast to reported results that FN containing EDB might provide a proliferative advantage in cells in vitro, since fibroblasts isolated from EDB-null mice exhibited reduced cell growth in culture (Fukuda et al. 2002). Acidification of the extracellular milieu has been reported to alter expression of proteinases (MMPs and cathepsins) impacting matrix architecture, and proangiogenic factors (VEGF-A and IL-8) promoting migratory capacity and metastatic potential [reviewed in (Kato et al. 2013)] and this is in line with the angiogenic role of both EDB- and EDA-FNs (Glukhova et al. 1989; Patrizia Castellani et al. 1994). Those and our data suggest that autocrine and paracrine EDB-containing FN may be a contributing factor in tumor progression through intertwining paths that involve angiogenesis, matrix remodeling, and cell energy regulation, while EDA takes also part in cell cycle regulation. It is highly plausible that a mixture of EDB- and/or EDA-positive FN fibrils simultaneously induce different cell responses, the net result of which we observe in vitro.

Extracellular acidification, best studied in tumor tissue, occurs through the reprogramming of energy metabolism in tumor cells and has important tumor-promoting consequences and potential for therapeutic targeting [reviewed in (Corbet and Feron 2017)]. More recently, increased glycolysis in the cancer-associated stroma has been proposed to provide high energy metabolites to neighboring cancer cells via the reverse Warburg effect (Pavlides et al. 2009; Yoshida 2015). As fibroblasts are the major matrix-producing cells of epithelial tumors, and cellular FN is a major matrix constituent of the carcinoma-associated fibroblast matrisome (Gopal et al. 2017), it is tempting to postulate that FN could actively contribute to acidification of the tumor microenvironment by stimulating Warburg-like glycolytic rates in stromal cells. FN-treatment of MEFs did lead to increased expression of glycolytic enzymes and a tendency for increased glucose uptake and lactate extrusion, under culture conditions in which enhanced acidification was observed. However, we failed to see significant increases in glycolysis (ECAR) or downregulation of mitochondrial respiration (OCR) in these cells, at least when measured in Seahorse XF24 cell culture microplates, suggesting that metabolic reprogramming of MEFs does not occur.

TGF-β signaling modulation by FN variants

Are there links between FN-induced TGF- β signaling and metabolism? Stromal-derived TGF- β has been shown to shift CAFs towards a catabolic metabolism with lactate production, thus linking TGF- β signaling to the Warburg-like metabolism (Guido et al. 2012). Indeed, in our hands, exogenous FN induced both TGF- β signaling and metabolic modifications in our FN-deficient fibroblasts. Nonetheless, variant-specific effects on TGF- β response genes and extracellular acidification were not correlated. Thus, the highest activation of TGF- β signaling was detected in cells treated with FN B+A+ and A-B- whereas extra-/intra-cellular acidification was most pronounced in cells presented with the B+A- variant.

Nevertheless, soluble FN stimulated an increase in SMAD2 phosphorylation and the expression of various TGF β -related genes as early as two hours post-stimulation. These FN-induced effects were inhibited by a TGF β RI inhibitor, suggesting that exogenous FN variants are capable of activating latent TGF- β located in the extracellular milieu, which subsequently binds the TGF- β receptor complex and activates downstream signaling. It has previously been reported that latent TGF- β can be activated by strain generated within the actin-integrin-ECM axis [reviewed in (Hinz 2015; Richard O. Hynes 2009). More specifically, matrix-bound LTBP proteins (namely LTBP1 and 3) are covalently attached to the LAP peptide, which is non-covalently attached to the mature TGF- β , but also bound to α v integrins, through their RGD sites. Applying forces to the LLC can induce conformational modifications resulting in the release of active TGF- β .

In our experiments, however, we used MEFs that do not express FN, thus are effectively unable to assemble other matrix proteins, including fibrillin1 and LTBP1 (Klingberg et al. 2018). FN fibrillogenesis was visible as early as 2 hours after FN addition but we did not examine the co-assembly of LTBP. A recent study showed that the presence of EDA in his-tagged FN resulted in increased binding of LTBP1 to FN, and that function blocking of EDA reduced LTBP1 incorporation in fibroblast ECM and TGF- β activation (Klingberg et al. 2018). Our results are partly consonant with this study since TGF- β pathway activation was mild in our cells upon cell stimulation with FN B-A+, but this effect was significantly reinforced when EDB was also present in the FN molecule. The discrepancies might be due to the use of cell populations stably expressing the FN variants, which as we have shown in our study is not optimal for comparing cFN variant-specific events.

Apart from being docked in the ECM via LTBPs, TGF- β can also be found in a latent form on the outer side of the plasma membrane bound through the LAP peptide to GARP (also known as LRRC32). GARP-bound TGF- β can also be activated by integrins $\alpha\nu\beta6$ (X. Dong et al. 2017) and $\alpha\nu\beta8$ (Liénart et al. 2018) by exerting traction forces on the LLC, modulating inflammatory and immunoregulatory functions in the vicinity. We have not analyzed the expression of GARP, but it has recently been reported that GARP, as well as $\beta8$ integrin subunit are present in human and mouse mesenchymal cells (fibroblasts) and they play a pivotal role in TGF- β activation and regulation of T-cell and platelet functions, cell proliferation (Carrillo-Galvez et al. 2015), dendritic cell trafficking, inflammation, and fibrosis (Kitamura et al. 2011). The presence and expression levels of GARP and $\beta 6$ or $\beta 8$ integrin subunits in the MEFs used in our experiments remain to be determined. However, we can suggest a mechanism by which FN Extra Domains might tune the extent of integrin-mediated TGF- β activation whether it be bound to GARP or LTBP. We propose that addition of exogenous FN variants results in $\alpha 5\beta 1$ integrin binding, the affinity of which may depend on the presence of the Extra Domains. At the same time, $\alpha v\beta 3$ can compete with $\alpha 5\beta 1$ for RGD binding. FN-integrin binding induces outside-in signaling, resulting in acto-myosin cytoskeleton contractility that, in turn, induces 1) fibronectin assembly, and 2) inside-out αv integrin traction forces activating TGF- β . The released factor mediates the generation of a pro-fibrotic stroma characterized by sustained cell proliferation and differential expression of matrix modulators (TGFBI, PAI1), reflected by differential ECM composition and physical properties (Billings et al. 2002; Ahlfeld et al. 2016; Cesari, Pahor, and Incalzi 2010). Finally, the intrinsic properties of this matrix result in a positive feedback loop that maintains the pro-fibrotic phenotype (Parker et al. 2014).

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge, the PRISM imaging facility of iBV and the PICMI imaging facility of IRCAN. We thank K.-H. Kraus (University of Geneva) and T. Virolle (Université Côte d'Azur) for lentiviral vectors and R. Fässler (Max Planck Institute of Biochemistry) for floxed MEFs. Financial support for this work was provided by the National Agency for Research (ANR10-02, ANR-16-CE93-0005-01), the Fondation ARC (PJA20151203207, fellowship GE), the LabEx SIGNALIFE program (ANR-11-LABX-0028-01) and the Fédération Hospitalo-Universitaire OncoAge.

Figure 1



Figure. 1. FN variant-expressing MEFs. (A) Schematic representation of the four human FN variants harboring the B and/or A Extra Domains (or none), including the variable region V-89, and their expression in assembly competent *Fn1* -/- MEF clones. **(B)** Relative FN mRNA levels

across selected clones [indicated in (C)] after two days in culture. (C) Immunofluorescent staining to assess FN re-expression and assembly in the indicated clones, after 7 days in culture. Nuclei staining is shown in the inserts. Scale bar: 50 µm. (D) Western blot of whole cell lysates and conditioned media (CM) of Fn1 fl/fl MEFs and four selected clones reexpressing the FN variants after 2 days in culture. ERK1/2 was used as loading control. Numbers at the bottom of the blots represent FN fold expression relative to Fn1 fl/fl normalized to ERK. (E) FN mRNA and protein levels were assessed in three individual clones expressing FN B-A-. Despite similar expression, FN association to cells differs among the clones. Numbers at the bottom of the blot represent fold expression of FN relative to B-A-Clone 4 normalized to ERK. (F) FN mRNA and protein levels were assessed in three individual clones expressing FN B+A-. Despite similar expression, FN association to cells differs among the clones. Numbers at the bottom of the blot represent FN fold expression relative to B+A-Clone 11 normalized to ERK. (G) Immunofluorescent staining of three individual clones expressing FN B-A- [(same as in (E)] and three individual clones expressing FN B+A- [(same as in (F)] to compare FN expression and assembly across clones for two different FN variants after 7 days in culture. Nuclei are shown in the inserts. Scale bar: 50 μ m.



Figure 2. Purification of fully functional Extra-Domain-specific FN variants. (A) Schematic representation of the cDNA constructs encoding the four human FN variants harboring the B and/or A Extra Domains (variable region V-89) and their expression in the assembly-

incompetent HEK293 cells for subsequent FN purification. After purification, *Fn1* -/- MEFs will be presented with the purified variants in order to perform functional analyses. (**B**) Phase contrast (upper row) and immunofluorescent staining of FN and nuclei (lower row) of HEK293 cells stably expressing the FN variants or the empty vector. Scale bars: Phase, 50 μ m; IF, 20 μ m. FN is only observed in the cytoplasm and the plasma membrane before being secreted by the assembly-incompetent HEK293 cells. (**C**) Silver staining of FN variants in polyacrylamide gels run under reducing and non-reducing conditions to verify the integrity of the proteins, as well as their ability to dimerize. (**D**) Western blot of FN variants run in polyacrylamide gels and stained with different antibodies against total FN, Extra Domain B, and Extra Domain A verifying the all-or-nothing inclusion of the Extra Domains in each variant. (**E**) Western blot of *FN1* -/- MEFs presented with FN variants for 2 h. ERK1/2 was used as loading control. (**F**) Immunofluorescent staining of FN and nuclei of *Fn1* -/- MEFs presented with FN variants for 2 h (upper row) and 48 h (lower row). In the 48-hour images, nuclei have been added as inserts for clarity. Scale bar: 50 μ m.

Figure 3



Figure 3. The impact of the FN Extra Domains in FN assembly and ECM physical properties. Variant-specific decellularized matrices. *Fn1* -/- MEFs were presented with FN variants for 7 days. Matrices were generated, decellularized and immunofluorescently stained for FN, type IV collagen, and TNC. Images are representative of at least ten independent experiments. Scale bar: 100 μ m. Thickness was measured with confocal microscopy and mean ±SEM values of five independent experiments are shown.

Figure 4



Figure 4. Computational analyses of FN variant-specific matrices. (**A**) Matrices assembled by Fn1 -/- MEFs presented with FN variants were decellularized after 7 days, stained for FN and visualized by confocal microscopy. Representative images of at least 10 independent

experiments are shown. Scale bar: 50 μ m. (**B**) Confusion matrix of FN variant network classification using Convolutional Neural Networks. An algorithm was trained to recognize and classify FN-variant-specific matrices. The diagonal (in blue) displays the classification success rate (correctly classified images). (**C**) Flow chart of fiber analysis. 1: confocal images were acquired and cropped to a final size 512 × 512 pixels; 2: a set of Gabor kernels representing an elemental-fiber dictionary was established; 3: fiber detection was performed using Gabor kernels on acquired images; 4: detected fibers were used to generate variant-specific morphological skeletons. (**D**) Graph-based representation of the FN variant fibers detected by Gabor kernels. Edges (black segments) connect nodes (red dots). (**E**) Principal component analysis (PCA) of the indicated features related to the graphs or derived from characteristic Gabor kernel parameters.

Figure 5



Figure 5. The presence of the Extra Domains in the FN molecule differentially regulates TGF- β signaling through activation of TGF- β 1. (A) Collagen gel contraction assay. FN1 -/- MEFs were embedded in collagen lattices containing FN variants. Cell surface reduction was

measured after a 24-hour incubation following lattice solidification. Results are the mean ±SEM values from four independent experiments, and are displayed as a % reduction in gel surface measured with ImageJ. ** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$. (B) TGF- β 1 detection in recombinant FN preparations. FN preparations were added in DMEM (15 μ g/ml) to assess the presence of TGF-β1. Standard culture medium (DMEM +10% FCS) was used as reference. (C) Top row: Expression levels of TGF-β response genes between 15 min and 48 h. Fn1 -/- MEFs were stimulated with FN variants and a time course was established. Results are mean ±SEM values from at least three independent experiments, represented as fold change relative to CTRL for each time point. Time points later than 8 h have been omitted for clarity. Bottom row: Isolated time points for each TGF- β response gene, in which expression changes are significant. PAI1 and CTGF, 2 h; TGFBI, 48 h. Results are mean ±SEM values from at least three independent experiments. *p \leq 0.05, **p \leq 0.01, ***p \leq 0.001. (D) Western blot displaying the phosphorylation of SMAD2 after a 2-hour stimulation of Fn1 -/- MEFs with FN variants. Total SMAD2 used as loading control. Numbers at the bottom of the blots are mean ±SEM values of three independent experiments. (E) Western blot showing diminishing of SMAD2 phosphorylation after TGFBRI inhibition. Fn1 -/- MEFs were treated with FN B+A+ and SB-431542, a TGFBRI inhibitor, and their respective vehicle solutions for control. Total SMAD2 used as loading control. Numbers at the bottom of the blots are SMAD2 phosphorylation fold difference relative to respective controls.





Figure 6. The presence of FN Extra Domains affects cell growth and metabolism (A) Growth curves of Fn1 -/- MEFs stimulated with FN variants or vehicle buffer. Mean ±SEM values from 3 independent experiments are shown. (B) Doubling time of cells treated with FN variants

relative to cells treated with vehicle CTRL determined from the growth curves shown in (A). Values represent mean ±SEM from 4 independent experiments. *p \leq 0.05. (C) Representative phase contrast images (7 independent experiments) of Fn1 -/- MEFs 5 days after stimulation with FN variants. (D) Representative phase contrast images of Fn1 -/- MEFs (7 independent experiments) after overnight stimulation with FN variants. (E) Medium acidification observed at 4 days post treatment (representative image from 3 independent experiments). (F) Internal pH measurements in cells treated with FN variants or vehicle CTRL after 48 h. Results are represented as Δ pHi (difference in internal pH) relative to CTRL. Mean ±SEM from 7 independent experiments are shown. *p \leq 0.05. (G) Oxygen consumption rate (OCR) measured with the Seahorse analyzer in Fn1 -/- cells treated for 48 h with FN variants or vehicle buffer. (H) Extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) of Fn1 -/- MEFs after treatment with rFN variants or vehicle buffer measured with the Seahorse analyzer after 72 h. Values are mean ±SEM from 2 independent experiments. *p \leq 0.05.
Supplemenary Material

Supplemental Table 1

Primary antibodies used, suppliers and dilutions

Specificity	Company	Clone	Referenc e	Raised in	Application
anti-FN-EDA	Sirius Biotech	IST-9	S-FN5	Mouse	WB: 1/200 IF: 1/XXXX
anti-FN-EDB	Sirius Biotech	C6	S-FN12	Mouse	WB: 1/200 IF: 1/XXXX
anti-FN	Millipore	Polyclonal	AB1945	Rabbit	WB: 1/1000 IF: 1/400
anti-FN	BD Biosciences	10/Fibronectin	#610077	Mouse	WB: 1/1000 IF: 1/500
anti-ERK1/2 (diphosphorylated)	Sigma-Aldrich	MAPK-YT	M8159	Mouse	WB: 1/1000
anti-ERK1/2	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	C-16	sc-93	Rabbit	WB: 1/2000
anti-SMAD2 (Ser465/467)	Cell Signaling Technology	138D4	#3108	Rabbit	WB: 1/1000
anti-SMAD2	Cell Signaling Technology	86F7	#3122	Rabbit	WB: 1/2000

Supplemental Table 2

Primer sets used for qPCR analyses

Torract	Sequence			
Target	Forward	Reverse		
Тbp	GAAGAACAATCCAGACTAGCAGCA	CCTTATAGGGAACTTCACATCACAG		
h1_FN_2K7	CCCAATTGAGTGCTTCATGCC	TGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTCG		
Fn1	CTGTAGCACAACTTCCAATTACGAA	GGAATTTCCGCCTCGAGTCT		
Tgfbi	AAGGTCATTGGCACCAACAAG	AACCTTTCTCTCCTGGGACCTT		
Ctgf	CAGCTGGGAGAACTGTGTACG	GTACACCGACCCACCGAAGA		
Pai1	TGAGCTGTGCCCTTCTCATT	GCCACCGACTTCGGAGTAAA		
Mycoplasma sp.	GGGAGCAAACAGGATTAGATACCCT	TGCACCATCTGTCACTCTGTTAACCTC		



Supplemental Figure 1. Generation of Fn1 -/- MEF clones. (A) Schematic representation of the relevant position of the two LoxP sites flanking the first exon of the Fn1 gene, as well as the positions of the primer set used to confirm the deletion. (B) Agarose gel electrophoresis of the PCR products generated from four separate Fn1 fl/fl populations infected with a lentiviral vector bearing the coding sequence of Cre recombinase. (C) qRT-PCR analysis showing the decrease of mRNA levels of the endogenous Fn1 gene in MEF Fn1 -/- CloneD. ****p \leq 0.0001. (D) Western analysis showing the elimination of FN protein in whole cell lysates and conditioned medium from MEF Fn1 -/- CloneD. ERK was used as loading control. (E) Phase contrast (upper row) and immunofluorescent staining (middle and lower rows) for

FN displaying the absence of FN deposition in MEF Fn1 -/- CloneD after 2 days in culture. Scale bars: Phase, 200 μ m; IF, 50 μ m



Supplemental Figure 2. Immunofluorescent staining of FN in the four selected clones. (B-Acl 4, B+A- cl11, B-A+ cl1, B+A+ cl2). An anti-totalFN antibody was used in combination with an anti-EDB or anti-EDA in order to verify the expression of the FN variants by the different clones. Scale bar, 50 μ m



Supplemental Figure 3. FN expression and assembly in MEF clones. (**A**) Relative FN mRNA expression levels across the selected clones after 7 days in culture. (**B**) Western blot of whole cell lysates and conditioned media of Fn1 fl/fl and the four selected clones re-expressing the FN variants, to detect FN secreted in the medium and associated to the cells after 7 days in culture. ERK1/2 was used as loading control. Numbers at the bottom of the blots represent FN fold expression relative to Fn1 fl/fl normalized to ERK. (**C**) Immunofluorescent staining to assess FN re-expression and deposition in the indicated clones, after 2 days in culture. Nuclei staining is shown in the inserts. Scale bar: 50 μm.



Supplemental Figure 4. Dose-dependent assembly of pFN. (A) FN coating of glass coverslips. Immunofluorescent staining of FN-coated (3 μ g/ml) glass coverslips to assess the existence of aggregates, that would greatly affect solubility and bioavailability. Scale bar: 50 μ m. (B) Immunofluorescent staining of FN (left column) and phase contrast (right column) of Fn1 -/- MEFs 5 days after having been presented with increasing concentrations of pFN in order to find the optimal concentration for our studies. We determined that 15 μ g/ml is a good compromise between efficient matrix generation and moderation in the use of the purified variants.



Supplemental Figure 5. Feature distribution across FN variant matrices. (A) Connectivity graph displaying the ratio of degree-1 nodes relative to higher-degree nodes. (B) Thickness graph showing the distribution of thin fibers relative to thick fibers as described in material

and methods. (**C**) Graph representing the heterogeneity in fiber thickness across the different matrices, as determined by the fiber thickness kurtosis. (**D**) Pore circularity distribution defined by pore area and pore perimeter. (**E**) Pore size graph across FN matrices after filtering out pores below the 90th percentile within each distribution.



Supplemental Figure 6 Metabolic effects of FN in Fn1 -/- MEFs. (A) Glucose uptake in Fn1 -/- MEFs stimulated with FN variants for 48 h. To do so, Fn1 -/- MEFs were plated in triplicates in 96-well plates (4X103 cells/well) and stimulated with 15 µg/ml FN variants or vehicle buffer for 48 h. Cells were washed with PBS, starved with glucose-depleted medium for 30 min before adding 2-NBDG (Thermo Fisher Scientific) 200 µM for 40 min. Fluorescence intensity was measured in a microplate reader. Results represent mean fold difference ±SEM relative to CTRL from 9 independent experiments. (B) Lactate extrusion in the culture medium of Fn1 -/- MEFs treated with FN variants for 48 h, analyzed using an ion chromatography column. Graph displays the mean ±SEM fold difference relative to day 0 CTRL from 2 independent experiments. (GAPDH) mRNA and (D) phosphoglycerate kinase 1 (PGK1), enzymes that catalyze the 6th and 7th steps of glycolysis respectively, were determined in Fn1 -/- MEFs after 48 h of stimulation with FN variants. *p ≤ 0.05, **p ≤ 0.01.



Supplemental Figure 7. The presence of FN does not affect mitochondrial activity in Fn1 -/-MEFs. (A) Extracellular acidification rate in response to glucose measured in Fn1 -/- MEFs stimulated for 72 h with FN variants with the Seahorse analyzer. Results are mean ±SEM of two independent experiments. *p \leq 0.05. (B) Basal mitochondrial activity of Fn1 -/- MEFs stimulated with FN variants for 72 h, determined with the Seahorse analyzer by measuring oxygen consumption rate (OCR). Results are mean ±SEM of two independent experiments. *p \leq 0.05. (C) Maximal mitochondrial activity of Fn1 -/- MEFs stimulated with FN variants for 72 h, measured as in (A). Results are mean ±SEM of two independent experiments. *p \leq 0.05. (D) Fn1 -/- MEFs were stimulated with FN variants for 72 h and OCR was determined in response to glucose with the Seahorse analyzer. (E) Dependence of respiration of Fn1 -/- MEFs stimulated with FN variants on ATP synthase demonstrated with the Seahorse analyzer.

4. Complementary Results

Re-expression of FN variants in FN-null MEFs

We saw previously that addition of cFN in *Fn1* -/- MEFs resulted in cells adopting a spindle-like morphology, resembling activated fibroblasts, or myofibroblasts. Stable re-expression of cFN variants by MEFs resulted in a similar effect that appeared to be dose-dependent. FN B+A- MEFs, which express the highest quantity of FN, were more spindle-like (**Complementary Fig. 1A**), followed by FN B+A+ MEFs.

Furthermore, the expression pattern of TGF- β targets PAI1, CTGF, and TGFBI reflected both the level of FN expression and the efficiency of FN assembly (**Complementary Fig. 1B**).



Re-expression of variant specific FNs by *Fn1* -/- cells. (A) Phase contrast images of *Fn1*-/- MEFs reexpressing FN variants after 3 days in culture. Scale bar: 100 µm. (B) Relative mRNA levels of three TGF- β response genes (PAI1, CTGF, TGFBI) in the MEF clones after 2 days in culture. *p ≤ 0.05, **p ≤ 0.01.

FN deposition and TGF- β signaling dependence on $\alpha 5\beta 1$

Integrin $\alpha 5\beta 1$ is viewed as the "classic" FN binding integrin, responsible for FN fibrillogenesis and mechanosensing. It binds a tripeptide sequence (RGD) residing on FNIII₁₀ (Main et al. 1992), flanked by the splice sites where the two Extra Domains are



found in cFN. In order to examine whether the effects we previously saw are entirely due to FN binding to integrin $\alpha 5\beta 1$, or whether other integrins/receptors are involved, we targeted *ITGA5* mRNA with a small interfering RNA (siRNA). Utilizing the algorithm developed by Vert and colleagues (Vert et al. 2006), we generated three independent siRNA sets the efficiency of which we subsequently tested. si-ITGA5 #2 was the most efficient in terms of mRNA (**Complementary Fig. 2B**) decrease, and was selected for further experiments.

Complementary Fig. 2. FN deposition and TGF-*β* signaling dependence on α5β1 (previous page).

Fn1 -/- MEFs were plated in 6-well plates (10⁵ cells/ml) in DMEM supplemented with 10% FN-depleted FCS. Transfection with three siRNAs targeting a5 subunit (siRNA sequences shown in Table 3) or with scramble siRNA (Control siRNA duplex negative control, Eurogentec, Liège, Belgium) was performed the day after with RNAiMAX reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to manufacturer's instructions. Cells were harvested 3 d later and equally distributed in 6-well plates for qPCR and Western blot. (A) a5 mRNA fold decrease in si-ITGA5-transfected cells compared to CTRL. ** $p \le 0.01$, **** $p \le 0.0001$. a5 mRNA was detected by qPCR with the following primers F: 5'-CTCGGCTTCTTCAAACGTTCC-3' and R: 5'-CGGGATCATGAGTCTGAGATCAGG-3'. (B) a5 protein decrease in si-ITGA5-transfected cells was visualized with an anti- α 5 antibody (Thermo Fisher Scientific). ERK was used as loading control. Numbers at the bottom of the figure are the mean decrease ±SEM of α5 levels relative to CTRL. (C) Fn1 -/- MEFs were transfected with si-ITGA5 #2 as described. Two days later, cells were trypsinized and plated in 12-well plates with coverslips (10⁵ cells/ml). Upon attachment, cells were presented with FN variants (15 µg/ml) or vehicle buffer (CTRL, not shown) for 48 h. Cells were subsequently fixed and stained with an antitotalFN antibody as described in Methods. Scale bar, 50 µm. Representative images of at least 2 independent experiments. (D) Relative mRNA levels of PAI1, CTGF, and TGFBI in Fn1 -/- MEFs stimulated with FN variants for 2 h after α5 knockdown. *Fn1* -/- MEFs were transfected with si-ITGA5 #2 as described. Two days later, cells were trypsinized and plated in 6-well plates (10⁵ cells/ml) with DMEM supplemented with 5% FN-depleted FCS. The day after, cells were presented with FN variants (15 μ g/ml) or vehicle buffer (CTRL) for 2 h. RNA extraction and qPCR were performed as described in Methods.

	Table 3. siRNA	seauences	used in	a5-knockdown	experiments
--	----------------	-----------	---------	--------------	-------------

	Sense Sequence	Anti-sense Sequence
si-ITGA5-1	GCAGGGAGAUGAAGAUCUACC	UAGAUCUUCAUCUCCCUGCAG
si-ITGA5-2	CAUUCAAUUUGACAGCAAAGG	UUUGCUGUCAAAUUGAAUGGU
si-ITGA5-3	GCAUGUGCUCCACUGUAUAGC	UAUACAGUGGAGCACAUGCCA

As expected, knockdown of α 5 resulted in disrupted FN variant harvesting and deposition by *Fn1* -/- MEFs and this effect was more striking in the case of plasma-like FN (B-A-) (**Complementary Fig. 2C**), followed by B+A- which was somewhat more efficiently incorporated and some fibrils were formed. Intriguingly, EDA-containing FNs (B-A+, and B+A+) were equally set up into complex network arrangements in spite of the absence of α 5 β 1, though the fine fibrils seen in si-CTRL are replaced by fiber-like aggregates. These results are in accordance with previous works that despite the importance of RGD binding by α 5 β 1 in FN fibrillogenesis and development (J. T. Yang, Rayburn, and Hynes 1993), α 5 β 1 is dispensable for FN fibrillogenesis in culture when EDA is included in the molecule. It has been reported that integrin α v β 3 might trigger an RGD-independent FN assembly pathway (Takahashi et al. 2007), but further studies are needed to assess a possible interaction between this integrin and the alternatively spliced type III repeats.

In terms of TGF- β signaling, α 5 integrin knockdown resulted in reduced induction of PAI1 and CTGF, while TGFBI levels remained unchanged, as expected, pointing towards a synergistic effect of α 5 β 1 in TGF- β activation (**Complementary Fig. 2D**).

Of note, the extent of the induction was lower (for si-CTRL and si-ITGA5) compared to untransfected cells, suggesting a possible interference of the liposomal nature of the transfection reagent with cell receptor distribution on the cell membrane.

FN-mediated expression regulation of TGF-β modulators

Apart from the three aforementioned canonical TGF- β downstream targets, we assessed the induction of a non-canonical one, namely Id1, the expression of which is involved in cell proliferation and differentiation [reviewed in (Derynck and Budi 2019)]. Interestingly, Id1 mRNA expression was significantly diminished 2 h after FN variant stimulation of *Fn1* -/- MEFs, and the reduction pattern was opposite to that observed for the aforementioned induced genes, with B-A- and B+A+ resulting in the strongest decrease, followed by B+A- and then by B-A+ (**Complementary Fig. 3A**). This drop in Id1 expression might explain, at least in part, the sustained proliferation of cFN-treated MEFs in culture.

Furthermore, mRNA expression of Endoglin1/3, an inhibitor of TGF- β signaling [See (Heldin and Moustakas 2016) and references therein], displayed a similar expression pattern, though weaker, to Id1 (**Complementary Fig. 3B**), suggesting that



Complementary Fig. 3. FN-mediated expression regulation of TGF- β modulators.

Relative mRNA expression of two known TGF- β signaling regulators, (A) Id1 and (B) Endoglins 1 and 3 after a 2-hour stimulation of *Fn1*-/- MEFs with FN variants. Results are mean ±SEM values of two or more independent experiments. *p ≤ 0.05, **p ≤ 0.01, ***p ≤ 0.001.

FN variants modulate TGF- β activation and signaling through multiple branches within the pathway.

Role of FN variants in mitochondrial morphology

In order to examine the possible effect of FN variants in mitochondrial quantity and morphology, we used a mitochondria-specific tracer, in cells stimulated with FN

 Image: Construction of the construc

Fn1 -/- MEFs + rFN variants (2d)

Complementary Fig. 4. FN role in mitochondrial morphology

Treatment of *Fn1* -/- MEFs with FN variants for 48h to study the effect of FN Extra Domains in mitochondrial morphology. Representative immunofluorescence images of two independent experiments. *Fn1* -/- MEFs were plated in 12-well plates with coverslips ($5x10^4$ cells/ml) in DMEM supplemented with 10% FN-depleted FCS and incubated at 37°C. Upon attachment, cells were stimulated with FN variants (15 µg/ml) for 48 h. They were subsequently incubated with 200 nM MitoTracker CMX Ros (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 40 min in DMEM before fixation and further staining according to standard procedures. Red, mitochondria; blue, nuclei. FN staining has been omitted for clarity. Scale bar: 25 µm

variants or vehicle buffer for 48 h. In line with the results obtained with the Seahorse analyzer, no differences were observed in mitochondrial morphology and quantity between FN-stimulated and CTRL cells (**Complementary Fig. 4**).

Physical and biochemical properties of FN variant-specific matrices.

We saw previously that the presence (or absence) of the Extra Domains in the FN molecule results in differences in FN fibrillogenesis and assembly, and in MEF-derived matrices with different physical properties, namely fiber topology, porosity, and





thickness. In order to study whether these properties reflect differences in mechanical resilience of the matrices, we measured the elastic (Young's) modulus by Atomic Force Microsopy (AFM). As expected, the thick B+A- matrices were less stiff compared to the thin B-A+ matrices, though the differences were only slight. Conversely, both B-A- and B+A+ were of equivalent thickness but the former was the matrix most resistant to indentation, while the latter was the softest (**Complementary Fig. 5A**), showing that there is no direct correlation between matrix thickness and stiffness. However, additional elegant techniques are required to measure local mechanical properties of these matrices, since their mean thickness is close to the limit of the AFM movement in the z-axis, which can possibly introduce technical artefacts to the analysis.

Complementary Fig. 5. Physical and biochemical properties of FN variant-specific matrices (previous page).

(A) AFM microscopy results displaying variant-specific matrix stiffness. Variant-specific MEF-derived matrices were generated in 35 mm dishes as described in Methods. Matrices were rinsed and covered with 3 ml of PBS. The mechanical properties of the samples were studied using a BioScope Catalyst atomic force microscope microscope (Bruker Nano Surfaces, Santa Barbara, CA, USA) equipped with a Nanoscope V controller and coupled with an optical microscope (Leica DMI6000B, Leica Microsystems Ltd., UK). After thermal stabilization for each sample 4 different areas were analyzed using the "Point and Shoot" method, collecting a maximum of 140 force-distance curves at just as many discrete points spaced at least 20 µm from each other. The experiments were performed using a borosilicate glass spherical tip (5 μ m of diameter) and a cantilever with a nominal spring constant of 0.06 N/m (Novascan Technologies, Ames, IA USA). After determining both the deflection sensitivity of the system in the PBS using a clean glass dish and the spring constant of the cantilever by the thermal tune method, forcedistance curves were collected on samples using a velocity of 1 µm/s, in relative trigger mode and by setting the trigger threshold to 2 nN. The apparent Young's (elastic) modulus was calculated using the NanoScope Analysis 1.80 software (Bruker Nano Surfaces, Santa Barbara, CA, USA), fitting the force curves to the Hertz spherical indentation model and using a Poisson's ratio of 0.5. To avoid large indentation, a minimum and a maximum Force Fit Boundary of 5% and 25% respectively of the whole force curve was considered for the fit. To eliminate any tilt effect due to the base correction step in the analysis, only the force curves having their maximum value at 2 nN were taken into account for performing the fit. Data analysis was performed with GraphPad Prism v 5.03. Results are shown as a Tukey boxplot. Statistical significance was determined with the Kruskal-Wallis test for non-parametric distributions, followed by a Dunns multiple comparison test. (B) Representative immunofluorescence images of CAL33 (an oral squamous cell carcinoma cell line) attached on FN variant-specific MEFderived matrices. MEF-derived matrices were generated as described in Methods. CAL33 cells were plated on top of these matrices (2x10⁵ cells/ml) for 24 h and were subsequently fixed and stained according to standard protocol. Scale bar: 25 µm. (C) Motility study in CAL33 plated on top of variantspecific matrices, as in (B). MEF-derived matrices were generated as described in Methods. CAL33 cells were plated on top of these matrices (2x10⁵ cells/ml) and were monitored with timelapse microscopy for 24 h. Displacement, mean and maximal speed were calculated. Graphs display mean ±SEM values from three fields per variant in a representative experiment.

From a different point of view, these matrices are ideal substrates for customized cell culture. In contrast to tissue culture plastic surfaces, these matrices offer a physiologically more relevant environment, containing a wide range of ECM components. ECM properties have been known to modulate the behavior of cells that reside in them [see (Walker, Mojares, and del Río Hernández 2018; Kato et al. 2013) and references therein]. In order to test whether engineered Extra-Domain-specific FN matrices influence cell behavior, we plated squamous cell carcinoma cells (CAL33) on variant-specific matrices and examined their morphology (**Complementary Fig. 5B**) and motility (**Complementary Fig. 5C**). Although CAL33 cells attached and proliferated normally on MDMs (data not shown), their motility was profoundly perturbed. Instead of maintaining a guided migratory pattern (Gopal et al. 2017), they amble around their initial position, probably due to the embryonic nature of these matrices. Though the role of variant-specific matrices in CAL33 motility remains 108

inconclusive, these results underline the importance of cell-substrate compatibility in cell culture experimentation.

5. Conclusions and Perspectives

In this work, we addressed the role of the Extra Domains B and A of FN in *Fn1* -/-MEFs using native, full-length, human FN constructs containing either, both or none of the Extra Domains. We used MEF clones that stably express ED-specific FN, and we concluded that the abrogation of the multi-level FN regulation as well as the clonal variabilities mandated for an alternative approach, in which purified FN variants were presented to a single assembly-competent FN-null MEF clone.

Using this model system, we observed that FNs containing the Extra Domain B (FN B+A-, and FN B+A+) were more readily harvested by cells and assembled into a fibrillar network, followed by FN B-A+. Plasma-like FN (B-A-) was the least efficient in FN fibrillogenesis. Additionally, the presence of the Extra Domains resulted in ECMs with differential physical properties, such as thickness and fiber topology, and these differences were efficiently recognized by an unbiased numerical method, suggesting a distinctive FN fibrillogenesis and assembly.

An important aspect of this work was the variant-dependent induction extent of the SMAD2/3 branch of TGF- β signaling. FN B+A+ was the most potent agonist of TGF- β activation followed, intriguingly, by FN B-A-, while FN B+A- and FN B-A+ resulted in lower pathway induction. More studies are required in order to understand the mechanism of this FN-mediated TGF- β activation, and to discover which other pathways are involved that result in the distinct patterns of cell proliferation and metabolic phenotypes demonstrated.

As a first step, elegant studies to examine the conformational modifications of FN variants in solution and during early fibrillogenesis is an interesting approach. The combination of our toolset with the use of FRET as an indicator of FN conformation (Baneyx, Baugh, and Vogel 2002) is an attractive perspective. Furthermore, ED-specific integrin-mediated FN fibrillogenesis and the identification of partners that facilitate these interactions are of substantial scientific interest.

In terms of TGF- β signaling, LTBP- and GARP-oriented studies will provide insight in ED-dependent TGF- β activation, while further understanding of TGF- β target gene regulation may elucidate roles of cFN in sustaining proliferative signaling and in modulation of cell metabolism. To that end, the involvement of known regulators of cell energetics should be assessed upon stimulation of cells with FN variants.

Finally, variant-specific MEF-derived matrices constitute an ideal substrate to study the paracrine effects of the FN variants on integrin signaling, cytoskeletal organization, contractile behavior, and motility of various cell types, such as immune, vascular, and tumor cells. These models may be used as effective tools in novel drug design and screening, and in translational research.

6. References

- Abreu, José G., Nan I. Ketpura, Bruno Reversade, and E. M. De Robertis. 2002. "Connective-Tissue Growth Factor (CTGF) Modulates Cell Signalling by BMP and TGF-β." *Nature Cell Biology* 4 (8): 599–604. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb826.
- Adams, J. C., and F. M. Watt. 1989. "Fibronectin Inhibits the Terminal Differentiation of Human Keratinocytes." *Nature* 340 (6231): 307–9.
- Afratis, Nikos, Chrisostomi Gialeli, Dragana Nikitovic, Theodore Tsegenidis, Evgenia Karousou, Achilleas D. Theocharis, Mauro S. Pavão, George N. Tzanakakis, and Nikos K. Karamanos. 2012. "Glycosaminoglycans: Key Players in Cancer Cell Biology and Treatment: GAG Targeting in Cancer Cell Biology." FEBS Journal 279 (7): 1177–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012.08529.x.
- Aguirre, Karen M, RichardJ McCormick, and Jean E. Schwarzbauer. 1994. "Fibronectin Self-AssociationIs Mediated by Complementary Sites within the Amino-Terminal One-Third of the Molecule." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 269 (45): 27863–68.
- Ahlfeld, Shawn K., Jian Wang, Yong Gao, Paige Snider, and Simon J. Conway. 2016.
 "Initial Suppression of Transforming Growth Factor-β Signaling and Loss of TGFBI Causes Early Alveolar Structural Defects Resulting in Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia." *The American Journal of Pathology* 186 (4): 777–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.11.024.
- Akiyama, Steven K. 2013. "Purification of Fibronectin." *Current Protocols in Cell Biology* 60 (1): 10.5.1-10.5.13. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471143030.cb1005s60.
- Alberts, Bruce. 2015. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*. Sixth edition. New York, NY: Garland Science, Taylor and Francis Group.
- Alkasalias, Twana, Lidia Moyano-Galceran, Marie Arsenian-Henriksson, and Kaisa Lehti. 2018. "Fibroblasts in the Tumor Microenvironment: Shield or Spear?" *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 19 (5): 1532. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19051532.
- Annes, Justin P., Yan Chen, John S. Munger, and Daniel B. Rifkin. 2004. "Integrin α _V β₆ -Mediated Activation of Latent TGF-β Requires the Latent TGF-β Binding Protein-1." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 165 (5): 723–34. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200312172.
- Assoian, Richard K., A. Komoriya, C. A. Meyers, D. M. Miller, and Michael B. Sporn. 1983. "Transforming Growth Factor-Beta in Human Platelets. Identification of a Major Storage Site, Purification, and Characterization." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 258 (11): 7155–60.
- Assoian, Richard K, and Martin A Schwartz. 2001. "Coordinate Signaling by Integrins and Receptor Tyrosine Kinases in the Regulation of G1 Phase Cell-Cycle Progression." *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 11 (1): 48–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-437X(00)00155-6.
- Astrof, Sophie, Denise Crowley, and Richard O. Hynes. 2007. "Multiple Cardiovascular Defects Caused by the Absence of Alternatively Spliced Segments of Fibronectin." *Developmental Biology* 311 (1): 11–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2007.07.005.
- Astrof, Sophie, and Richard O. Hynes. 2009. "Fibronectins in Vascular Morphogenesis."

Angiogenesis 12 (2): 165–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10456-009-9136-6.

- Ata, Rehman, and Costin Antonescu. 2017. "Integrins and Cell Metabolism: An Intimate Relationship Impacting Cancer." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 18 (1): 189. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18010189.
- Attieh, Youmna, Andrew G. Clark, Carina Grass, Sophie Richon, Marc Pocard, Pascale Mariani, Nadia Elkhatib, Timo Betz, Basile Gurchenkov, and Danijela Matic Vignjevic. 2017. "Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Lead Tumor Invasion through Integrin-B3–Dependent Fibronectin Assembly." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 216 (11): 3509–20. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201702033.
- Auger, Jocelyn M., Marijke J. E. Kuijpers, Yotis A. Senis, Steve P. Watson, and Johan W. M. Heemskerk. 2005. "Adhesion of Human and Mouse Platelets to Collagen under Shear: A Unifying Model." *The FASEB Journal* 19 (7): 825–27. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.04-1940fje.
- Aumailley, M, L Brucknertuderman, W Carter, R Deutzmann, D Edgar, P Ekblom, J Engel, E Engvall, E Hohenester, and J Jones. 2005. "A Simplified Laminin Nomenclature." *Matrix Biology* 24 (5): 326–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2005.05.006.
- Babaev, Vladimir R., Fabiola Porro, MacRae F. Linton, Sergio Fazio, Francisco E. Baralle, and Andrés F. Muro. 2008. "Absence of Regulated Splicing of Fibronectin EDA Exon Reduces Atherosclerosis in Mice." *Atherosclerosis* 197 (2): 534–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.08.015.
- Ballestrem, Christoph, Boris Hinz, Beat A. Imhof, and Bernhard Wehrle-Haller. 2001. "Marching at the Front and Dragging behind: Differential AVβ3-Integrin Turnover Regulates Focal Adhesion Behavior." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 155 (7): 1319–32. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200107107.
- Balza, Enrica, Laura Borsi, Giorgio Allemanni, and Luciano Zardi. 1988. "Transforming Growth Factor β Regulates the Levels of Different Fibronectin Isoforms in Normal Human Cultured Fibroblasts." *FEBS Letters* 228 (1): 42–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(88)80580-5.
- Baneyx, G., L. Baugh, and V. Vogel. 2002. "Fibronectin Extension and Unfolding within Cell Matrix Fibrils Controlled by Cytoskeletal Tension." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 99 (8): 5139–43. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.072650799.
- Barczyk, Malgorzata, Sergio Carracedo, and Donald Gullberg. 2010. "Integrins." *Cell and Tissue Research* 339 (1): 269–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-009-0834-6.
- Barkalow, Fern J Bober, and Jean E. Schwarzbauer. 1991. "Localization of the Major Heparin-Binding Site InFibronectin"." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 266 (12): 7812–18.
- Baron, Martin, David Norman, Antony Willis, and Iain D. Campbell. 1990. "Structure of the Fibronectin Type 1 Module." *Nature*, June. https://doi.org/10.1038/345642a0.
- Bell, E., B. Ivarsson, and C. Merrill. 1979. "Production of a Tissue-like Structure by Contraction of Collagen Lattices by Human Fibroblasts of Different Proliferative Potential in Vitro." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 76 (3): 1274–78. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.76.3.1274.
- Bernard, Bruno A, Kenneth M Yamada, and Kenneth Olden. 1982. "Carbohydrates Selectively Protect a Specific Domainof Fibronectin against Proteases." *The Journal of*

Biological Chemistry 257 (14): 8549-54.

- Bilandzic, Maree, and Kaye L. Stenvers. 2011. "Betaglycan: A Multifunctional Accessory." *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 10.
- Billings, Paul C., J. Charles Whitbeck, Christopher S. Adams, William R. Abrams, Arthur J. Cohen, Beatrice N. Engelsberg, Pamela S. Howard, and Joel Rosenbloom. 2002. "The Transforming Growth Factor-β-Inducible Matrix Protein Big-H3 Interacts with Fibronectin." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277 (31): 28003–9. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M106837200.
- Blaustein, Matías, Federico Pelisch, Tamara Tanos, Manuel J Muñoz, Diego Wengier, Leandro Quadrana, Jeremy R Sanford, et al. 2005. "Concerted Regulation of Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Activities of SR Proteins by AKT." Nature Structural & Molecular Biology 12 (12): 1037–44. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1020.
- Bloom, Laird, Kenneth C. Ingham, and Richard O. Hynes. 1999. "Fibronectin Regulates Assembly of Actin Filaments and Focal Contacts in Cultured Cells via the Heparin-Binding Site in Repeat III 13." Edited by Mary C. Beckerle. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 10 (5): 1521–36. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.10.5.1521.
- Bonnans, Caroline, Jonathan Chou, and Zena Werb. 2014. "Remodelling the Extracellular Matrix in Development and Disease." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 15 (12): 786–801. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3904.
- Bordeleau, Francois, Joseph P. Califano, Yashira L. Negrón Abril, Brooke N. Mason, Danielle J. LaValley, Sandra J. Shin, Robert S. Weiss, and Cynthia A. Reinhart-King. 2015. "Tissue Stiffness Regulates Serine/Arginine-Rich Protein-Mediated Splicing of the Extra Domain B-Fibronectin Isoform in Tumors." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112 (27): 8314–19. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1505421112.
- Bork, P., and R. F. Doolittle. 1992. "Proposed Acquisition of an Animal Protein Domain by Bacteria." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 89 (19): 8990–94. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.19.8990.
- Borsi, Laura, Patrizia Castellani, Anna Maria Risso, Alessandra Leprini, and Luciano Zardi. 1990. "Transforming Growth Factor-β Regulates the Splicing Pattern of Fibronectin Messenger RNA Precursor." *FEBS Letters* 261 (1): 175–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(90)80664-5.
- Boyd, David F., and Paul G. Thomas. 2017. "Towards Integrating Extracellular Matrix and Immunological Pathways." *Cytokine* 98 (October): 79–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2017.03.004.
- Brakebusch, C. 2003. "NEW EMBO MEMBER'S REVIEW: The Integrin-Actin Connection, an Eternal Love Affair." *The EMBO Journal* 22 (10): 2324–33. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/cdg245.
- Brand, Martin D., and David G. Nicholls. 2011. "Assessing Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Cells." *Biochemical Journal* 435 (2): 297–312. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20110162.
- Buehler, M. J. 2006. "Nature Designs Tough Collagen: Explaining the Nanostructure of Collagen Fibrils." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103 (33): 12285–90. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0603216103.
- Bultmann, Hermann, Amy J. Santas, and Donna M. Pesciotta Peters. 1998. "Fibronectin Fibrillogenesis Involves the Heparin II Binding Domain of Fibronectin." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273 (5): 2601–9. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.5.2601.

- Buratti, E., A. F. Muro, M. Giombi, D. Gherbassi, A. Iaconcig, and F. E. Baralle. 2004. "RNA Folding Affects the Recruitment of SR Proteins by Mouse and Human Polypurinic Enhancer Elements in the Fibronectin EDA Exon." *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 24 (3): 1387–1400. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.24.3.1387-1400.2004.
- Calderwood, D. A. 2004. "Integrin Activation." Journal of Cell Science 117 (5): 657–66. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.01014.
- Callaghan, T. M., and K.-P. Wilhelm. 2008. "A Review of Ageing and an Examination of Clinical Methods in the Assessment of Ageing Skin. Part 2: Clinical Perspectives and Clinical Methods in the Evaluation of Ageing Skin." *International Journal of Cosmetic Science* 30 (5): 323–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2494.2008.00455.x.
- Calleja-Agius, J. 2007. "J Calleja-Agius, Y Muscat-Baron and M P Brincat" 13 (2): 5.
- Campbell, I. D., and M. J. Humphries. 2011. "Integrin Structure, Activation, and Interactions." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 3 (3): a004994–a004994. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a004994.
- Campbell, Ian G, W D Foulkes, Gabriel Senger, John Trowsdale, Pilar Garin-Chesa, and Wolfgang J- Rettig. 1994. "Molecular Cloning of the B-CAM Cell Surface Glycoprotein of Epithelial Cancers:" *Cancer Research* 54 (22): 5761–65.
- Caputi, M., G. Casari, S. Guenzi, R. Tagliabue, A. Sidoli, C.A. Melo, and F.E. Baralle. 1994.
 "A Novel Bipartite Splicing Enhancer Modulates the Differential Processing of the Human Fibronectin EDA Exon." *Nucleic Acids Research* 22 (6): 1018–22. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/22.6.1018.
- Carnemolla, B. 1989. "A Tumor-Associated Fibronectin Isoform Generated by Alternative Splicing of Messenger RNA Precursors." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 108 (3): 1139–48. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.108.3.1139.
- Carnemolla, Barbara, A. Leprini, G. Allemanni, M. Saginatti, and L. Zardi. 1992. "The Inclusion of the Type III Repeat ED-B in the Fibronectin Molecule Generates Conformational Modifications That Unmask a Cryptic Sequence." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 267 (December): 24689–92.
- Carrillo-Galvez, Ana Belén, Marién Cobo, Sara Cuevas-Ocaña, Alejandra Gutiérrez-Guerrero, Almudena Sánchez-Gilabert, Pierpaolo Bongarzone, Angélica García-Pérez, et al. 2015. "Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Express GARP/LRRC32 on Their Surface: Effects on Their Biology and Immunomodulatory Capacity: Role of GARP in MSC Biology and Immunomodulation." STEM CELLS 33 (1): 183–95. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1821.
- Castellani, P. 1986. "Transformed Human Cells Release Different Fibronectin Variants than Do Normal Cells." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 103 (5): 1671–77. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.103.5.1671.
- Castellani, Patrizia, Giuseppe Viale, Alessandra Dorcaratto, Guido Nicolo, Janusz Kaczmarek, Germano Querze, and Luciano Zardi. 1994. "The Fibronectin Isoform Containing the Ed-b Oncofetal Domain: A Marker of Angiogenesis." *International Journal of Cancer* 59 (5): 612–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910590507.
- Castelletti, F., R. Donadelli, F. Banterla, F. Hildebrandt, P. F. Zipfel, E. Bresin, E. Otto, et al. 2008. "Mutations in FN1 Cause Glomerulopathy with Fibronectin Deposits." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105 (7): 2538–43. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0707730105.

- Cesari, Matteo, Marco Pahor, and Raffaele Antonelli Incalzi. 2010. "REVIEW: Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 (PAI-1): A Key Factor Linking Fibrinolysis and Age-Related Subclinical and Clinical Conditions: Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 (PAI-1)." *Cardiovascular Therapeutics* 28 (5): e72–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-5922.2010.00171.x.
- Chaikuad, Apirat, and Alex N Bullock. 2016. "Structural Basis of Intracellular TGF-b Signaling: Receptors and Smads." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 8 (11): 17.
- Changede, Rishita, and Michael Sheetz. 2017. "Integrin and Cadherin Clusters: A Robust Way to Organize Adhesions for Cell Mechanics." *BioEssays* 39 (1): e201600123. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201600123.
- Chauhan, Anil K., Alessandra Iaconcig, Francisco E. Baralle, and Andrés F. Muro. 2004. "Alternative Splicing of Fibronectin: A Mouse Model Demonstrates the Identity of in Vitro and in Vivo Systems and the Processing Autonomy of Regulated Exons in Adult Mice." *Gene* 324 (January): 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2003.09.026.
- Chauhan, Anil K., Janka Kisucka, Maria R. Cozzi, Meghan T. Walsh, Federico A. Moretti, Monica Battiston, Mario Mazzucato, et al. 2008. "Prothrombotic Effects of Fibronectin Isoforms Containing the EDA Domain." *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 28 (2): 296–301. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.149146.
- Chen, Qiming, Tsung H Lin, Channing J Der, and R L Juliano. 1996. "Integrin-Mediated Activation of Mitogen-Activated Protein (MAP) or Extracellular Signal-Related Kinase Kinase (MEK) and Kinase Is Independent of Ras." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 271 (30): 18122–27.
- Chen, Ye-Guang, Fang Liu, and Joan Massague. 1997. "Mechanism of TGFβ Receptor Inhibition by FKBP12." *The EMBO Journal* 16 (13): 3866–76.
- Chen, Youjun, Ingrid E. Blom, Susan Sa, Roel Goldschmeding, David J. Abraham, and Andrew Leask. 2002. "CTGF Expression in Mesangial Cells: Involvement of SMADs, MAP Kinase, and PKC." *Kidney International* 62 (4): 1149–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1755.2002.kid567.x.
- Chen, Yuhan, Qingyang Huang, Wen Liu, Qiong Zhu, Chun-Ping Cui, Liang Xu, Xing Guo, et al. 2018. "Mutually Exclusive Acetylation and Ubiquitylation of the Splicing Factor SRSF5 Control Tumor Growth." *Nature Communications* 9 (1): 2464. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04815-3.
- Cheng, Bill, Marine Montmasson, Laurent Terradot, and Patricia Rousselle. 2016. "Syndecans as Cell Surface Receptors in Cancer Biology. A Focus on Their Interaction with PDZ Domain Proteins." *Frontiers in Pharmacology* 7 (February). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2016.00010.
- Chiu, Yung-Cheng, Dong-Chen Shieh, Kwok-Man Tong, Chao-Ping Chen, Kui-Chou Huang, Po-Chun Chen, Yi-Chin Fong, Horng-Chang Hsu, and Chih-Hsin Tang. 2009.
 "Involvement of AdipoR Receptor in Adiponectin-Induced Motility and A2β1 Integrin Upregulation in Human Chondrosarcoma Cells." *Carcinogenesis* 30 (10): 1651–59. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgp156.
- Cho, J., and D. F. Mosher. 2006. "Role of Fibronectin Assembly in Platelet Thrombus Formation." *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 4 (7): 1461–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1538-7836.2006.01943.x.
- Collier, Ivan E, Scott M. Wilhelm, Arthur Z. Eisen, Barry L. Marmer, Gregory A. Grant,

Jo L. Seltzer, Annemarie Kronberger, Chengshe He, Eugene A. Bauer, and Gregory I. Goldberg. 1988. "H-Ras Oncogene-Transformed Human Bronchial EpithelialCells (TBE-1) Secretea Single Metalloprotease Capableof Degrading Basement MembraneCollagen." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 263 (May): 6579–87.

- Constantine, K L, S A Brew, K C Ingham, and M Llinás. 1992. "1H-n.m.r. Studies of the Fibronectin 13kDa Collagen-Binding Fragment. Evidence for Autonomous Conserved Type I and Type II Domain Folds." *Biochemical Journal* 283 (1): 247–54. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj2830247.
- Cophignon, Auréa, Mallorie Poët, Michael Monet, Michel Tauc, and Laurent Counillon. 2017. "CD95-Mediated Proton Regulation." In CD95, edited by Patrick Legembre, 1557:95–102. New York, NY: Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6780-3_9.
- Corbet, Cyril, and Olivier Feron. 2017. "Tumour Acidosis: From the Passenger to the Driver's Seat." *Nature Reviews Cancer* 17 (10): 577–93. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2017.77.
- Costantini, Alice, Helena Valta, Nissan Vida Baratang, Patrick Yap, Débora R. Bertola, Guilherme L. Yamamoto, Chong A. Kim, et al. 2019. "Novel Fibronectin Mutations and Expansion of the Phenotype in Spondylometaphyseal Dysplasia with 'Corner Fractures.'" *Bone* 121 (April): 163–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2018.12.020.
- Crawford, Susan E, Veronica Stellmach, Joanne E Murphy-Ullrich, Solange M F Ribeiro, Jack Lawler, Richard O Hynes, and Gregory P Boivin. 1998. "Thrombospondin-1 Is a Major Activator of TGFb In Vivo." Cell 93 (June): 1159–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81460-9.
- Cseh, B., S. Fernandez-Sauze, D. Grall, S. Schaub, E. Doma, and E. Van Obberghen-Schilling. 2010. "Autocrine Fibronectin Directs Matrix Assembly and Crosstalk between Cell-Matrix and Cell-Cell Adhesion in Vascular Endothelial Cells." *Journal of Cell Science* 123 (22): 3989–99. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.073346.
- Curino, Alejandro C., Lars H. Engelholm, Susan S. Yamada, Kenn Holmbeck, Leif R. Lund, Alfredo A. Molinolo, Niels Behrendt, Boye Schnack Nielsen, and Thomas H. Bugge. 2005. "Intracellular Collagen Degradation Mediated by UPARAP/Endo180 Is a Major Pathway of Extracellular Matrix Turnover during Malignancy." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 169 (6): 977–85. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200411153.
- Daley, William P, and Kenneth M Yamada. 2013. "ECM-Modulated Cellular Dynamics as a Driving Force for Tissue Morphogenesis." *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 23 (4): 408–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2013.05.005.
- Dallas, Sarah L., Qian Chen, and Pitchumani Sivakumar. 2006. "Dynamics of Assembly and Reorganization of Extracellular Matrix Proteins." In *Current Topics in Developmental Biology*, 75:1–24. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0070-2153(06)75001-3.
- Dallas, Sarah L., Douglas R. Keene, Scott P. Bruder, Juha Saharinen, Lynn Y. Sakai, Gregory R. Mundy, and Lynda F. Bonewald. 2000. "Role of the Latent Transforming Growth Factor β-Binding Protein 1 in Fibrillin-Containing Microfibrils in Bone Cells In Vitro and In Vivo." *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 15 (1): 68–81. https://doi.org/10.1359/jbmr.2000.15.1.68.
- Dallas, Sarah L., Pitchumani Sivakumar, Carolyn J. P. Jones, Qian Chen, Donna M. Peters,

Deane F. Mosher, Martin J. Humphries, and Cay M. Kielty. 2005. "Fibronectin Regulates Latent Transforming Growth Factor- β (TGF β) by Controlling Matrix Assembly of Latent TGF β -Binding Protein-1." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280 (19): 18871–80. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M410762200.

- Danen, Erik H. J. 2013. Integrins: An Overview of Structural and Functional Aspects. Landes Bioscience. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK6259/.
- Danen, Erik H. J., and Kenneth M. Yamada. 2001. "Fibronectin, Integrins, and Growth Control." *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 189 (1): 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.1137.
- Danen, Erik H.J., Jacco van Rheenen, Willeke Franken, Stephan Huveneers, Petra Sonneveld, Kees Jalink, and Arnoud Sonnenberg. 2005. "Integrins Control Motile Strategy through a Rho–Cofilin Pathway." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 169 (3): 515–26. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200412081.
- Danen, Erik H.J., Petra Sonneveld, Cord Brakebusch, Reinhard Fässler, and Arnoud Sonnenberg. 2002. "The Fibronectin-Binding Integrins A5β1 and Avβ3 Differentially Modulate RhoA–GTP Loading, Organization of Cell Matrix Adhesions, and Fibronectin Fibrillogenesis." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 159 (6): 1071–86. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200205014.
- Darribère, Thierry, Kareen Guida, Hannu Larjava, Kurt E Johnson, and Kenneth M Yamada. 1990. "In Vivo Analyses of Integrin/ 1 Subunit Function in Fibronectin Matrix Assembly." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 110 (May): 1813–23.
- Derynck, Rik, and Erine H Budi. 2019. "Specificity, Versatility, and Control of TGF-b Family Signaling." *SCIENCE SIGNALING*, 25.
- Derynck, Rik, Julie A. Jarrett, Ellson Y Chen, Dennis H. Eaton, John R. Bell, Richard K. Assoian, Anita B. Roberts, Michael B. Sporn, and David V. Goeddel. 1985. "Human Transforming Growth Factor-β Complementary DNA Sequence and Expression in Normal and Transformed Cells." *Nature* 316: 701–5.
- Dickinson, Craig D, David A Gay, Joseph Parello, Erkki Ruoslahti, and Kathryn R Ely. 1994. "Crystals of the Cell-Binding Module of Fibronectin Obtained from a Series of Recombinant Fragments Differing in Length." *Journal of Molecular Biology* 238: 123–27.
- Dickinson, Craig D, B Veerapandian, Xiao-Ping Dai, Ronald C Hamlin, Nguyen-huu Xuong, Erkki Ruoslahti, and Kathryn R Ely. 1994. "Crystal Structure of the Tenth Type III Cell Adhesion Module of Human Fibronectin." *Journal of Molecular Biology* 236: 1079–92.
- Dijke, Peter ten, and Helen M. Arthur. 2007. "Extracellular Control of TGFβ Signalling in Vascular Development and Disease." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 8 (11): 857–69. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2262.
- Dobzhansky, Theodosius. 1973. "Nothing in Biology Makes Sense except in the Light of Evolution." *The American Biology Teacher* 35 (3): 125–29. https://doi.org/10.2307/4444260.
- Dong, Mei, Tam How, Kellye C Kirkbride, Kelly J Gordon, Jason D Lee, Nadine Hempel, Patrick Kelly, Benjamin J Moeller, Jeffrey R Marks, and Gerard C Blobe. 2007. "The Type III TGF-β Receptor Suppresses Breast Cancer Progression." *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 117 (1): 12.
- Dong, Xianchi, Bo Zhao, Roxana E. Iacob, Jianghai Zhu, Adem C. Koksal, Chafen Lu, John R. Engen, and Timothy A. Springer. 2017. "Force Interacts with Macromolecular

Structure in Activation of TGF-β." *Nature* 542 (7639): 55–59. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21035.

- Du, K, Y Peng, L E Greenbaum, B A Haber, and R Taub. 1997. "HRS/SRp40-Mediated Inclusion of the Fibronectin EIIIB Exon, a Possible Cause of Increased EIIIB Expression in Proliferating Liver." *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 17 (7): 4096–4104. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.17.7.4096.
- Durbeej, Madeleine. 2010. "Laminins." Cell and Tissue Research 339 (1): 259–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-009-0838-2.
- Edwards, Gwynneth M., Fiona H. Wilford, Xiuwen Liu, Lothar Hennighausen, Jean Djiane, and Charles H. Streuli. 1998. "Regulation of Mammary Differentiation by Extracellular Matrix Involves Protein-Tyrosine Phosphatases." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273 (16): 9495–9500. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.16.9495.
- Engel, Jürgen, Erich Odermatt, Andreas Engel, Joseph A. Madri, Heinz Furthmayr, Heilwig Rohde, and Rupert Timpl. 1981. "Shapes, Domain Organizations and Flexibility of Laminin and Fibronectin, Two Multifunctional Proteins of the Extracellular Matrix." *Journal of Molecular Biology* 150 (1): 97–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(81)90326-0.
- Erickson, H P, N Carrell, and J McDonagh. 1981. "Fibronectin Molecule Visualized in Electron Microscopy: A Long, Thin, Flexible Strand." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 91 (3): 673–78. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.91.3.673.
- Etheredge, R.E., S. Han, E. Fossel, M.L. Tanzer, and M.J. Glimcher. 1985. "Identification and Quantitation of *O* -Phosphoserine in Human Plasma Fibronectin." *FEBS Letters* 186 (2): 259–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(85)80720-1.
- Fernandez-Sauze, Samantha, Dominique Grall, Botond Cseh, and Ellen Van Obberghen-Schilling. 2009. "Regulation of Fibronectin Matrix Assembly and Capillary Morphogenesis in Endothelial Cells by Rho Family GTPases." *Experimental Cell Research* 315 (12): 2092–2104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2009.03.017.
- Ffrench-Constant, C. 1989. "Reappearance of an Embryonic Pattern of Fibronectin Splicing during Wound Healing in the Adult Rat." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 109 (2): 903–14. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.109.2.903.
- Filla, Mark S., Jennifer A. Faralli, Harini Desikan, Jennifer L. Peotter, Abigail C. Wannow, and Donna M. Peters. 2019. "Activation of Avβ3 Integrin Alters Fibronectin Fibril Formation in Human Trabecular Meshwork Cells in a ROCK-Independent Manner." *Investigative Opthalmology & Visual Science* 60 (12): 3897. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.19-27171.
- Flaumenhaft, R. 1993. "Role of the Latent TGF-Beta Binding Protein in the Activation of Latent TGF-Beta by Co-Cultures of Endothelial and Smooth Muscle Cells." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 120 (4): 995–1002. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.120.4.995.
- Fogerty, F. J., S. K. Akiyama, K. M. Yamada, and D. F. Mosher. 1990. "Inhibition of Binding of Fibronectin to Matrix Assembly Sites by Anti-Integrin (Alpha 5 Beta 1) Antibodies." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 111 (August): 699–708.
- Frantz, C., K. M. Stewart, and V. M. Weaver. 2010. "The Extracellular Matrix at a Glance." *Journal of Cell Science* 123 (24): 4195–4200. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.023820.
- Fukuda, Tomohiko, Nobuaki Yoshida, Yuki Kataoka, Ri-ichiroh Manabe, Yoko Mizuno-Horikawa, Motohiko Sato, Kohji Kuriyama, Natsuo Yasui, and Kiyotoshi Sekiguchi.

2002. "Mice Lacking the EDB Segment of Fibronectin Develop Normally but Exhibit Reduced Cell Growth and Fibronectin Matrix Assembly in Vitro." *Cancer Research* 62 (October): 5603–10.

- Gahmberg, C. G., and S.-I. Hakomori. 1973. "Altered Growth Behavior of Malignant Cells Associated with Changes in Externally Labeled Glycoprotein and Glycolipid." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 70 (12): 3329–33. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.70.12.3329.
- George, Elizabeth L, Elisabeth N Georges-Labouesse, Ramila S Patel-King, Helen Rayburn, and Richard O Hynes. 1993. "Defects in Mesoderm, Neural Tube and Vascular Development in Mouse Embryos Lacking fibronectin." *Development* 119: 1079–91.
- Giancotti, Filippo G., and Erkki Ruoslahti. 1999. "Integrin Signaling." *Science* 285 (5430): 1028–33. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.285.5430.1028.
- Gillery, Philippe, François-Xavier Maquart, and Jean-Paul Borel. 1986. "Fibronectin Dependence of the Contraction of Collagen Lattices by Human Skin Fibroblasts." *Experimental Cell Research* 167 (1): 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(86)90201-6.
- Gingras, Alexandre R., Wolfgang H. Ziegler, Ronald Frank, Igor L. Barsukov, Gordon C. K. Roberts, David R. Critchley, and Jonas Emsley. 2005. "Mapping and Consensus Sequence Identification for Multiple Vinculin Binding Sites within the Talin Rod." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280 (44): 37217–24. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M508060200.
- Ginsberg, Mark H. 2014. "Integrin Activation." *BMB Reports* 47 (12): 655–59. https://doi.org/10.5483/BMBRep.2014.47.12.241.
- Gleizes, Pierre-Emmanuel, Ronald C Beavis, Roberta Mazzieri, Bin Shen, and Daniel B Rifkin. 1996. "Identification and Characterization of an Eight-Cysteine Repeat of the

Latent Transforming Growth Factor-" Binding Protein-1 That Mediates Bonding to the

Latent Transforming Growth Factor-¹." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 271 (47): 29891–96.

- Glukhova, M. A., Maria G. Frid, Boris V. Shekhonin, Tatiana D. Vasilevskaya, Jorg Grunwald, Marco Saginati, and Victor E. Koteliansky. 1989. "Expression of Extra Domain A Fibronectin Sequence in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells Is Phenotype Dependent." The Journal of Cell Biology 109 (1): 357–66. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.109.1.357.
- Gopal, Sandeep, Laurence Veracini, Dominique Grall, Catherine Butori, Sébastien Schaub, Stéphane Audebert, Luc Camoin, et al. 2017. "Fibronectin-Guided Migration of Carcinoma Collectives." *Nature Communications* 8 (1): 14105. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14105.
- Goult, Benjamin T, Mohamed Bouaouina, Paul R Elliott, Neil Bate, Bipin Patel, Alexandre R Gingras, J Günter Grossmann, et al. 2010. "Structure of a Double Ubiquitin-like Domain in the Talin Head: A Role in Integrin Activation." *The EMBO Journal* 29 (6): 1069–80. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2010.4.
- Guan, J. L., J. E. Trevithick, and R. O. Hynes. 1990. "Retroviral Expression of Alternatively Spliced Forms of Rat Fibronectin." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 110 (3): 833–47.

https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.110.3.833.

- Guido, Carmela, Diana Whitaker-Menezes, Claudia Capparelli, Renee Balliet, Zhao Lin, Richard G. Pestell, Anthony Howell, et al. 2012. "Metabolic Reprogramming of Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts by TGF-β Drives Tumor Growth: Connecting TGF-β Signaling with 'Warburg-like' Cancer Metabolism and L-Lactate Production." *Cell Cycle* 11 (16): 3019–35. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.21384.
- Gupta, Sunil, Michael R. Clarkson, Joseph Duggan, and Hugh R. Brady. 2000. "Connective Tissue Growth Factor: Potential Role in Glomerulosclerosis and Tubulointerstitial Fibrosis." *Kidney International* 58 (4): 1389–99. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00301.x.
- Haenggi, T., and J. -M. Fritschy. 2006. "Role of Dystrophin and Utrophin for Assembly and Function of the Dystrophin Glycoprotein Complex in Non-Muscle Tissue." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 63 (14): 1614–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-005-5461-0.
- Hallgren, Oskar, Johan Malmström, Lars Malmström, Annika Andersson-Sjöland, Marie Wildt, Ellen Tufvesson, Peter Juhasz, György Marko-Varga, and Gunilla Westergren-Thorsson. 2012. "Splicosomal and Serine and Arginine-Rich Splicing Factors as Targets for TGF-β." *Fibrogenesis & Tissue Repair* 5 (1): 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/1755-1536-5-6.
- Harris, Gemma, Wenjiang Ma, Lisa M. Maurer, Jennifer R. Potts, and Deane F. Mosher. 2014. "Borrelia Burgdorferi Protein BBK32 Binds to Soluble Fibronectin via the N-Terminal 70-KDa Region, Causing Fibronectin to Undergo Conformational Extension." Journal of Biological Chemistry 289 (32): 22490–99. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.578419.
- Hashimoto-Uoshima, Mariko, Ying Zhuo Yan, Galen Schneider, and Ikramuddin Aukhil. 1997. "The Alternatively Spliced Domains EIIIB and EIIIA of Human fibronectin Affect Cell Adhesion and Spreading." *Journal of Cell Science* 110: 2271–80.
- Haskill, S, C Johnson, D Eierman, S Becker, and K Warren. 1988. "Adherence Induces Selective MRNA Expression of Monocyte Mediators and Proto-Oncogenes." *The Journal of Immunology* 140 (5): 1690.
- Hata, Akiko, and Ye-Guang Chen. 2016. "TGF-β Signaling from Receptors to Smads." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 8 (9): a022061. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a022061.
- Heino, Jyrki. 2007. "The Collagen Family Members as Cell Adhesion Proteins." *BioEssays* 29 (10): 1001–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.20636.
- Heldin, Carl-Henrik, and Aristidis Moustakas. 2016. "Signaling Receptors for TGF-β Family Members." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 8 (8): a022053. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a022053.
- Hill, Caroline S. 2009. "Nucleocytoplasmic Shuttling of Smad Proteins." *Cell Research* 19 (1): 11.
- Hinck, Andrew P., Thomas D. Mueller, and Timothy A. Springer. 2016. "Structural Biology and Evolution of the TGF-β Family." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 8 (12): a022103. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a022103.
- Hino, Kazuo, Toshinaga Maeda, Kiyotoshi Sekiguchi, Kazuko Shiozawa, Hisanobu Hirano, Eiji Sakashita, and Shunichi Shiozawa. 1996. "Adherence of Synovial Cells on

EDA-Containing Fibronectin." Arthritis & Rheumatism 39 (10): 1685–92. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780391011.

- Hinz, Boris. 2013. "It Has to Be the Av: Myofibroblast Integrins Activate Latent TGF-B1." *Nature Medicine* 19 (12): 1567–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3421.
- – . 2015. "The Extracellular Matrix and Transforming Growth Factor-B1: Tale of a Strained Relationship." *Matrix Biology* 47 (September): 54–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2015.05.006.
- Hocking, D. C., J. Sottile, and P. J. McKeown-Longo. 1994. "Fibronectin's III-1 Module Contains a Conformation-Dependent Binding Site for the Amino-Terminal Region of Fibronectin." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 269 (29): 19183–87.
- Honda, S., H. Shirotani-Ikejima, S. Tadokoro, Y. Maeda, T. Kinoshita, Y. Tomiyama, and T. Miyata. 2009. "Integrin-Linked Kinase Associated with Integrin Activation." *Blood* 113 (21): 5304–13. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-07-169136.
- Huh, G S, and R O Hynes. 1993. "Elements Regulating an Alternatively Spliced Exon of the Rat Fibronectin Gene." *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 13 (9): 5301–14. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.13.9.5301.
- - . 1994. "Regulation of Alternative Pre-MRNA Splicing by a Novel Repeated Hexanucleotide Element." *Genes & Development* 8 (13): 1561–74. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.8.13.1561.
- Humphries, J. D. 2006. "Integrin Ligands at a Glance." *Journal of Cell Science* 119 (19): 3901–3. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.03098.
- Humphries, M. 2003. "Mapping Functional Residues onto Integrin Crystal Structures." *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* 13 (2): 236–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-440X(03)00035-6.
- Humphries, M. J. 1986. "Identification of an Alternatively Spliced Site in Human Plasma Fibronectin That Mediates Cell Type-Specific Adhesion." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 103 (6): 2637–47. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.103.6.2637.
- ---. 2000. "Integrin Structure." Biochemical Society Transactions 28 (4): 311-40. https://doi.org/10.1042/bst0280311.
- Humphries, M. J., A. Komoriya, S. K. Akiyama, K. Olden, and K. M. Yamada. 1987. "Identification of Two Distinct Regions of the Type III Connecting Segment of Human Plasma Fibronectin That Promote Cell Type-Specific Adhesion." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 262: 6886–92.
- Huse, Morgan, Tom W Muir, Lan Xu, Ye-Guang Chen, John Kuriyan, and Joan Massague.
 2001. "The TGFb Receptor Activation Process: An Inhibitor- to Substrate-Binding Switch." *Molecular Cell* 8 (3): 671–82.
- Hynes, R. O. 1973. "Alteration of Cell-Surface Proteins by Viral Transformation and by Proteolysis." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 70 (11): 3170–74. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.70.11.3170.
- Hynes, R. O., and A. Naba. 2012. "Overview of the Matrisome--An Inventory of Extracellular Matrix Constituents and Functions." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 4 (1): a004903–a004903. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a004903.
- Hynes, Richard O. 1974. "Role of Surface Alterations in Cell Transformation: The Importance of Proteases and Surface Proteins." *Cell* 1 (4): 147–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(74)90105-6.

- Hynes, Richard O. 1990. *Fibronectins*. New York, NY: Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-3264-3.
- – . 2002. "Integrins Bidirectional, Allosteric Signaling Machines." *Cell* 110 (6): 673–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00971-6.
- Hynes, Richard O. 2009. "The Extracellular Matrix: Not Just Pretty Fibrils." *Science* 326 (5957): 1216–19. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1176009.
- Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, O., J. M. Ervasti, C. J. Leveille, C. A. Slaughter, S. W. Sernett, and K. P. Campbell. 1992. "Primary Structure of Dystrophin-Associated Glycoproteins Linking Dystrophin to the Extracellular Matrix." *Nature* 355 (6362): 696–702.
- Ignotz, Ronald A, and Joan Massague. 1986. "Transforming GrowthFactor-@Stimulates the Expression of Fibronectin and Collagen and Their Incorporation the Extracellular Matrix." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 261 (March): 4337–45.
- Ingham, Kenneth C., Shelesa A. Brew, Sheela Huff, and Sergei V. Litvinovich. 1997. "Cryptic Self-Association Sites in Type III Modules of Fibronectin." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272 (3): 1718–24. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.3.1718.
- Inman, Gareth J. 2011. "Switching TGFβ from a Tumor Suppressor to a Tumor Promoter." *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 21 (1): 93–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2010.12.004.
- Iozzo, Renato V., and Liliana Schaefer. 2015. "Proteoglycan Form and Function: A Comprehensive Nomenclature of Proteoglycans." *Matrix Biology* 42 (March): 11–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2015.02.003.
- Isogai, Zenzo, Robert N. Ono, Shin Ushiro, Douglas R. Keene, Yan Chen, Roberta Mazzieri, Noe L. Charbonneau, Dieter P. Reinhardt, Daniel B. Rifkin, and Lynn Y. Sakai. 2003. "Latent Transforming Growth Factor β-Binding Protein 1 Interacts with Fibrillin and Is a Microfibril-Associated Protein." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278 (4): 2750–57. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M209256200.
- Ithychanda, Sujay Subbayya, Mitali Das, Yan-Qing Ma, Keyang Ding, Xiaoxia Wang, Sudhiranjan Gupta, Chuanyue Wu, Edward F. Plow, and Jun Qin. 2009. "Migfilin, a Molecular Switch in Regulation of Integrin Activation." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284 (7): 4713–22. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M807719200.
- Jarnagin, W. R. 1994. "Expression of Variant Fibronectins in Wound Healing: Cellular Source and Biological Activity of the EIIIA Segment in Rat Hepatic Fibrogenesis." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 127 (6): 2037–48. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.127.6.2037.
- Jenkins, G. 2008. "The Role of Proteases in Transforming Growth Factor-β Activation." *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* 40 (6–7): 1068–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2007.11.026.
- Johnson, Kamin J., Harvey Sage, Gina Briscoe, and Harold P. Erickson. 1999. "The Compact Conformation of Fibronectin Is Determined by Intramolecular Ionic Interactions." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274 (22): 15473–79. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.22.15473.
- Jones, G. E. 1986. "Fibronectin Glycosylation Modulates Fibroblast Adhesion and Spreading." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 103 (5): 1663–70. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.103.5.1663.
- Katayama, Seiichi, Mika Tagomori, Naomi Morita, Tsutomu Yamasaki, Hirofumi Nariya, Mariko Okada, Mariko Watanabe, and Yasuo Hitsumoto. 2015. "Determination of the

Clostridium Perfringens-Binding Site on Fibronectin." *Anaerobe* 34 (August): 174–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2014.11.007.

- Kato, Yasumasa, Shigeyuki Ozawa, Chihiro Miyamoto, Yojiro Maehata, Atsuko Suzuki, Toyonobu Maeda, and Yuh Baba. 2013. "Acidic Extracellular Microenvironment and Cancer." *Cancer Cell International* 13 (1): 89. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2867-13-89.
- Kaukonen, Riina, Anja Mai, Maria Georgiadou, Markku Saari, Nicola De Franceschi, Timo Betz, Harri Sihto, et al. 2016. "Normal Stroma Suppresses Cancer Cell Proliferation via Mechanosensitive Regulation of JMJD1a-Mediated Transcription." *Nature Communications* 7 (1): 12237. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12237.
- Kaur, Jasvir, and Dieter P Reinhardt. 2012. "Immobilized Metal Affinity Chromatography Co-Purifies TGF-B1 with Histidine-Tagged Recombinant Extracellular Proteins." *PLOS ONE* 7 (10): 12.
- Keely, Simon, Louise E. Glover, Christopher F. MacManus, Eric L. Campbell, Melanie M. Scully, Glenn T. Furuta, and Sean P. Colgan. 2008. "Selective Induction of Integrin B1 by Hypoxia-Inducible Factor: Implications for Wound Healing." *The FASEB Journal* 23 (5): 1338–46. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.08-125344.
- Keski-Oja, Jorma, Antti Vaheri, and Erkki Ruoslahti. 1976. "Fibroblast Surface Antigen (SF): THE External Glycoprotein Lost in Proteolytic Stimulation and Malignant Transformation." *International Journal of Cancer* 17 (2): 261–69. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910170215.
- Keum, Eunyoung, Yeonhee Kim, Jungyean Kim, Soojin Kwon, Yangmi Lim, Innoc Han, and Eok-Soo Oh. 2004. "Syndecan-4 Regulates Localization, Activity and Stability of Protein Kinase C-," 8.
- Khan, Zareen, and John F. Marshall. 2016. "The Role of Integrins in TGFβ Activation in the Tumour Stroma." *Cell and Tissue Research* 365 (3): 657–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-016-2474-y.
- Kielty, Cay M., Michael J. Sherratt, and C. Adrian Shuttleworth. 2002. "Elastic Fibres." *Journal of Cell Science* 115 (14): 2817.
- Kim, Chungho, Feng Ye, and MArk H Ginsberg. 2011. "Regulation OfIntegrin Activation." *The Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* 27 (1): 321–45. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100109-104104.
- Kingsley, Robert A., A. Marijke Keestra, Marcel R. De Zoete, and Andreas J. Bäumler.
 2004. "The ShdA Adhesin Binds to the Cationic Cradle of the Fibronectin 13FnIII Repeat Module: Evidence for Molecular Mimicry of Heparin Binding: ShdA Molecular Mimicry of Heparin." *Molecular Microbiology* 52 (2): 345–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.03995.x.
- Kinsey, R., M. R. Williamson, S. Chaudhry, K. T. Mellody, A. McGovern, S. Takahashi, C. A. Shuttleworth, and C. M. Kielty. 2008. "Fibrillin-1 Microfibril Deposition Is Dependent on Fibronectin Assembly." *Journal of Cell Science* 121 (16): 2696–2704. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.029819.
- Kintaka, Reiko, Koji Makanae, and Hisao Moriya. 2016. "Cellular Growth Defects Triggered by an Overload of Protein Localization Processes." *Scientific Reports* 6 (1): 31774. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep31774.
- Kitamura, Hideya, Stephanie Cambier, Sangeeta Somanath, Tyren Barker, Shunsuke Minagawa, Jennifer Markovics, Amanda Goodsell, et al. 2011. "Mouse and Human

Lung Fibroblasts Regulate Dendritic Cell Trafficking, Airway Inflammation, and Fibrosis through Integrin Avβ8-Mediated Activation of TGF-β." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 121 (7): 2863–75. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI45589.

- Klapholz, Benjamin, and Nicholas H. Brown. 2017. "Talin the Master of Integrin Adhesions." *Journal of Cell Science* 130 (15): 2435–46. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.190991.
- Klingberg, Franco, Grace Chau, Marielle Walraven, Stellar Boo, Anne Koehler, Melissa L. Chow, Abby L. Olsen, et al. 2018. "The Fibronectin ED-A Domain Enhances Recruitment of Latent TGF-β-Binding Protein-1 to the Fibroblast Matrix." *Journal of Cell Science* 131 (5): jcs201293. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.201293.
- Kocher, Olivier, Scott P Kennedy, and Joseph A Madri. 1990. "Alternative Splicing of Endothelial Cell Fibronectin MRNA in the IIICS Region" 13 (6): 16.
- Koike, T., N. Kimura, K. Miyazaki, T. Yabuta, K. Kumamoto, S. Takenoshita, J. Chen, et al. 2004. "Hypoxia Induces Adhesion Molecules on Cancer Cells: A Missing Link between Warburg Effect and Induction of Selectin-Ligand Carbohydrates." *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences 101 (21): 8132–37. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0402088101.
- Kollmannsberger, Philip, Michael Kerschnitzki, Felix Repp, Wolfgang Wagermaier, Richard Weinkamer, and Peter Fratzl. 2017. "The Small World of Osteocytes: Connectomics of the Lacuno-Canalicular Network in Bone." *New Journal of Physics* 19 (7): 073019. https://doi.org/10.1088/1367-2630/aa764b.
- Komoriya, Akira, Linda Green, Miljenko Mervic, Susan S. Yamada, Kenneth M. Yamada, and Martin J. Humphries. 1991. "The MinimalEssential Sequence for a Major Cell Type-Specific Adhesion Site (CS1)within the Alternatively Spliced Type I11 Connecting Segment Domain of FibronectiIns Leucine-Aspartic Acid- Valine"," 5.
- Kong, F., G. James, S. Gordon, A. Zelynski, and G. L. Gilbert. 2001. "Species-Specific PCR for Identification of Common Contaminant Mollicutes in Cell Culture." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 67 (7): 3195–3200. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.67.7.3195-3200.2001.
- Kong, T., H. K. Eltzschig, J. Karhausen, S. P. Colgan, and C. S. Shelley. 2004. "Leukocyte Adhesion during Hypoxia Is Mediated by HIF-1-Dependent Induction of 2 Integrin Gene Expression." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 101 (28): 10440–45. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0401339101.
- Krammer, A., H. Lu, B. Isralewitz, K. Schulten, and V. Vogel. 1999. "Forced Unfolding of the Fibronectin Type III Module Reveals a Tensile Molecular Recognition Switch." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 96 (4): 1351–56. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.4.1351.
- Kumra, Heena, and Dieter P. Reinhardt. 2018. "Fibrillins." In *Methods in Cell Biology*, 143:223–46. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.mcb.2017.08.013.
- Kutz, Stacie M, John Hordines, Paula J McKeown-Longo, and Paul J Higgins. 2001. "TGF-B1-Induced PAI-1 Gene Expression Requires MEK Activity and Cell-to-Substrate Adhesion." *Journal of Cell Science* 114 (July): 3905–14.
- Langenbach, Kurt J., and Jane Sottile. 1999. "Identification of Protein-Disulfide Isomerase Activity in Fibronectin." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274 (11): 7032–38. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.11.7032.

- Laterra, John, and Lloyd A Culp. 1982. "REQUIREMENT FOR AGGREGATION." The Journal of Biological Chemistry 257 (2): 719–26.
- Lawson, Christine, Ssang-Taek Lim, Sean Uryu, Xiao Lei Chen, David A. Calderwood, and David D. Schlaepfer. 2012. "FAK Promotes Recruitment of Talin to Nascent Adhesions to Control Cell Motility." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 196 (2): 223–32. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201108078.
- Leahy, Daniel J., Ikramuddin Aukhil, and Harold P. Erickson. 1996. "2.0 Å Crystal Structure of a Four-Domain Segment of Human Fibronectin Encompassing the RGD Loop and Synergy Region." *Cell* 84 (1): 155–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81002-8.
- Leask, Andrew, and David J Abraham. 2003. "The Role of Connective Tissue Growth Factor, a Multifunctional Matricellular Protein, in Fibroblast Biology." *Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 81 (6): 355–63. https://doi.org/10.1139/003-069.
- Lebbink, Robert Jan, Talitha de Ruiter, Jelle Adelmeijer, Arjan B. Brenkman, Joop M. van Helvoort, Manuel Koch, Richard W. Farndale, et al. 2006. "Collagens Are Functional, High Affinity Ligands for the Inhibitory Immune Receptor LAIR-1." *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 203 (6): 1419–25. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20052554.
- Lee, Ho-Sup, Chinten James Lim, Wilma Puzon-McLaughlin, Sanford J. Shattil, and Mark H. Ginsberg. 2009. "RIAM Activates Integrins by Linking Talin to Ras GTPase Membrane-Targeting Sequences." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284 (8): 5119–27. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M807117200.
- Lesot, Herve, Uwe Kühl, and Klaus von der Mark. 1983. "Isolation of a Laminin-Binding Protein from Muscle Cell Membranes." *The EMBO Journal* 2 (6): 861–65. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1460-2075.1983.tb01514.x.
- Levi-Schaffer, Francesca, Ekaterina Garbuzenko, Ann Rubin, Reuven Reich, Dalia Pickholz, Philippe Gillery, Herve Emonard, Arnon Nagler, and Francois A Xavier Maquart. 1999. "Human Eosinophils Regulate Human Lung- and Skin-Derived Fibroblast Properties in Vitro: A Role for Transforming Growth Factor ^{*} (TGF-^{*})." Cell Biology, 6.
- Li, Jing, Yang Su, Wei Xia, Yan Qin, Martin J Humphries, Dietmar Vestweber, Carlos Cabañas, Chafen Lu, and Timothy A Springer. 2017. "Conformational Equilibria and Intrinsic Affinities Define Integrin Activation." *The EMBO Journal* 36 (5): 629–45. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201695803.
- Li, M. L., J. Aggeler, D. A. Farson, C. Hatier, J. Hassell, and M. J. Bissell. 1987. "Influence of a Reconstituted Basement Membrane and Its Components on Casein Gene Expression and Secretion in Mouse Mammary Epithelial Cells." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 84 (1): 136–40. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.84.1.136.
- Liao, Yung-Feng, Philip J. Gotwals, Victor E. Koteliansky, Dean Sheppard, and Livingston Van De Water. 2002. "The EIIIA Segment of Fibronectin Is a Ligand for Integrins $\alpha_{9}\beta_{1}$ and $\alpha_{4}\beta_{1}$ Providing a Novel Mechanism for Regulating Cell Adhesion by Alternative Splicing." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277 (17): 14467–74. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M201100200.
- Liénart, Stéphanie, Romain Merceron, Christophe Vanderaa, Fanny Lambert, Didier Colau, Julie Stockis, Bas van der Woning, et al. 2018. "Structural Basis of Latent TGF-B1 Presentation and Activation by GARP on Human Regulatory T Cells." *Science* 362
(6417): 952–56. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau2909.

- Lim, Lee P., and Phillip A. Sharp. 1998. "Alternative Splicing of the Fibronectin EIIIB Exon Depends on Specific TGCATG Repeats." *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 18 (7): 3900–3906. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.18.7.3900.
- Lipson, Kenneth E, Carol Wong, Yuchin Teng, and Suzanne Spong. 2012. "CTGF Is a Central Mediator of Tissue Remodeling and Fibrosis and Its Inhibition Can Reverse the Process of Fibrosis." *Fibrogenesis & Tissue Repair* 5 (S1): S24. https://doi.org/10.1186/1755-1536-5-S1-S24.
- Liu, Shouchun, Sheila M Thomas, Darren G Woodside, David M Rose, William B Kiosses, Martin Pfaff, and Mark H Ginsberg. 1999. "Binding of Paxillin to __4 Integrins Modifies Integrin-Dependent Biological Responses" 402: 6.
- Lopez-Casillas, F., H. M. Payne, J. L. Andres, and Joan Massagué. 1994. "Betaglycan Can Act as a Dual Modulator of TGF-Beta Access to Signaling Receptors: Mapping of Ligand Binding and GAG Attachment Sites." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 124 (4): 557–68.
- Lucero, H. A., and H. M. Kagan. 2006. "Lysyl Oxidase: An Oxidative Enzyme and Effector of Cell Function." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 63 (19–20): 2304–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-006-6149-9.
- Main, Alison L., Timothy S. Harvey, Martin Baron, Jonathan Boyd, and Iain D. Campbell. 1992. "The Three-Dimensional Structure of the Tenth Type III Module of Fibronectin: An Insight into RGD-Mediated Interactions." *Cell* 71 (4): 671–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(92)90600-H.
- Malinoff, H. L. 1983. "Isolation of a Cell Surface Receptor Protein for Laminin from Murine Fibrosarcoma Cells." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 96 (5): 1475–79. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.96.5.1475.
- Manabe, Ri-ichiroh, Naoko Oh-e, Toshinaga Maeda, Tomohiko Fukuda, and Kiyotoshi Sekiguchi. 1997. "Modulation of Cell-Adhesive Activity of Fibronectin by the Alternatively Spliced EDA Segment." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 139 (1): 295–307. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.139.1.295.
- Manabe, Ri-ichiroh, Naoko Oh-e, and Kiyotoshi Sekiguchi. 1999. "Alternatively Spliced EDA Segment Regulates Fibronectin-Dependent Cell Cycle Progression and Mitogenic Signal Transduction." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274 (9): 5919–24. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.9.5919.
- Mao, Yong, and Jean E. Schwarzbauer. 2005. "Fibronectin Fibrillogenesis, a Cell-Mediated Matrix Assembly Process." *Matrix Biology* 24 (6): 389–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2005.06.008.
- Mayne, Richard, Randolph G. Brewton, Pauline M. Mayne, and Baker John R. 1993. "Isolation and Characterization of the Chainsof Type V/TypeXI Collagen Present in Bovine Vitreous." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 268 (13): 9381–86.
- McDonald, John A, Bradley J Quade, Thomas J Broekelmann, Rhonda LaChance, Karen Forsman, Etsuko Hasegawa, and Steven K. Akiyama. 1987. "Fibronectin's Cell-AdhesiveDomain and AnAmino-Terminal Matrix Assembly Domain Participate InIts Assembly into Fibroblast Pericellular Matrix." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 262 (7): 2957–67.
- McKeown-Longo, P. J. 1985. "Interaction of the 70,000-Mol-Wt Amino-Terminal Fragment of Fibronectin with the Matrix-Assembly Receptor of Fibroblasts." The

Journal of Cell Biology 100 (2): 364-74. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.100.2.364.

- Menko, A.Sue, and David Boettiger. 1987. "Occupation of the Extracellular Matrix Receptor, Integrin, Is a Control Point for Myogenic Differentiation." *Cell* 51 (1): 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(87)90009-2.
- Meyaard, L. 2008. "The Inhibitory Collagen Receptor LAIR-1 (CD305)." Journal of Leukocyte Biology 83 (4): 799–803. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0907609.
- Miyamoto, S. 1996. "Integrins Can Collaborate with Growth Factors for Phosphorylation of Receptor Tyrosine Kinases and MAP Kinase Activation: Roles of Integrin Aggregation and Occupancy of Receptors." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 135 (6): 1633–42. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.135.6.1633.
- Monaghan, Elizabeth, Volodia Gueorguiev, Cynthia Wilkins-Port, and Paula J. McKeown-Longo. 2004. "The Receptor for Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator Regulates Fibronectin Matrix Assembly in Human Skin Fibroblasts." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279 (2): 1400–1407. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M310374200.
- Montanaro, Federica, Michael Lindenbaum, and Salvatore Carbonetto. 1999. "_-Dystroglycan Is a Laminin Receptor Involved in Extracellular Matrix." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 145: 16.
- Morgan, Mark R., Martin J. Humphries, and Mark D. Bass. 2007. "Synergistic Control of Cell Adhesion by Integrins and Syndecans." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 8 (12): 957–69. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2289.
- Moriya, Hisao. 2015. "Quantitative Nature of Overexpression Experiments." Edited by Orna Cohen-Fix. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 26 (22): 3932–39. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E15-07-0512.
- Moro, L. 1998. "Integrins Induce Activation of EGF Receptor: Role in MAP Kinase Induction and Adhesion-Dependent Cell Survival." *The EMBO Journal* 17 (22): 6622– 32. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/17.22.6622.
- Morrison, Peter R., John T. Edsall, and Susan G. Miller. 1948. "Preparation and Properties of Serum and Plasma Proteins. XVIII. The Separation of Purified Fibrinogen from Fraction I of Human Plasma." *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 70 (9): 3103–8. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01189a080.
- Moses, Harold L, Anita B Roberts, and Rik Derynck. 2016. "The Discovery and Early Days of TGF-b: A Historical Perspective." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 8 (7): 26.
- Mosesson, M. W., and R. A. Umfleet. 1970. "The Cold-Insoluble Globulin of Human Plasma." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 245 (21): 5728–36.
- Mostafavi-Pour, Z., J.A. Askari, J.D. Whittard, and M.J. Humphries. 2001. "Identification of a Novel Heparin-Binding Site in the Alternatively Spliced IIICS Region of Fibronectin: Roles of Integrins and Proteoglycans in Cell Adhesion to Fibronectin Splice Variants." *Matrix Biology* 20 (1): 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0945-053X(00)00131-1.
- Mould, A. P., A. Komoriya, K. M. Yamada, and M. J. Humphries. 1991. "The CS5 Peptide Is a Second Site in the IIICS Region of Fibronectin Recognized by the Integrin Alpha 4 Beta 1. Inhibition of Alpha 4 Beta 1 Function by RGD Peptide Homologues." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 266: 3579–85.
- Moyano, Jose V, Barbara Carnemolla, Juan P Albar, Alessandra Leprini, Barbara Gaggero, Luciano Zardi, and Angeles Garcia-Pardo. 1999. "IDENTIFICATION OF A

NOVEL HEPARIN AND CELL BINDING SEQUENCE IN REPEAT III5." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274 (1): 135–42.

Moyano, Jose V, Barbara Carnemolla, Carmen Dominguez-Jimenez, Mercedes Garcia-Gila, Juan P Albar, Paloma Sanchez-Aparicio, Alessandra Leprini, Germano Querze, Luciano Zardi, and Angeles Garcia-Pardo. 1997. "Fibronectin Type III5 Repeat Contains a Novel Cell Adhesion Sequence, KLDAPT, Which Binds Activated _4*1

and __4^v7 Integrins." The Journal of Biological Chemistry 272 (October): 24832–36.

- Muiznieks, Lisa D., Anthony S. Weiss, and Fred W. Keeley. 2010. "Structural Disorder and Dynamics of ElastinThis Paper Is One of a Selection of Papers Published in This Special Issue Entitled 'Canadian Society of Biochemistry, Molecular & Cellular Biology 52nd Annual Meeting Protein Folding: Principles and Diseases' and Has Undergone the Journal's Usual Peer Review Process." *Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 88 (2): 239–50. https://doi.org/10.1139/O09-161.
- Mullen, L. M., S. P. Nair, J. M. Ward, A. N. Rycroft, R. J. Williams, G. Robertson, N. J. Mordan, and B. Henderson. 2008. "Novel Adhesin from Pasteurella Multocida That Binds to the Integrin-Binding Fibronectin FnIII9-10 Repeats." *Infection and Immunity* 76 (3): 1093–1104. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01349-07.
- Munger, J. S., and D. Sheppard. 2011. "Cross Talk among TGF- Signaling Pathways, Integrins, and the Extracellular Matrix." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 3 (11): a005017–a005017. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a005017.
- Munger, John S, Xiaozhu Huang, Hisaaki Kawakatsu, Mark J D Griffiths, Stephen L Dalton, and Jianfeng Wu. 1999. "The Integrin Avb6 Binds and Activates Latent TGF¹ 1: A Mechanism for Regulating Pulmonary Inflammation and Fibrosis." *Cell* 96 (3): 319–28.
- Muro, Andrés F., Massimo Caputi, Rajalakshmi Pariyarath, Franco Pagani, Emanuele Buratti, and Francisco E. Baralle. 1999. "Regulation of Fibronectin EDA Exon Alternative Splicing: Possible Role of RNA Secondary Structure for Enhancer Display." Molecular and Cellular Biology 19 (4): 2657–71. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.19.4.2657.
- Muro, Andrés F., Anil K. Chauhan, Srecko Gajovic, Alessandra Iaconcig, Fabiola Porro, Giorgio Stanta, and Francisco E. Baralle. 2003. "Regulated Splicing of the Fibronectin EDA Exon Is Essential for Proper Skin Wound Healing and Normal Lifespan." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 162 (1): 149–60. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200212079.
- Muro, Andrés F., Federico A. Moretti, Bethany B. Moore, Mei Yan, Rachelle G. Atrasz, Carol A. Wilke, Kevin R. Flaherty, et al. 2008. "An Essential Role for Fibronectin Extra Type III Domain A in Pulmonary Fibrosis." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 177 (6): 638–45. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200708-1291OC.
- Naba, Alexandra, Karl R Clauser, Sebastian Hoersch, Steven A Carr, and Richard O Hynes. 2012. "The Matrisome: In Silico Definition and In Vivo Characterization by Proteomics of Normal and Tumor Extracellular Matrices* \Box S," 18.
- Ngo, Peter, Punitha Ramalingam, Jonathan A Phillips, and Glenn T Furuta. 2006. "Collagen Gel Contraction Assay." *Methods in Molecular Biology*, Cell-Cell Interactions, 341: 7. https://doi.org/10.1385/1-59745-113-4:103.
- Ni, H., P. S. T. Yuen, J. M. Papalia, J. E. Trevithick, T. Sakai, R. Fassler, R. O. Hynes, and

D. D. Wagner. 2003. "Plasma Fibronectin Promotes Thrombus Growth and Stability in Injured Arterioles." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 100 (5): 2415–19. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2628067100.

- Nickel, Joachim, Peter ten Dijke, and Thomas D Mueller. 2018. "TGF-β Family Co-Receptor Function and Signaling." *Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica* 50 (1): 12–36. https://doi.org/10.1093/abbs/gmx126.
- Nunes, Irene, Pierre-Emmanuel Gleizes, Christine N. Metz, and Daniel B Rifkin. 1997. "Latent Transforming Growth Factor-β Binding Protein Domains Involved in Activation and Transglutaminase-Dependent Cross-Linking of Latent Transforming Growth Factor-β." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 136 (5): 1151–63. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.136.5.1151.
- Obreo, Juana, Luisa Díez-Marques, Santiago Lamas, Annette Düwell, Nélida Eleno, Carmelo Bernabéu, Atanasio Pandiella, José López-Novoa, and Alicia Rodríguez-Barbero. 2004. "Endoglin Expression Regulates Basal and TGF-B1-Induced Extracellular Matrix Synthesis in Cultured L₆E₉ Myoblasts." *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry* 14 (4–6): 301–10. https://doi.org/10.1159/000080340.
- Ohashi, Tomoo, and Harold P. Erickson. 2005. "Domain Unfolding Plays a Role in Superfibronectin Formation." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280 (47): 39143–51. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M509082200.
- Okamura, Yoshinori, Michiko Watari, Elliot S. Jerud, Donna W. Young, Sally T. Ishizaka, Jeffrey Rose, Jesse C. Chow, and Jerome F. Strauss. 2001. "The Extra Domain A of Fibronectin Activates Toll-like Receptor 4." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276 (13): 10229–33. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M100099200.
- Olden, K., R. M. Pratt, and K. M. Yamada. 1979. "Role of Carbohydrate in Biological Function of the Adhesive Glycoprotein Fibronectin." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 76 (7): 3343–47. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.76.7.3343.
- Olsen, Oddrun Elise, Anette Skjærvik, Berit Fladvad Størdal, Anders Sundan, and Toril Holien. 2017. "TGF-β Contamination of Purified Recombinant GDF15." Edited by Marie Jose Goumans. *PLOS ONE* 12 (11): e0187349. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0187349.
- Ono, Robert N., Gerhard Sengle, Noe L. Charbonneau, Valerie Carlberg, Hans Peter Bächinger, Takako Sasaki, Sui Lee-Arteaga, et al. 2009. "Latent Transforming Growth Factor β-Binding Proteins and Fibulins Compete for Fibrillin-1 and Exhibit Exquisite Specificities in Binding Sites." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284 (25): 16872–81. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M809348200.
- Oyama, Fumitaka, Yoshiharu Murata, Nobuhiko Suganuma, Toshio Kimura, Koiti Titani, and Kiyotoshi Sekiguchi. 1989. "Patterns of Alternative Splicing of Fibronectin Pre-MRNA in Human Adult and Fetal Tissues." *Biochemistry* 28 (3): 1428–34. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00429a072.
- Ozhogina, Olga A, and Ma Ria Trexler. 2001. "Origin of Fibronectin Type II (FN2) Modules: Structural Analyses of Distantly-Related Members of the Kringle Family Identify the Kringle Domain of Neurotrypsin as a Potential Link between FN2 Domains and Kringles." *Protein Science* 10: 2114–22.
- Pagani, Franco, Laura Zagato, Jeanette A.M. Maier, Giovanni Ragnotti, Domenico A. Coviello, and Carlo Vergani. 1993. "Expression and Alternative Splicing of Fibronectin

MRNA in Human Diploid Endothelial Cells during Aging in Vitro." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*) - *Gene Structure and Expression* 1173 (2): 172–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-4781(93)90178-G.

- Pankov, R., and K. M. Yamada. 2002. "Fibronectin at a Glance." *Journal of Cell Science* 115 (20): 3861–63. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.00059.
- Parker, Matthew W., Daniel Rossi, Mark Peterson, Karen Smith, Kristina Sikström, Eric S. White, John E. Connett, Craig A. Henke, Ola Larsson, and Peter B. Bitterman. 2014.
 "Fibrotic Extracellular Matrix Activates a Profibrotic Positive Feedback Loop." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 124 (4): 1622–35. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI71386.
- Paul, J.I., and R.O. Hynes. 1984. "Multiple Fibronectin Subunits and Their Post-Translational Modifications." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 259 (November): 13477–87.
- Pavlides, Stephanos, Diana Whitaker-Menezes, Remedios Castello-Cros, Neal Flomenberg, Agnieszka K. Witkiewicz, Philippe G. Frank, Mathew C. Casimiro, et al. 2009. "The Reverse Warburg Effect: Aerobic Glycolysis in Cancer Associated Fibroblasts and the Tumor Stroma." *Cell Cycle* 8 (23): 3984–4001. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.8.23.10238.
- Pereda, Jose M. de, Kate L. Wegener, Eugenio Santelli, Neil Bate, Mark H. Ginsberg, David R. Critchley, Iain D. Campbell, and Robert C. Liddington. 2005. "Structural Basis for Phosphatidylinositol Phosphate Kinase Type Iγ Binding to Talin at Focal Adhesions." Journal of Biological Chemistry 280 (9): 8381–86. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M413180200.
- Petkov, Nikolay. 1995. "Biologically Motivated Computationally Intensive Approaches to Image Pattern Recognition." *Future Generation Computer Systems* 11 (4–5): 451–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-739X(95)00015-K.
- Pickford, Andrew R, Jennifer R Potts, Jeremy R Bright, Isabelle Phan, and Iain D Campbell. 1997. "Solution Structure of a Type 2 Module from Fibronectin: Implications for the Structure and Function of the Gelatin-Binding Domain." *Structure* 5 (3): 359–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0969-2126(97)00193-7.
- Pickup, M. W., J. K. Mouw, and V. M. Weaver. 2014. "The Extracellular Matrix Modulates the Hallmarks of Cancer." *EMBO Reports* 15 (12): 1243–53. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201439246.
- Pierschbacher, Michael D., and Erkki Ruoslahti. 1984. "Cell Attachment Activity of Fibronectin Can Be Duplicated by Small Synthetic Fragments of the Molecule." *Nature* 309: 30–33.
- Potts, Jennifer R., Jeremy R. Bright, David Bolton, Andrew R. Pickford, and Iain D. Campbell. 1999. "Solution Structure of the N-Terminal F1 Module Pair from Human Fibronectin^{+,+}." *Biochemistry* 38 (26): 8304–12. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi990202b.
- Prasad, J., and J. L. Manley. 2003. "Regulation and Substrate Specificity of the SR Protein Kinase Clk/Sty." *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 23 (12): 4139–49. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.23.12.4139-4149.2003.
- Pytela, Robert, Michael D. Pierschbacher, and Erkki Ruoslahti. 1985. "Identification and Isolation of a 140 Kd Cell Surface Glycoprotein with Properties Expected of a Fibronectin Receptor." *Cell* 40 (1): 191–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(85)90322-8.
- Rainero, Elena, Jonathan D. Howe, Patrick T. Caswell, Nigel B. Jamieson, Kurt Anderson,

David R. Critchley, Laura Machesky, and Jim C. Norman. 2015. "Ligand-Occupied Integrin Internalization Links Nutrient Signaling to Invasive Migration." *Cell Reports* 10 (3): 398–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2014.12.037.

- Reis Monteiro, Maria Luíza Gonçalves dos, Fabiano Bichuette Custódio, Precil Diego Miranda de Menezes Neves, Frederico Moraes Ferreira, Elieser Hitoshi Watanabe, Antônio Marcondes Lerário, Liliane Silvano de Araújo, et al. 2019. "A Novel Single Amino Acid Deletion Impairs Fibronectin Function and Causes Familial Glomerulopathy with Fibronectin Deposits: Case Report of a Family." BMC Nephrology 20 (1): 322. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12882-019-1507-7.
- Renshaw, M. W. 1997. "Growth Factor Activation of MAP Kinase Requires Cell Adhesion." *The EMBO Journal* 16 (18): 5592–99. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/16.18.5592.
- Ricard-Blum, S. 2011. "The Collagen Family." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 3 (1): a004978–a004978. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a004978.
- Ridley, Anne J, Martin A Schwartz, Keith Burridge, Richard A. Firtel, Mark H. Ginsberg, Gary Borisy, J. Thomas Parsons, and Alan Rick Horwitz. 2003. "Cell Migration: Integrating Signals from Front to Back." *Science* 302 (5651): 1704–9. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1092053.
- Rifkin, Daniel B. 2005. "Latent Transforming Growth Factor-β (TGF-β) Binding Proteins: Orchestrators of TGF-β Availability." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280 (9): 7409–12. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R400029200.
- Riser, Bruce L, Mark Denichilo, Pedro Cortes, Cathryn Baker, Janet M Grondin, Jerry Yee, and Robert G Narins. 2000. "Regulation of Connective Tissue Growth Factor Activity in Cultured Rat Mesangial Cells and Its Expression in Experimental Diabetic Glomerulosclerosis." J Am Soc Nephrol, 14.
- Roberts, Anita B, Mario A Anzano, Lalage M Wakefield, Nanette S Roche, DAVID F STERNt, and Michael B Sporn. 1985. "Type β Transforming Growth Factor: A Bifunctional Regulator of Cellular Growth." *Proc. NatL Acad Sci. USA*, 5.
- Robertson, Ian B, and Daniel B Rifkin. 2016. "Regulation of the Bioavailability of TGF-b and TGF-b-Related Proteins." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 8 (6): 25.
- Ruder, Sebastian. 2017. "An Overview of Gradient Descent Optimization Algorithms." *ArXiv:1609.04747* [*Cs*], June. http://arxiv.org/abs/1609.04747.
- Ruoslahti, E, and M. Pierschbacher. 1987. "New Perspectives in Cell Adhesion: RGD and Integrins." *Science* 238 (4826): 491–97. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2821619.
- Ruoslahti, Erkki, and Antti Vaheri. 1974. "Novel Human Serum Protein from Fibroblast Plasma Membrane." *Nature* 248: 789–91.
- ---. 1975. "INTERACTION OF SOLUBLE FIBROBLAST SURFACE ANTIGEN WITH FIBRINOGEN AND FIBRIN." The Journal of Experimental Medicine 141: 5.
- Rybak, Jascha-N., Christoph Roesli, Manuela Kaspar, Alessandra Villa, and Dario Neri. 2007. "The Extra-Domain A of Fibronectin Is a Vascular Marker of Solid Tumors and Metastases." *Cancer Research* 67 (22): 10948–57. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1436.
- Ryu, Mi Heon, Hyung Mok Park, Jin Chung, Chang Hun Lee, and Hae Ryoun Park. 2010. "Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1a Mediates Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma Invasion via Upregulation of A5 Integrin and Fibronectin." *Biochemical and Biophysical Research*

Communications 393 (1): 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.01.060.

- Sabatier, Laetitia, Daliang Chen, Christine Fagotto-Kaufmann, Dirk Hubmacher, Marc D. McKee, Douglas S. Annis, Deane F. Mosher, and Dieter P. Reinhardt. 2009. "Fibrillin Assembly Requires Fibronectin." Edited by Jean E. Schwarzbauer. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 20 (3): 846–58. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e08-08-0830.
- Saito, Shigeki, Noboru Yamaji, Kunio Yasunaga, Tetsu Saito, Shun-ichiro Matsumoto, Masao Katoh, Seiji Kobayashi, and Yasuhiko Masuho. 1999. "The Fibronectin Extra Domain A Activates Matrix Metalloproteinase Gene Expression by an Interleukin-1-Dependent Mechanism." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274 (43): 30756–63. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.43.30756.
- Sakai, L. Y. 1986. "Fibrillin, a New 350-KD Glycoprotein, Is a Component of Extracellular Microfibrils." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 103 (6): 2499–2509. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.103.6.2499.
- Sakai, Takao, Kamin J. Johnson, Michihiro Murozono, Keiko Sakai, Marc A. Magnuson, Tadeuz Wieloch, Tobias Cronberg, Atsushi Isshiki, Harold P. Erickson, and Reinhard Fässler. 2001. "Plasma Fibronectin Supports Neuronal Survival and Reduces Brain Injury Following Transient Focal Cerebral Ischemia but Is Not Essential for Skin-Wound Healing and Hemostasis." Nature Medicine 7 (3): 324–30. https://doi.org/10.1038/85471.
- Sandberg, Lawrence B., Norman Weissman, and William R. Gray. 1971. "Structural Features of Tropoelastin Related to the Sites of Cross-Links in Aortic Elastin." *Biochemistry* 10 (1): 52–56. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00777a008.
- Santas, Amy J., Jennifer A. Peterson, Jennifer L. Halbleib, Sue E. Craig, Martin J. Humphries, and Donna M. Pesciotta Peters. 2002. "Alternative Splicing of the IIICS Domain in Fibronectin Governs the Role of the Heparin II Domain in Fibrillogenesis and Cell Spreading." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277 (16): 13650–58. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111361200.
- Saoncella, S., F. Echtermeyer, F. Denhez, J. K. Nowlen, D. F. Mosher, S. D. Robinson, R. O. Hynes, and P. F. Goetinck. 1999. "Syndecan-4 Signals Cooperatively with Integrins in a Rhodependent Manner in the Assembly of Focal Adhesions and Actin Stress Fibers." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 96 (6): 2805–10. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.6.2805.
- Sasarman, Florin, Catalina Maftei, Philippe M. Campeau, Catherine Brunel-Guitton, Grant A. Mitchell, and Pierre Allard. 2016. "Biosynthesis of Glycosaminoglycans: Associated Disorders and Biochemical Tests." *Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease* 39 (2): 173–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10545-015-9903-z.
- Satoi, Sohei, Yoshifumi Hiramatsu, Hiroaki Kitade, A-Hon Kwon, Kosuke Matsui, Keiichi Miyashita, Eiji Sakashita, Kiyotoshi Sekiguchi, Hakuo Takahashi, and Yasuo Kamiyama. 1999. "DIFFERENT RESPONSES TO SURGICAL STRESS BETWEEN EXTRA DOMAIN A+ AND PLASMA FIBRONECTINS." Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology 26 (3): 225–29. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1681.1999.03019.x.
- Saunders, Jared T., and Jean E. Schwarzbauer. 2019. "Fibronectin Matrix as a Scaffold for Procollagen Proteinase Binding and Collagen Processing." Edited by Mark H. Ginsberg. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 30 (17): 2218–26.

https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E19-03-0140.

- Sawicka, Katarzyna M., Markus Seeliger, Tagai Musaev, Lauren K. Macri, and Richard A.F. Clark. 2015. "Fibronectin Interaction and Enhancement of Growth Factors: Importance for Wound Healing." *Advances in Wound Care* 4 (8): 469–78. https://doi.org/10.1089/wound.2014.0616.
- Schaefer, Liliana, and Roland M. Schaefer. 2010. "Proteoglycans: From Structural Compounds to Signaling Molecules." *Cell and Tissue Research* 339 (1): 237–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-009-0821-y.
- Schiefner, André, Michaela Gebauer, and Arne Skerra. 2012. "Extra-Domain B in Oncofetal Fibronectin Structurally Promotes Fibrillar Head-to-Tail Dimerization of Extracellular Matrix Protein." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 287 (21): 17578–88. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.303131.
- Schindelin, Johannes, Ignacio Arganda-Carreras, Erwin Frise, Verena Kaynig, Mark Longair, Tobias Pietzsch, Stephan Preibisch, et al. 2012. "Fiji: An Open-Source Platform for Biological-Image Analysis." *Nature Methods* 9 (7): 676–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2019.
- Schwarzbauer, J. E. 1989. "Selective Secretion of Alternatively Spliced Fibronectin Variants." The Journal of Cell Biology 109 (6): 3445–53. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.109.6.3445.
- Schwarzbauer, J. E., and D. W. DeSimone. 2011. "Fibronectins, Their Fibrillogenesis, and In Vivo Functions." Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology 3 (7): a005041–a005041. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a005041.
- Schwarzbauer, J. E., R. S. Patel, D. Fonda, and R. O. Hynes. 1987. "Multiple Sites of Alternative Splicing of the Rat Fibronectin Gene Transcript." *The EMBO Journal* 6 (9): 2573–80. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1460-2075.1987.tb02547.x.
- Schwarzbauer, Jean E. 1991. "Identification of the Fibronectin Sequences Required for Assembly of a FibriUar Matrix." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 113: 11.
- Schwarzbauer, Jean E. 1991. "Alternative Splicing of Fibronectin: Three Variants, Three Functions." *BioEssays* 13 (10): 527–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.950131006.
- Schwarz-Linek, Ulrich, Magnus Höök, and Jennifer R. Potts. 2004. "The Molecular Basis of Fibronectin-Mediated Bacterial Adherence to Host Cells: Bacterial Fibronectin-Binding Proteins." *Molecular Microbiology* 52 (3): 631–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.04027.x.
- Screaton, G. R., J. F. Cáceres, A. Mayeda, M. V. Bell, M. Plebanski, D. G. Jackson, J. I. Bell, and A. R. Krainer. 1995. "Identification and Characterization of Three Members of the Human SR Family of Pre-MRNA Splicing Factors." *The EMBO Journal* 14 (17): 4336– 49. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb00108.x.
- Sengle, Gerhard, and Lynn Y. Sakai. 2015. "The Fibrillin Microfibril Scaffold: A Niche for Growth Factors and Mechanosensation?" *Matrix Biology* 47 (September): 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2015.05.002.
- Sens, Carla, Katrin Huck, Stefan Pettera, Stephan Uebel, Guido Wabnitz, Markus Moser, and Inaam A. Nakchbandi. 2017. "Fibronectins Containing Extradomain A or B Enhance Osteoblast Differentiation via Distinct Integrins." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 292 (19): 7745–60. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M116.739987.
- Serini, Guido, Marie-Luce Bochaton-Piallat, Patricia Ropraz, Antoine Geinoz, Laura

Borsi, Luciano Zardi, and Giulio Gabbiani. 1998. "The Fibronectin Domain ED-A Is Crucial for Myofibroblastic Phenotype Induction by Transforming Growth Factor-"." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 142: 9.

- Shi, Yongsheng, and James L. Manley. 2007. "A Complex Signaling Pathway Regulates SRp38 Phosphorylation and Pre-MRNA Splicing in Response to Heat Shock." *Molecular Cell* 28 (1): 79–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2007.08.028.
- Shinde, Arti V., Christopher Bystroff, Chunyu Wang, Mariette G. Vogelezang, Peter A. Vincent, Richard O. Hynes, and Livingston Van De Water. 2008. "Identification of the Peptide Sequences within the EIIIA (EDA) Segment of Fibronectin That Mediate Integrin A9β1-Dependent Cellular Activities." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283 (5): 2858–70. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M708306200.
- Shrivastava, Ajay, Czeslaw Radziejewski, Ernest Campbell, Lubomir Kovac, Marion McGlynn, Terence E Ryan, Sam Davis, et al. 1997. "An Orphan Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Family Whose Members Serve as Nonintegrin Collagen Receptors." *Molecular Cell* 1 (1): 25–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80004-0.
- Silver, Daniel P., and David M. Livingston. 2001. "Self-Excising Retroviral Vectors Encoding the Cre Recombinase Overcome Cre-Mediated Cellular Toxicity." *Molecular Cell* 8 (1): 233–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00295-7.
- Singh, Purva, Cara Carraher, and Jean E. Schwarzbauer. 2010. "Assembly of Fibronectin Extracellular Matrix." *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* 26 (1): 397–419. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100109-104020.
- Smith, Richard T., and Richard W. Von Korff. 1957. "A Heparin-Precipitable Fraction of Human Plasma. I. Isolation and Characterization of the Fraction1." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 36 (4): 596–604. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI103459.
- Sottile, Jane, and Denise C. Hocking. 2002. "Fibronectin Polymerization Regulates the Composition and Stability of Extracellular Matrix Fibrils and Cell-Matrix Adhesions." Edited by Martin Schwartz. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 13 (10): 3546–59. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e02-01-0048.
- Stefanelli, Victoria L., Shilpa Choudhury, Ping Hu, Yining Liu, Anja Schwenzer, Chiuan-Ren Yeh, Dwight M. Chambers, et al. 2019. "Citrullination of Fibronectin Alters Integrin Clustering and Focal Adhesion Stability Promoting Stromal Cell Invasion." *Matrix Biology* 82 (September): 86–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2019.04.002.
- Su, Shicheng, and Jianing Chen. 2015. "Collagen Gel Contraction Assay." *Protocol Exchange*, September. https://doi.org/10.1038/protex.2015.082.
- Sugden, Wade W., and Arndt F. Siekmann. 2018. "Endothelial Cell Biology of Endoglin in Hereditary Hemorrhagic Telangiectasia:" *Current Opinion in Hematology* 25 (3): 237– 44. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOH.00000000000419.
- Suter, David M., Laetitia Cartier, Esther Bettiol, Diderik Tirefort, Marisa E. Jaconi, Michel Dubois-Dauphin, and Karl-Heinz Krause. 2006. "Rapid Generation of Stable Transgenic Embryonic Stem Cell Lines Using Modular Lentivectors." *Stem Cells* 24 (3): 615–23. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0226.
- Szegedy, Christian, Wei Liu, Yangqing Jia, Pierre Sermanet, Scott Reed, Dragomir Anguelov, Dumitru Erhan, Vincent Vanhoucke, and Andrew Rabinovich. 2015.
 "Going Deeper with Convolutions." In 2015 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR), 1–9. Boston, MA, USA: IEEE.

https://doi.org/10.1109/CVPR.2015.7298594.

- Takada, Yoshikazu, Xiaojing Ye, and Scott Simon. 2007. "The Integrins." *Genome Biology* 8 (5): 215. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2007-8-5-215.
- Takahashi, Seiichiro, Michael Leiss, Markus Moser, Tomoo Ohashi, Tomoe Kitao, Dominik Heckmann, Alexander Pfeifer, et al. 2007. "The RGD Motif in Fibronectin Is Essential for Development but Dispensable for Fibril Assembly." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 178 (1): 167–78. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200703021.
- Tan, Michelle H., Zhengwu Sun, Sarah L. Opitz, Tracy E. Schmidt, John H. Peters, and Elizabeth L. George. 2004. "Deletion of the Alternatively Spliced Fibronectin EIIIA Domain in Mice Reduces Atherosclerosis." *Blood* 104 (1): 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2003-09-3363.
- Tang, Chih-Hsin, and Mu-En Lu. 2009. "Adiponectin Increases Motility of Human Prostate Cancer Cells via AdipoR, P38, AMPK, and NF-KB Pathways." *The Prostate* 69 (16): 1781–89. https://doi.org/10.1002/pros.21029.
- Terranova, V. P., C. N. Rao, T. Kalebic, I. M. Margulies, and L. A. Liotta. 1983. "Laminin Receptor on Human Breast Carcinoma Cells." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 80 (2): 444–48. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.80.2.444.
- Theocharis, Achilleas D., Chrisostomi Gialeli, Panagiotis Bouris, Efstathia Giannopoulou, Spyros S. Skandalis, Alexios J. Aletras, Renato V. Iozzo, and Nikos K. Karamanos. 2014. "Cell-Matrix Interactions: Focus on Proteoglycan-Proteinase Interplay and Pharmacological Targeting in Cancer." *FEBS Journal* 281 (22): 5023–42. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.12927.
- Theocharis, Achilleas D., Spyridon S. Skandalis, George N. Tzanakakis, and Nikos K. Karamanos. 2010. "Proteoglycans in Health and Disease: Novel Roles for Proteoglycans in Malignancy and Their Pharmacological Targeting: Proteoglycans as Potential Pharmacological Targets." *FEBS Journal* 277 (19): 3904–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2010.07800.x.
- Theocharis, Achilleas D., Spyros S. Skandalis, Chrysostomi Gialeli, and Nikos K. Karamanos. 2016. "Extracellular Matrix Structure." *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 97 (February): 4–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2015.11.001.
- Townley, Robert A, and Hannes E Bülow. 2018. "Deciphering Functional Glycosaminoglycan Motifs in Development." *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* 50 (June): 144–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2018.03.011.
- Trapani, Valeria, Paolo Bonaldo, and Diana Corallo. 2017. "Role of the ECM in Notochord Formation, Function and Disease." *Journal of Cell Science* 130 (19): 3203–11. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.175950.
- Tsang, Tiffany M., Douglas S. Annis, Malte Kronshage, Jesse T. Fenno, Lisa D. Usselman, Deane F. Mosher, and Eric S. Krukonis. 2012. "Ail Protein Binds Ninth Type III Fibronectin Repeat (⁹ FNIII) within Central 120-KDa Region of Fibronectin to Facilitate Cell Binding by Yersinia Pestis." Journal of Biological Chemistry 287 (20): 16759–67. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.358978.
- Tucker, Richard P., and Ruth Chiquet-Ehrismann. 2009. "Evidence for the Evolution of Tenascin and Fibronectin Early in the Chordate Lineage." *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* 41 (2): 424–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2008.08.003.
- Turley, Eva A., Paul W. Noble, and Lilly Y. W. Bourguignon. 2002. "Signaling Properties

of Hyaluronan Receptors." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277 (7): 4589–92. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R100038200.

- Udani, M, Q Zen, M Cottman, N Leonard, S Jefferson, C Daymont, G Truskey, and M J Telen. 1998. "Basal Cell Adhesion Molecule/Lutheran Protein. The Receptor Critical for Sickle Cell Adhesion to Laminin." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 101 (11): 2550–58. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI1204.
- Van Obberghen-Schilling, Ellen, Richard P. Tucker, Falk Saupe, Isabelle Gasser, Botond Cseh, and Gertraud Orend. 2011. "Fibronectin and Tenascin-C: Accomplices in Vascular Morphogenesis during Development and Tumor Growth." *The International Journal of Developmental Biology* 55 (4–5): 511–25. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.103243eo.
- Ventura, Elisa, Francesca Sassi, Arianna Parodi, Enrica Balza, Laura Borsi, Patrizia Castellani, Barbara Carnemolla, and Luciano Zardi. 2010. "Alternative Splicing of the Angiogenesis Associated Extra-Domain B of Fibronectin Regulates the Accessibility of the B-C Loop of the Type III Repeat 8." Edited by Alfred Lewin. PLoS ONE 5 (2): e9145. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009145.
- Ventura, Elisa, Michael Weller, Will Macnair, Katja Eschbach, Christian Beisel, Cinzia Cordazzo, Manfred Claassen, Luciano Zardi, and Isabel Burghardt. 2018. "TGF-β Induces Oncofetal Fibronectin That, in Turn, Modulates TGF-β Superfamily Signaling in Endothelial Cells." *Journal of Cell Science* 131 (1): jcs209619. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.209619.
- Vert, Jean-Philippe, Nicolas Foveau, Christian Lajaunie, and Yves Vandenbrouck. 2006. "An Accurate and Interpretable Model for SiRNA Efficacy Prediction." BMC Bioinformatics 7 (1): 520. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-7-520.
- Viedt, Christiane, Antje Bürger, and G. Maria Hänsch. 1995. "Fibronectin Synthesis in Tubular Epithelial Cells: Up-Regulation of the EDA Splice Variant by Transforming Growth Factor β." *Kidney International* 48 (6): 1810–17. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.1995.479.
- Vogel, Viola. 2006. "MECHANOTRANSDUCTION INVOLVING MULTIMODULAR PROTEINS: Converting Force into Biochemical Signals." *Annual Review of Biophysics and Biomolecular Structure* 35 (1): 459–88. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biophys.35.040405.102013.
- Vogel, Wolfgang F., Rahim Abdulhussein, and Caroline E. Ford. 2006. "Sensing Extracellular Matrix: An Update on Discoidin Domain Receptor Function." *Cellular Signalling* 18 (8): 1108–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2006.02.012.
- Vogel, Wolfgang, Gerald D Gish, Frauke Alves, and Tony Pawson. 1997. "The Discoidin Domain Receptor Tyrosine Kinases Are Activated by Collagen." *Molecular Cell* 1 (1): 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80003-9.
- Wagenseil, Jessica E., and Robert P. Mecham. 2007. "New Insights into Elastic Fiber Assembly." *Birth Defects Research Part C: Embryo Today: Reviews* 81 (4): 229–40. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdrc.20111.
- Walker, Cameron, Elijah Mojares, and Armando del Río Hernández. 2018. "Role of Extracellular Matrix in Development and Cancer Progression." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 19 (10): 3028. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19103028.
- Wang, A., D. S. Cohen, E. Palmer, and D. Sheppard. 1991. "Polarized Regulation of

Fibronectin Secretion and Alternative Splicing by Transforming Growth Factor." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 266 (24): 15598–601.

- Wang, Jian Feng, Xue-Feng Zhang, and Jerome E. Groopman. 2001. "Stimulation of β 1 Integrin Induces Tyrosine Phosphorylation of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor-3 and Modulates Cell Migration." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276 (45): 41950–57. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M101370200.
- Wang, Shaohe, Rei Sekiguchi, William P. Daley, and Kenneth M. Yamada. 2017. "Patterned Cell and Matrix Dynamics in Branching Morphogenesis." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 216 (3): 559–70. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201610048.
- Wang, Shujie, Takashi Watanabe, Kenji Matsuzawa, Akira Katsumi, Mai Kakeno, Toshinori Matsui, Feng Ye, et al. 2012. "Tiam1 Interaction with the PAR Complex Promotes Talin-Mediated Rac1 Activation during Polarized Cell Migration." The Journal of Cell Biology 199 (2): 331–45. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201202041.
- Wang, Tongwen, Patricia K Donahoe, and Antonis S Zervos. 1994. "Specific Interaction of Type I Receptors of the TGFb Family with the Immunophilin FKBP-1 2." *Science* 265: 3.
- Watt, Fiona M., and Wilhelm T. S. Huck. 2013. "Role of the Extracellular Matrix in Regulating Stem Cell Fate." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 14 (8): 467–73. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3620.
- Ween, Miranda P., Martin K. Oehler, and Carmela Ricciardelli. 2012. "Transforming Growth Factor-Beta-Induced Protein (TGFBI)/(Big-H3): A Matrix Protein with Dual Functions in Ovarian Cancer." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 13 (8): 10461– 77. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms130810461.
- Wegener, Kate L., Jaswir Basran, Clive R. Bagshaw, Iain D. Campbell, Gordon C.K. Roberts, David R. Critchley, and Igor L. Barsukov. 2008. "Structural Basis for the Interaction between the Cytoplasmic Domain of the Hyaluronate Receptor Layilin and the Talin F3 Subdomain." *Journal of Molecular Biology* 382 (1): 112–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2008.06.087.
- Wennerberg, Krister, Lars Lohikangas, Donald Gullberg, Martin Pfaff, Staffan Johansson, and Reinhard Fiissler. 1996. "[31 Integrin-Dependent and -Independent Polymerization of Fibronectin." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 132: 12.
- White, Es, Fe Baralle, and Af Muro. 2008. "New Insights into Form and Function of Fibronectin Splice Variants." *The Journal of Pathology* 216 (1): 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.2388.
- Wienke, Dirk, John R. MacFadyen, and Clare M. Isacke. 2003. "Identification and Characterization of the Endocytic Transmembrane Glycoprotein Endo180 as a Novel Collagen Receptor." *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 14 (9): 3592–3604. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e02-12-0814.
- Wieser, Rotraud, Jeffrey L Wrana, and Joan Massague. 1995. "GS Domain Mutations That Constitutively Activate T R-I, the Downstream Signaling Component in the TGF-,B Receptor Complex." *The EMBO Journal* 14 (10): 2199–2208.
- Wilcox-Adelman, Sarah A., Fabienne Denhez, and Paul F. Goetinck. 2002. "Syndecan-4 Modulates Focal Adhesion Kinase Phosphorylation." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277 (36): 32970–77. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M201283200.
- Williams, Michael J., Isabelle Phan, Timothy S. Harvey, Agueda Rostagno, Leslie I. Gold,

and Iain D. Campbell. 1994. "Solution Structure of a Pair of Fibronectin Type 1 Modules with Fibrin Binding Activity." *Journal of Molecular Biology* 235 (4): 1302–11. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmbi.1994.1083.

- Wise, Steven G., and Anthony S. Weiss. 2009. "Tropoelastin." *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* 41 (3): 494–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2008.03.017.
- Wolff, I., R. Timpl, I. Pecker, and C. Steffen. 1967. "A Two-Component System of Human Serum Agglutinating Gelatine-Coated Erythrocytes." *Vox Sanguinis* 12 (6): 443–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.1967.tb03373.x.
- Woods, Anne. 2001. "Syndecans: Transmembrane Modulators of Adhesion and Matrix Assembly." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 107 (8): 935–41. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI12802.
- Worthington, John J, Joanna E Klementowizc, and Mark A Travis. 2011. "TGFβ: A Sleeping Giant Awoken by Integrins." *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 36 (1): 47–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2010.08.002.
- Wu, Chuanyue. 2004. "The PINCH–ILK–Parvin Complexes: Assembly, Functions and Regulation." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research* 1692 (2–3): 55– 62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2004.01.006.
- Wu, Jiann-Jiu, Mary Ann Weis, Lammy S. Kim, Bryan G. Carter, and David R. Eyre. 2009. "Differences in Chain Usage and Cross-Linking Specificities of Cartilage Type V/XI Collagen Isoforms with Age and Tissue." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284 (9): 5539– 45. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M806369200.
- Xia, Ping, and Lloyd A. Culp. 1995. "Adhesion Activity in Fibronectin's Alternatively Spliced Domain EDA: Complementarity to Plasma Fibronectin Functions." *Experimental Cell Research* 217: 517–27.
- Xu, Jielin, and Deane Mosher. 2011. "Fibronectin and Other Adhesive Glycoproteins." In *The Extracellular Matrix: An Overview*, edited by Robert P. Mecham, 41–75. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-16555-9_2.
- Xu, Xiaoou Helen, Prediman K. Shah, Emmanuelle Faure, Ozlem Equils, Lisa Thomas, Michael C. Fishbein, Daniel Luthringer, et al. 2001. "Toll-Like Receptor-4 Is Expressed by Macrophages in Murine and Human Lipid-Rich Atherosclerotic Plaques and Upregulated by Oxidized LDL." *Circulation* 104 (25): 3103–8. https://doi.org/10.1161/hc5001.100631.
- Yalak, Garif, Jau-Ye Shiu, Ingmar Schoen, Maria Mitsi, and Viola Vogel. 2019. "Phosphorylated Fibronectin Enhances Cell Attachment and Upregulates Mechanical Cell Functions." Edited by Jung Weon Lee. PLOS ONE 14 (7): e0218893. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218893.
- Yamada, K M, D W Kennedy, K Kimata, and R M Pratt. 1980. "Characterization of Fibronectin Interactions with Glycosaminoglycans and Identification of Active Proteolytic Fragments." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 255 (13): 6055–63.
- Yamada, K. M., and K. Olden. 1978. "Fibronectins Adhesive Glycoproteins of Cell Surface and Blood." *Nature* 275 (September): 179–84.
- Yamada, K. M., and J. A. Weston. 1974. "Isolation of a Major Cell Surface Glycoprotein from Fibroblasts." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 71 (9): 3492–96. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.71.9.3492.

- Yamauchi, Mitsuo, Thomas H. Barker, Don L. Gibbons, and Jonathan M. Kurie. 2018. "The Fibrotic Tumor Stroma." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 128 (1): 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI93554.
- Yang, Joy T, Helen Rayburn, and Richard O Hynes. 1993. "Embryonic Mesodermal Defects in 5 Integrin-Deficient Mice." *Development* 119: 1093–1105.
- Yang, Sisi, Rong Jia, and Zhuan Bian. 2018. "SRSF5 Functions as a Novel Oncogenic Splicing Factor and Is Upregulated by Oncogene SRSF3 in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research* 1865 (9): 1161– 72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2018.05.017.
- Yoshida, Go J. 2015. "Metabolic Reprogramming: The Emerging Concept and Associated Therapeutic Strategies." *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research* 34 (1): 111. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-015-0221-y.
- Yusuf, Batul, Renjitha Gopurappilly, Nidheesh Dadheech, Sarita Gupta, Ramesh Bhonde, and Rajarshi Pal. 2013. "Embryonic Fibroblasts Represent a Connecting Link between Mesenchymal and Embryonic Stem Cells." *Development, Growth & Differentiation* 55 (3): 330–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/dgd.12043.
- Zhang, Q., William J Checovich, Donna M. Peters, Ralph M. Albrecht, and Dean F. Mosher. 1994. "Modulation of Cell Surface Fibronectin Assembly Sites by Lysophosphatidic Acid." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 127 (5): 1447–59. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.127.5.1447.
- Zhang, Yun, Peter B. Alexander, and Xiao-Fan Wang. 2017. "TGF-β Family Signaling in the Control of Cell Proliferation and Survival." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 9 (4): a022145. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a022145.
- Zhong, Cuiling, Magdalena Chrzanowska-Wodnicka, James Brown, Amy Shaub, Alexey M. Belkin, and Keith Burridge. 1998. "Rho-Mediated Contractility Exposes a Cryptic Site in Fibronectin and Induces Fibronectin Matrix Assembly." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 141 (2): 539–51. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.141.2.539.
- Zilberberg, Lior, Vesna Todorovic, Branka Dabovic, Masahito Horiguchi, Thomas Couroussé, Lynn Y. Sakai, and Daniel B. Rifkin. 2012. "Specificity of Latent TGF-β Binding Protein (LTBP) Incorporation into Matrix: Role of Fibrillins and Fibronectin." *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 227 (12): 3828–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.24094.
- Zollinger, Alicia J., and Michael L. Smith. 2017. "Fibronectin, the Extracellular Glue." *Matrix Biology* 60–61 (July): 27–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2016.07.011.

7. Annex 1: Fibronectin Timeline

1948 - A protein fraction separable from the bulk of the fibrinogen in Cohn fraction I (**Morisson et al**)

1955 - The "Morisson" fraction is a mixture of several components among which is the "cold insoluble globulin" and some fibrinogen (Edsall et al)

1957 - A protein in heparin-induced precipitate of plasma has properties similar to cold insoluble globulin (**Smith and van Korff**)

1967 - Partial purification of a plasma fraction that precipitated with gelatin (**Wolff** et al)

1968 - A cryoprecipitate was observed in plasma from a patient with intravascular coagulation syndrome. It contained fibrinogen and another component (**Mosesson et al**)

1970 - Cold insoluble globulin was purified to homogeneity from plasma cryoprecipitate. It is found in fibrin clot during coagulation and in platelet lysates (Mosesson and Umfleet)

1973 - A large glycoprotein (galactoprotein a) was identified on the cell surface of fibroblasts that was lost upon oncogenic transformation by tumor viruses (**Hynes et al; Gahmberg and Hakamori**)

1973 - An antiserum was described that recognized a fibroblast surface antigen – SF-A (**Ruoslahti et al**)

1974 - The aforementioned antiserum reacts both with SF-A as well as an antigen in the serum (**Ruoslahti, Vaheri et al**)

1974 - Isolation of the Large Cell Surface Protein (CSP) from fibroblasts, which proved to be the same as galactoprotein a (**Yamada and Weston**)

1974 - CSP depends on the growth state in normal cells (Hynes and Bye)

1974 - A serum factor promotes cell adhesion to collagen (Klebe)

1974 - SFA localization was studied by immunofluorescence and scanning electron microscopy of chick embryo fibroblasts. The antigen was found to membrane processes and ridges, it was removed upon trypsin treatment, and it almost undetected after transformation by RSV (Wartiovaara et al)

1975 - The serum protein is identified as the cold insoluble globulin (**Ruoslahti and Vaheri**)

1975 - The cold insoluble protein is probably very similar to the large cell surface protein

1976 - A serum factor promotes cell adhesion to plastic (**Grinnell**). This factor (and the previously mentioned one -Klebe) were shown to be identical with cold insoluble protein

1976 - An anti-CIG antibody is used to study the localization of the large external transformation sensitive protein in adenovirus-transformed cell lines and in established tumor cell lines. The cold insoluble globulin in blood plasma is the soluble form of the cell surface protein (**Chen et al**)

1977 - Both the plasma and the cellular protein were involved in various aspects of cell adhesion and morphology (**several references**)

1977 - The gelatin affinity chromatography was developed as a rapid and simple method for purifying both forms of the protein (**Engvall and Ruoslahti**)

1977 - The term "fibronectins" was coined, to denote a class of large glycoproteins widely distribution, that interacted with a variety of other molecules, and were involved in cellular adhesion (see reviews of **Vaheri and Mosher 1978**; **Yamada and Olden 1978**)

1982 - A relatively clear outline of fibronectin structure and function emerged (See Mosher 1980; Ruoslahti et al 1981; Hynes 1981; Hynes and Yamada 1982)

1983 - Isolation of cDNA clones for FN from a rat liver library in the expression vector λ gt11. Restriction mapping and sequencing reveal at least three different FN mRNAs in rat mRNA liver which differ in coding potential. The three mRNAs probably arise from a single gene by alternative splicing (**JE Schwarzbauer**)

1984 - Four independent FN cDNA clones were established from a library with a synthetic oligonucleotide primer. Two different FN mRNA species were detected: mRNA I and mRNA II are both found in a human cell line, but mRNA I is undetectable in the liver. This mRNA species harbors an Extra Domain (ED) of 270 nucleotides that corresponds to a 90 amino acids type III repeat near the C-terminus of FN (**Kornblihtt AR et al**)

1984 - With the use of five independent cDNA clones and S1 nuclease mapping, the aforementioned mRNA species were found to be cell type specific with mRNA I being expressed only by normal fibroblasts in culture, hepatoma cells, and breast tumor cells. Furthermore, with sequence alignment a 89nt alternatively spliced region in the C-terminal end of human FN was described (**Kornblihtt A et al**)

1984 - By using a monoclonal antibody which inhibits cell attachment, the domain within the fibronectin molecule which endows it with the ability to interact with the cell surface of fibroblasts was isolated as a peptidic fragment, and the complete amino acid sequence was determined (**Pierschbacher M et al**)

1987 - Through isolation of the human genomic clone containing part of the human FN locus, restriction mapping, and S1 nuclease mapping, a second type III repeat was found to be alternatively spliced through an exon skipping mechanism (**Gutman A et al**)

1988 - In situ hybridization in developing chicken embryos shows the distribution and alternative splicing of FN mRNA (**Ffrench-Constant C et al**)

1988 - Using a monoclonal antibody specific for EDA, inclusion of the extra domain was studied upon treatment of normal human fibroblasts with transforming growth factor β , and dexamethasone. While the latter does not significantly change the ratio between the total FN and the EDA-FN, TGF β preferentially increases the expression of the FN isoform containing the EDA sequence (**Balza E et al**)

1989 - Construction of α-globin – fibronectin minigenes containing the EDA and/or EDB regions and expression of the minigenes in different cell lines shows that all the information required to produce accurate and regulated alternative splicing is contained within the fragments, and cell specific factors are necessary for differential splicing across various cell lines (**Barone MV et al**)

1989 - The distribution of the different spliced forms of FN in developing chicken embryos was determined using probes specific for the spliced regions in ribonuclease protection and in situ hybridization experiments. Spatially distinct splicing differences where described with cell-type-specific splicing excluding EIIIA and/or EIIIB in some tissues (**Ffrench-Constant C et al**)

1989 - In situ hybridization with segment-specific probes was performed on healing wounds in adult rat skin. FN expression is increased after wounding and the pattern of FN mRNA splicing was different, resembling that found during early embryogenesis (**Ffrench-Constant C et al**)

1989 - Focus on the V region of the rat fibronectin and its role in FN secretion. Fragments of FN (deminectins) containing the V120 or the V95 segments are readily secreted, while the V0 containing fragments never reach the cell surface and are most probably degraded intracellularly. Co-expression of V0 and V120 fragments leads in the formation of heterodimers among which the ones containing only the V0 are retained intracellularly (**Schwarzbauer J et al**)

1990 - Utilizing the S1 nuclease analysis, the levels of EDA and EDB containing mRNAs of FN in cultured normal human skin fibroblasts before and after TGF β treatment were examined. It was shown that TGF β increases the relative amount of mRNA for EDA and EDB containing FN isoforms, demonstrating that a growth factor may regulate the splicing pattern of a pre-mRNA (**Borsi L et al**)

1990 - Retroviral vectors containing the full-length rat FN with or without the extra domain and/or the variable region were generated (8 variants in total). Constructs were stably expressed in NIH 3T3 cells (*not FN -/-*), and in lymphoid WEHI231 cells for rFN variant isolation. A-B-, B+, A+, V+ promote adhesion and spreading in all cell lines tested. All FN isoforms induced cytoskeletal organization. Cell migration was studied with a modification of the Boyden chamber approach. All variants promoted cell migration to similar extents. Incorporation of variants into matrix was tested. The inclusion of EDA or EDB enhances the ability of FN to incorporate into existing matrix. Observation that the lymphoid cell line that expresses the IIICS+ FN attaches on the

bottom of the culture dish instead of being a suspension culture as the control (**Guan J** et al)

1991 - Inclusion of EDA, EDB and the different regions of the IIICS was assessed by RT-PCR in cells derived from young and old rats, as well as from different human cell lines. It was observed that aging tissues show a decreased inclusion of the alternatively spliced regions. Additionally, the inclusion of the extra domains was enhanced in permanent cell lines compared to primary cultures, probably due to the presence of growth factors. Indeed, TGF β -1, retinoic acid, and 1.25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 can all change the alternative splicing of FN pre-mRNA in the EDA, EDB, and IIICS exons (Magnuson VL et al)

1992 - Using nuclear magnetic resonance techniques, the solution structure of the tenth FNIII repeat has been determined. The cell binding domain is found in the repeat and is composed of an Arg-Gly-Asp tripeptide that lies on a mobile loop between strands FN and G (Main AL et al)

1992 - Generation of an antibody against EDB and subsequent staining of different clones that express different forms of FN or an EDB-containing β -galactosidase-FN fusion protein. The antibody is specific for EDB containing FN but does not bind to EDB itself. The recognized epitope lies within the adjacent FNIII₇ domain and it is masked when EDB is absent, clearly demonstrating that the presence of the EDB generates conformational modification in the central part of the molecule (**Carnemolla B et al**)

1993 - The FN gene was inactivated in a rat model by deleting the translation initiation sequence. Homozygous mutant embryos show severe defects in mesodermally derived tissues related to mesodermal migration, adhesion, proliferation or differentiation. Heterozygous embryos express half the amount of normally produced FN, yet are normal (**George EL et al**)

1994 - A series of mutated fragments harboring the FN-EDA domain were transfected into cell lines to study the differential RNA processing. Two short nucleotide sequences have been described: one positive modulator (element A) and a negative modulator (element B) within the sequence of FN-EDA (**Caputi M et al**)

1994 - The expression of EDA and EDB FN was measured in an experimental hepatic fibrosis model in the rat. EDA-FN was expressed 12h after injury preceding fibrosis, while EDB-FN was expressed at lower level with a 24h lag. EDA expression was confirmed in a cell culture model. Matrices deposited by endothelial cells from injured liver accelerated the conversion (activation) of normal lipocytes to myofibroblast-like cells, while pretreatment with a specific anti-EDA antibody blocked this response. Finally, recombinant 6xHis-tagged FN peptides containing EDA promoted the activation of normal lipocytes in culture (Jarnagin WR et al)

1995 - RT-PCR was used to estimate the FN transcription rate and inclusion of EDA and EDB before and after partial hepatectomy in rats. Despite the fact that the liver is the major source of plasma FN, which is characterized by the absence of EDA and EDB, in the rat regenerating liver there is a significant reprogramming of the splicing machinery that results in the synthesis by the liver of up to 17% of EDA-FN linked with all the IIICS forms. On the other hand, EDB is completely absent both in normal and regenerating liver (**Caputi M et al**)

1995 - Human plasma FN and recombinant FN segments (FNIII₁₁, FNIII₁₂, EDA) expressed in bacteria were used to show that EDA has a complementary action to that of plasma FN in promoting adhesions and transmembrane signaling responses, including organizations of stress fibers and assembly of focal contacts (**Xia P et al**)

1997 - Alternative splicing of EDB (in the level of mRNA and protein) was studied in rats during liver growth. HRS expression correlated with expression of FN containing EDB in a temporal manner, particularly in non-parenchymal liver cells. Using a FN-EDB minigene it was shown that HRS has the potential to mediate inclusion of EDB during processing of FN pre-mRNA (**Keyong D et al**)

1997 - Full length human recombinant F variants, MBP-FN fragment fusion proteins, and GST-FN fragment fusion proteins were generated. The full-length FN construct harboring the extra domains include the IIICS120 region and were expressed as chimeric proteins with the signal sequence of human protein C inhibitor. HT1080 cells were plated on FN coated substrates. EDA+ FN was significantly more potent than EDA- FN in promoting cell spreading and cell migration, irrespective of the presence or absence of the second alternatively spliced EDB (**Manabe R et al**)

1997 - Full length human FN isoforms differing in the presence or absence of the EDA and/or EDB segments were constructed to test their cell-adhesive activities, promotion of cell spreading, and cell migration. EDA+ FN was more potent in promoting cell spreading, migration, irrespective of the presence or absence of a second alternatively spliced segment (EDB). The cell spreading activity of EDA+ FN was not affected by antibodies recognizing the EDA segment but was abolished by antibodies against α 5 β 1 and by Gly-Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser-Pro peptide, indicating that the EDA segment enhanced the cell-adhesive activity of FN by potentiating the interaction of FN with α 5 β 1. Additionally, purified α 5 β 1 bound more avidly to EDA+ FN than to EDA- FN. These effects were observed only in the context of the intact FN molecule, since the difference in integrin-binding activity between EDA+ FN and EDA- FN was abolished in the case of case of FN fragments (**Manabe R et al**)

1998 - Plasma FN and cellular FN (A+B+) were purified from human plasma and from conditioned medium of the SV-40-transformed embryonic human lung WI-38-VA cell line. 6xHis-tagged EDA was expressed in E. coli and purified in a Ni-NTA resin column. In vivo skin wounds were performed in rats for granulation tissue

sample collection. EDA-FN deposition precedes aSMA expression by fibroblasts during granulation tissue evolution in vivo and after TGF β 1 stimulation in vitro.

1999 - Molecular dynamics simulations for the FNIII₁₀ were carried out. The Nterminal end was fix in position and a force was applied to the C-terminal end. Increasing the applied force, the domain is distorted with hydrogen bonds between the β -sheets being broken apart. Further pulling leads to total disintegration of the modules with all the strands aligned. This suggests that FNIII₁₀ constitutes a mechanosensitive control of ligand recognition (**Krammer A et al**)

1999 - Full length human recombinant FN variants were generated for functional analysis of the extra domains B and A (B-A-, B+A-, B-A+, B+A+). Coating experiments were performed with CHO-K1 cells to study attachment and spreading, integrin binding, induction of DNA synthesis, MAP kinase activation and tyrosine phosphorylation of p130 and FAK. Authors conclude that the inclusion of EDA through alternative splicing promotes FN-induced cell cycle progression through upregulation of integrin-mediated mitogenic signal transduction (Manabe R et al)

1999 - His-tagged FNIII repeats, EDA containing fragments, and purified placental FN (all human) were used for functional studies in rabbit cartilage explants, chondrocytes and synovial cells. EDA alone can induce the production of MMPs (-1, - 3, -9), while other FNIII domains cannot. This induction depends on IL1 and is abolished when EDA is flanked by FNIII repeats, suggesting that exposure of the NH₃- or the –COOH end of the EDA domain by proteolytic cleavage releases the inducing activity (**Saito S et al**)

2001 - FN Extra Domain fragments (6xHis-tagged EDA and EDB), FNIII₁ C-terminus, human cellular FN (by Sigma) were used. EDA exclusively was able to activate TLR4. This activation persisted in the presence of the LPS-binding antibiotic polymyxin B, and a potent LPS antagonist. EDA-containing FN fragments promote expression of genes involved in the inflammatory response (**Okamura Y et al**)

2001 - Generation of mice harboring a "floxed" FN gene in order to establish mice with an inducible tissue specific deletion of the fibronectin gene. pFN-deficient mice show increased neuronal apoptosis and larger infarction areas after transient focal cerebral ischemia. On the other hand, pFN is dispensable for skin-wound healing and hemostasis. (Sakai T et al)

2001 - Study the levels of circulating cellular fibronectin in diabetes patients using a monoclonal antibody against the EDA segment of FN. Circulating cellular fibrinectin was significantly elevated in patients with diabetes compared with patients with ischemic stroke, patients with renovascular hypertension, and with healthy subjects. Cellular fibrinectin may be a marker protein for endothelial cell activation, especially in diabetes (Kanters SDJM et al) 2002 - FN in solution was probed with two fluorophores that display FRET when FN is in a compact form. Cell forces can induce conformation changes in the FNIII domains resulting in a stretched conformation that abolishes FRET, supporting a model of FN fibril elasticity based on unraveling and refolding of FNIII modules (**Baneyx G et al**)

2002 - Rat FN-EDA sequence was compared against known proteins that contain peptides bound by $\alpha 9\beta 1$ and $\alpha 4\beta 1$. Wild type and mutant FN-EDA segments were coated in microtiter plates and cell adhesion was measured (**Yung-Feng L et al**)

2002 - Mice lacking the EDB exon were generated using the Cre-Lox system. EDBdeficient mice develop normally and are fertile. No significant phenotypes observed in vivo. Isolated fibroblasts, however, grow more slowly and deposit less FN in the pericellular matrix than wild type fibroblasts underlying a potential role in the growth of connective tissue cells via the FN matrix (**Fukuda T et al**)

2003 - Establishment of a mouse model comprised of animals that constitutively express EDA+ FN, and animals that are homozygous for EDA- FN. EDA is not necessary for FN matrix assembly, neither for embryonic development. On the other hand, EDA lacking mice display abnormal wound healing. Both mutant mice have a significantly shorter lifespan, suggesting that EDA splicing regulation is necessary for efficient long-term maintenance of biological functions (**Muro AF et al**)

2003 - Generation of EDA-/- mice and crossing with ApoE-/- mice to study the effect of EDA in arterial wall lesion development. EDA-FN was increased in the ApoE-/- mice and total plasma cholesterol was reduced in EDA-/-ApoE-/- mice, suggesting apotential role of FN-EDA in plasma lipoprotein metabolism (**Tan MH et al**)

2004 - A series of FN-EDA minigens was generated with variations in the splicing enhancer and splicing silencing elements. The sequence context as well as the primary sequence identity can contribute to the making of functional units capable of influencing pre-mRNA splicing. (**Buratti E et al**)

2004 - EDB-/- and EDA-/- mice strains were used to examine neovascularization of mouse retinas, pancreatic tumors and transplanted melanomas. The absence of EDA and EDB did not significantly affect physiological or tumor angiogenesis. Tumor growth was not affected neither was the expression level of αSMA. The presence of EDA or EDB splice variants individually is not essential for neovascularization (**Astrof S et al**)

2005 - EDA +/+ and EDA -/- mice were generated by using gene targeting. The absence of regulated splicing of EDA has behavioral consequences. Deletion of EDA results in reduced motor coordination abilities and vertical exploratory capacity, whereas mice constitutively expressing EDA+ FN display a in locomotor activity in the open field test. Results suggest that the EDA exon in necessary for a normal function of the brain. (Chauhan AK et al)

2006 - Generation of antibodies and compounds to target EDB FN for visualization of tumors in mice provides a potentially useful clinical tool for imaging of angiogenesis-associated EDB-FN expressing human tumors. (**Berndorff D et al**)

2007 - Blood was collected from affected and non-affected members of 15 pedigrees with incidents of glomerulopathy with FN deposits and linkage analysis was performed on the FN chromosomal region. The mutations found were introduced into human cDNA encoding repeats III12-14 and expressed as His-tagged fusion proteins in Sf9 cells by the Baculovirus system. Mutated proteins resulted in reduced cell spreading and impaired cytoskeletal reorganization (**Castelleti F et al**)

2007 - The RGD motif was replaced with the inactive RGE motif in mice. FN-RGE homozygous mice died at embryonic day 10, though FN matrix assembly was not compromised in mutant embryos or on mutant cells. FN-RGE matrix assembly can be mediated by $\alpha V\beta 3$ integrin instead as shown by $\alpha 5$ knockdown experiments, as well as assembly assays utilizing FN fragments (FNI₁₋₁₀, FNIII₁₋₅, FNIII₇₋₁₀) (**Takahashi et al**)

2007 - Both EDA and EDB exons were simultaneously deleted from the FN gene in mice. Embryonic lethality was observed on day E10.5. FN synthesis and assembly were not affected. Double null embryos displayed extensive cardiovascular defects, including vascular hemorrhage, failure of remodeling embryonic and yolk sac vasculature, defective placental angiogenesis and heart defects. (Astrof S et al)

2007 - Patient derived primary lung fibroblasts, mice lacking the EDA domain and their wilde type littermates were used as experimental model to investigate the role of EDA-containing fibronectin in lung fibrogenesis. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis lung fibroblasts produced markedly more EDA-containing fibronectin and aSMA than control fibroblasts. EDA-null mice failed to develop significant fibrosis 21 days after bleomycin challenge, whereas wild type controls developed the expected increase in total lung collagen. Failure to develop lung fibrosis in EDA-null mice correlated with diminished activation of latent transforming growth factor (TGF)-b and decreased lung fibroblast responsiveness to active TGF-b in vitro. (**Muro AF et al**)

2007 - Mice devoid of regulated splicing at the EDA exon were used to study the role of EDA-FN in thrombosis. EDA+ FN accelerates thrombosis both in vitro and in vivo at arterial shear rates. However, the presence of EDA affected neither single platelet adhesion to subendothelium nor thrombosis in veins. EDA+ FN has prothrombotic activity and its presence in plasma may worsen pathological conditions in which this form is elevated. (Chauhan AK et al)

2007 - Generation of mice modified to produce EDA+ FN in the liver showed that these animals have normal extracellular matrix FN levels but secrete less soluble FN. EDA-exon deletion resulted in restoring the FN levels in both plasma and tissues.

Thus, an important fraction of tissue FN is actually plasma derived, suggesting that plasma is an important source of tissue FN (**Moretti FA et al**)

2007 - His-tagged rat FN-EDA segment or FNIII₄-EDA hybrids were used in order to identify the peptide sequence within the EDA domain that mediates $\alpha 9\beta 1$ dependent cellular responses. The residues responsible for integrin binding were found to be Asp⁴¹ and Arg⁴² that reside within the C-C' loop of EDA. rFN constructs (His-tagged A+RGD+, A+RGD-, A-RGD+, A-RGD-) were also used in coating experiments to assess integrin binding and cell behavior. The presence of EDA stimulates the formation of filopodial protrusions at the cell periphery, as well as Cdc42 activation (**Shinde AV et al**)

2007 - To analyze the role of FN isoforms in atherosclerotic lesion formation, mouse strains devoid of EDA-exon regulated splicing were utilized, that constitutively include (EDA+/+) or exclude (EDA-/-) the exon. Both mutant mice had a 40% reduction in atherosclerotic lesions after the atherogenic diet treatment associated to a lower capacity of macrophages to uptake modified LDL and undergo foam-cell formation. Lesions in control mice were more numerous and bigger with augmented and deeper macrophage infiltration, and increased FN expression in the sub-endothelial area (**Babaev VR et al**)

2009 - Using a mouse tumor model, the impact of different angiogenic microenvironments on FN-EDB expression was investigated. The angiogenic microenvironment, and in particular the VEGF/VEGFR-2 system, plays a key role in modulating EDB-FN expression by tumor cells in vivo. This may have implications for the design of therapeutic strategies targeting EDB-FN in combination with anti-angiogenic and/or cytotoxic drugs (**Coltrini D et al**)

2010 - An siRNA approach targeting specifically EDA- or EDB-containing FN showed that silencing of cFN variants differentially affects integrin usage, cell spreading, motility and capillary morphogenesis in vitro. cFN-deficient cells undergo a switch from $\alpha 5\beta 1$ - to $\alpha v\beta 3$ -based adhesion, accompanied by a Src-regulated disruption of adherens junctions. (Cseh et al)

2012 - 6xHis-tagged FN fragments (FNIII₇₋₁₀ including EDB) were subject to x-ray structural analysis. A tendency toward RDB-dependent dimer formation in solution was described. Insertion of EDB appears to stabilize overall head-to-tail dimerization of two separate FN chains which together with alternating homodimer formation via S-S bridges at the C-termninus should lead to the known macromolecular fibril formation (**Schiefner A et al**)

2012 - Using engineered antibody fragments, new EDB-specific anticalins were generated that can provide useful reagents in research and biomedical drug development, both for in vivo imaging and for directed cancer therapy (**Gebauer M et al**)

2016 - The osteoblast-mediated role of FN in hematopoiesis was studied in a mouse model. FN was depleted specifically in osteoblasts in mice affecting myelopoiesis. FN constructs (pFN, EDA, EDB – no mention if they are fragments, full length, nor their source) were transfected into a cancer cell line in which FN had been deleted using shRNA (check the figure!). EDA-FN augments myeloid cells in vivo via α 5 β 1 thereby increasing cancer growth, which is reverted after α 5 β 1 blocking. These results establish an immune regulatory function for EDA-FN originating from the osteoblasts and identify new avenues for enhancing the immune reaction against cancer (**Rossnagl S et al**)

2016 - A mouse model and cell culture was used to determine the role of FN in endocytosis. Fn constructs were the same as those in Rossnagl et al 2016 (same team). Fibronectin containing an extra domain called EDB is released in bacterial meningitis. EDB-containing FN enhances phagocytosis more than plasma FN. The enhancement is mediated by activation of $\alpha\nu\beta3$ in the presence of EDB. (**Kraft S et al**)

2017 - Patient derived cells, human cerebral microvascular endothelial cells, and human glioblastoma cell lines were used to study the interplay between TGF β ancofetal FN. A positive correlation was identified in the expression of EDA+ and EDB+ with molecules associated with TGF β signaling. Using FNIII fragments (single Extra Domains, or Extra Domains flanked by their naturally adjacent sequences), the authors described that FN modulates TGF β superfamily signaling in endothelial cells via the EDA and EDB domains pointing toward a bidirectional influence between oncofetal FN and TGF β superfamily signaling (**Ventura E et al**)

2017 - A human pFN cDNA clone and a human cDNA fibronectin clone containing the EDA and EDB domains were used to generate expression constructs (no A+B+ used). Constructs were used for stable transfections. Fibronectin containing EDA produced by osteoblasts enhances their differentiation via $\alpha 4\beta 1$. On the other hand, EDB enhances FN binding to $\beta 3$ integrin through the RGD sequence, resulting in increased mineralization by and differentiation of osteoblasts. (**Sens C et al**)

2018 - Rat FN domain peptides expressed in E. coli, and full length rat FN constructs harboring one, both, or no extra domains (all 6xHis-tagged) were used to study the role of the extra domains in LTBP1 binding and TGF β activation. High ECM stiffness promotes expression and co-localization of LTBP1 and EDA-containing FN. Additionally, LTBP1 bound more effectively to ED+ FN than to EDB+ FN and FN lacking extra domains. Authors suggest that EDA domain enhances association of the latent TGF β 1 by promoting weak direct binding to LTBP1 and by enhancing heparinmediated protein interactions through HepII in FN (**Klingberg F et al**)

8. Annex 2: Classification of the fibronectin variants with curvelets

Classification of the fibronectin variants with curvelets

Anca-Ioana Grapa, Raphael Meunier, Laure Blanc-Féraud, Georgios Efthymiou, Sébastien Schaub, Agata Radwanska, Ellen van Obberghen-Schilling, Xavier Descombes

HAL Id: hal-01868726

https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01868726

Submitted on 5 Sep 2018

To cite this work:

Anca-Ioana Grapa, Raphael Meunier, Laure Blanc-Féraud, Georgios Efthymiou, Sébastien Schaub, et al. Classification of the fibronectin variants with curvelets. ISBI 2018 - IEEE 15th International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging, Apr 2018, Washington, DC, United States. pp. 930-933, 10.1109/ISBI.2018.8363723. hal-01868726

CLASSIFICATION OF THE FIBRONECTIN VARIANTS WITH CURVELETS

Anca-Ioana Grapa^Y Raphae^T Meunier^Y Laure Blanc-Fe'raud[†] Georgios Efthymiou[‡] Se'bastien Schaub[‡] Agata Radwanska[‡] Ellen van Obberghen-Schilling[‡] Xavier Descombes^Y

> 'Universite' Co'te d'Azur, Inria, CNRS, I3S, France [†]Universite' Co'te d'Azur, CNRS, Inria, I3S, France [‡]Universite' Co'te d'Azur, CNRS, INSERM, IBV, France

ABSTRACT

The role of the extracellular matrix (ECM) in the evolution of certain diseases (e.g. fibrosis, cancer) is generally accepted but yet to be completely understood. A numerical model that captures the physical properties of the ECM, could convey certain connections between the topology of its constituents and their associated biological features. This study addresses the analysis and modeling of fibrillar networks containing Fibronectin (FN) networks, a major ECM molecule, from 2D confocal microscopy images. We leveraged the advantages of the fast discrete curvelet transform (FDCT), in order to obtain a multiscale and multidirectional representation of the FN fibrillar networks. This step was validated by performing a classification among the different variants of FN upregulated in disease states with a multi-class classification algorithm. DAG-SVM. Subsequently, we designed a method to ensure the invariance to rotation of the curvelet features. Our results indicate that the curvelets offer an appropriate discriminative model for the FN networks, that is able to characterize the local fiber geometry.

Index Terms—FN networks, ECM, curvelets, DAG-SVM classification

1. INTRODUCTION

The ECM represents a molecular scaffold used by cells to adhere, migrate and communicate in tissues. One of its major components is the Fibronectin (FN) molecule, a large multidomain protein which is assembled by cells into fibrillar networks. It is known that the fibrillar organization of the cellular FN is a key feature of the ECM and can take various conformations depending on the presence of alternatively spliced variants [1]. FN variants differ by the inclusion (or exclusion) of two FN Type III Domains (Extra Domains A and B). In this study, we focused on the analysis and modeling with curvelets of four variants: FN A-B-, FN A+, FN B+ and FN A+B+ illustrated in Fig. 1.

A significant number of methodologies have been proposed in the literature to extract highly discriminative features out of images. We are interested in multiresolution analytical tools that are able to capture the geometrical properties (e.g. scale, orientation) of the anisotropic fibers in a multiscalebased fashion. Several studies on multi-resolution analysis show that curvelet basis is suitable to represent curvilinear features [2]. A fast discrete curvelet transform [3] was used in order to capture and describe the geometry of the FN networks with curvelets. However, the extracted features are not invariant to rotation. For example, two images that have different main orientations but correspond to the same FN variant will be assigned to two different classes.



Fig. 1: Different variants of FN. Scale bar = 1 µm

In this paper, we describe a method to align images in a given direction before computing the discrete curvelet coefficients. Our approach was validated by performing a classification among the four variants, with a DAG-SVM classifier. In order to obtain an alternative representation of the image in the feature space, called image signature, we built a Bag of Features model of the curvelet coefficients. The results of signature classification were compared to those of a specialist. We, therefore, show that our feature extractor model can outperform a trained biologist in terms of classification accuracy.

2. THE CURVELET TRANSFORM AND FEATURE EXTRACTION

In the field of image processing, multiscale/multiresolution tools have been extensively used for anisotropic feature extraction (points, lines, edges) and detection, compression etc. Among existing methods, the wavelets can detect features such as point singularities [4] but do not constitute a wellsuited technique to represent curvilinear features, such as those that describe the FN fibers.

The curvelet transform is a family of frames that is proposed as a means to tackle this inconvenience. We chose the second generation of curvelets, which is a multiscale pyramid allowing the representation of a certain number of possible directions at multiple scales [4].

2.1. Fast Discrete Curvelet Transform

The output of the linear transform is a collection of coefficients $C_{j,l,k}$ evaluated in Fourier domain (real-valued), indexed by discrete-valued scale j, orientation l and location k. Usually, a finer scale is associated with a higher number of possible orientations. This property allows for highly anisotropic elements being represented at a fine scale.

Conceptually, the transformation implements a tight frame, meaning that every function $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ can be represented as follows [3]:

$$f = \sum_{j,l,k}^{\Sigma} q_{j,l,k} \psi_{l,k}$$
(1)

where

 $\psi_{j,l,k}$ is the discrete curvelet waveform

and

$$C_{j,l,k} = (f, \psi_{j,l,k})$$
 (2)

The Parseval identity then holds:

$$\sum_{j,l,k}^{2} g_{,l,k}^{2} = \|f\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} \quad \forall f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R})^{2} \quad (3)$$

Regarding the digital implementation of the curvelet transform, there are multiple options for the construction of cartesian arrays, instead of polar tiling, in the frequency plane. We chose the wrapping method implemented in Curvelet Toolbox [3] for its simplicity in the handling of the discretization grid.

2.2. Curvelet feature extraction

Each image of size $N \times N$ is decomposed into $(\log_2(N) - 3)$ dyadic scales and the number of angular sectors for each scale differs according to the following example: for N = 512, the curvelet transform returns 6 scales with 1, 16, 32, 32, 64, 64 possible orientations from coarse to fine scales respectively. Fig. 2 illustrates the curvelet coefficients amplitude matrices for 3 levels of decomposition corresponding to coarsest scale 1_r 2, and finest scale 6. The multiple matrices at each level belong to different orientations. A certain fiber will be reconstituted by a linear combination of curvelet coefficients at different scales and orientations.



Fig. 2: Curvelet scale decomposition of a sample image at 3 scales, from coarse to fine: 1, 2, 6.

Related studies consider different statistical properties of the curvelet coefficients for texture characterization, such as energy [5], entropy or curvelet subband distribution [6]. As our main interest is to perform geometrical modeling of the fibers rather than a pure assessment of their discriminative power, instead of computing average statistical features to facilitate the classification, we have worked with the coefficients themselves.

However, we chose to reduce the vast number of coefficients taken into account for the classification, and thus keep the most significant ones. To do so, we selected the largest curvelet coefficients that contain a suitable percentage of the total energy. A percentage of 85% seems to be a good compromise between the speed of the training and classification algorithm and the fidelity of image reconstruction, as illustrated in Fig. 3. Finally, the coefficients that belong to the finest scale, susceptible of capturing the eventual acquisition noise present in the images, were not taken into account.



(a) Input sample

(b) Reconstructed sample

Fig. 3: Reconstruction of a sample image after keeping 85% of total curvelet coefficients energy.

2.3. Invariance to rotation

The curvelets that are described above are not invariant to rotation. In a discriminating context, this aspect can be quite problematic, as it can impact the accuracy of the classification. What is important in the FN images is the presence of multiple dominant orientations, relative to each other. During the acquisition process, the samples of the ECM may also be differently oriented. Hence we needed to ensure that the images follow the same main privileged direction.

To do so, we estimated the dominant orientation of the fibers and rotated every image according to its own dominant orientation. Since this different information is hidden in the energy distribution over the subbands, we opted for an estimation of the dominant orientation using the gradient vector of the images. For a function $f \in \mathbb{R}^2$, we consider its gradient vector ∇f = (f_{x_r}, f_y) with magnitude defined by $|\nabla f| = \frac{1}{2} f_x^2 + f_y^2$ and orientation $\theta = \arctan(\frac{f_x}{f_x})$. We can now estimate the dominant orientation θ as:

$$\Theta = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} |\nabla f_i|^2 \Theta_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} |\nabla f_i|^2}$$
(4)

where $|\nabla f_i|$ is the magnitude and θ_i is the orientation of the image gradient at pixel *i*.

Subsequently, the images were aligned to the same direction, after performing a rotation by interpolation with the corresponding Θ .

3. BAG OF FEATURES MODEL

In order to validate the assumption that curvelets can provide a suitable model for the characterization of FN fibers, we first needed to show their ability to describe the fiber geometry in terms of physical characteristics (e.g. scale, orientation, location). In addition to that, we were interested in determining the discriminating capacity of the curvelet features (i.e. ability to discriminate among the different FN variants). Therefore a bag of features model [7], adapted to our data, was developed in order to analyze the classification results of the four FN variants, as detailed below.

The curvelet features that describe the fibers are the collection of coefficients $C_{j,l,a}$ with scale j, orientation l and magnitude a. We performed a K-means clustering of the curvelet coefficients after the curvelet decomposition of the image database, referred to as the training dataset. In order to determine an appropriate number of clusters, we used a heuristic elbow method [8] and found K = 400 number of to-tal clusters. The normalized feature histogram was computed as the rate of the number of its curvelet coefficients assigned to each cluster, as shown in Fig. 4. Also referred as image signature, it is stored as a K-dimension vector of real-positive values. The image signature constitutes the input data for the chosen classifier.

We decided to use a non-exhaustive k-fold cross validation technique with k = 4 to evaluate the classification performance and its generalization capabilities. The classification of the feature histograms is performed using a DAG-SVM classifier, using LibSVM [9], as described below.



Fig. 4: Bag of features pipeline (from left to right): K-means clustering in curvelet feature space, image signature (feature histogram) and classification of the image signatures.

3.1. DAG-SVM classifier

In terms of classification of the previous curvelet feature histograms, we are faced with a supervised non-linear problem. Support vector machine (SVM) constitutes a standard statistical learning technique to solve binary classification and regression problems. An extension of SVM to multi-class techniques, DAG-SVM [10], was used in this study for the classification of the image signatures corresponding to the FN variants. For a 4-class problem, we built and trained 4(4-1)/2binary SVM classifiers, arranged in a tree structure [7] with 4layers and 4(4-1)/2 nodes. The classification was hence performed by evaluating a decision function in each node, resulting in (4-1) decisions to be made for a test sample. The classification process with DAG-SVM is therefore relatively fast.

4. SIMULATION RESULTS

This section describes the implementation of the proposed method for the classification of the four FN variants. We deployed a database of 280 images of 3128×3128 pixels with a lateral resolution of 0.27 µm/pixel, acquired with a Zeiss 710 confocal system. Each class contains 70 images corresponding to the four FN variants. For speed convenience, we selected a representative region of 512×512 pixels from each image and used those regions for feature extraction and classification. The classification results were compared to those of a trained specialist, in terms of general classification accuracy, as well as confusion matrices.

Table 1 indicates the values of the confusion matrix for the automatic classification, while Table 2 shows the results of the specialist. The confusion matrix indicates that the classifier is highly capable of distinguishing the FN images belonging to variant A-B- from the rest of the others. Additionally, the classifier is presented with a greater challenge when it comes to distinguishing among classes B+ and A+. A similar pattern was noted in the confusion matrix that corresponds to the classification performed by the specialist.

Predicted Actual	A+	A-B-	B+	A+B+
A+	64.3	2.9	25.7	7.1
A-B-	0	90	0	10
B+	25.7	4.3	45.7	24.3
A+B+	0	15.7	8.6	75.7

Table 1: Confusion matrix in percentage form - automatic classification

Predicted Actual	A+	A-B-	B+	A+B+
A+	77.2	0	18.5	4.3
A-B-	0	65.7	5.7	28.6
B+	34.3	0	48.6	17.1
A+B+	2.9	5.7	37.2	54.2

Table 2: Confusion matrix in percentage form - Trained specialist

The fiber geometry associated to the A-B- FN variant, characterized by short filaments without a specific pattern, seems to be represented by a more discriminative geometric model. On the other hand, the topological properties of the fibers corresponding to FN A+, and FN B+ (i.e. fiber length and the presence of an apparent directionality) are quite similar, thus increasing the difficulty in differentiating between them. FN variant that incorporate the B+ domain is the least distinguishable, both in automatic and manual classification.

Regarding the general accuracy of classification, the clas-

sification scheme that is proposed in this paper (68.92%) outperforms the results obtained by a trained specialist (61.42%).

5. CONCLUSION

FN network fibers exhibit local geometric properties that can be captured by curvelet features. We can reconstruct the fibers as a linear combination of curvelet coefficients at multiple scales and orientations. In addition, we are able to classify among the four variants of interest, with a similar performance to that of a trained specialist. Future studies will focus on the development of generative models of the 2D/3D FN variants, as well as the generation of a model based on differences in FN architecture caused by tumor-like cells.

Acknowledgements. This work was supported by the French Government (National Research Agency, ANR) through the "Investments for the Future" LABEX SIGNALIFE: program reference ANR-11-LABX-0028-01.

6. REFERENCES

- Van Obberghen-Schilling E., Tucker R.P., Saupe F., Gasser I., Cseh B., and Orend G., "Fibronectin and tenascin-c: Accomplices in vascular morphogenesis during development and tumor growth," *Int J Dev Biol*, vol. 55, pp. 511–25, 2011.
- Jianwei Ma and Gerlind Plonka, "A review of curvelets and recent applications," in *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, 2009.
- 3 Emmanuel Cande's, Laurent Demanet, David Donoho, and Lexing Ying, "Fast discrete curvelet transforms," SIAM Journal on Multiscale Modeling and Simulation, vol. 5, 09 2006.
- 4 M.J. Fadili and J.-L. Starck, "Curvelets and ridgelets," *Ency-clopedia of Complexity and Systems Science*, vol. 3, pp. 1718–1738, 2009.
- 5 Yan Shang, Yan-Hua Diao, and Chun-Ming Li, "Rotation invariant texture classification algorithm based on curvelet transform and svm," in 2008 International Conference on Machine Learning and Cybernetics, July 2008, vol. 5, pp. 3032–3036.
- 6 F. Gmez and E. Romero, "Rotation invariant texture characterization using a curvelet based descriptor," *Pattern Recognition Letters*, vol. 32, no. 16, pp. 2178-2186, 2011.
- 7 Gabriella Csurka, Christopher R. Dance, Lixin Fan, Jutta Willamowski, and Ce'dric Bray, "Visual categorization with bags of keypoints," in *Workshop on Statistical Learning in Computer Vision, ECCV*, 2004, pp. 1–22.
- 8 Trupti M. Kodinariya and Prashant R. Makwana, "Review on determining number of cluster in k-means clustering," *International Journal of Advance Research in Computer Science and Management Studies*, vol. 1, 2013.
- 9 Chih-Chung Chang and Chih-Jen Lin, "LIBSVM: A library for support vector machines," ACM Transactions on Intelligent Systems and Technology, vol. 2, pp. 27:1–27:27, 2011.
- 10 Pheng Shen and Shiang Liu, "An improved dag-svm for multiclass classification," 2009 Fifth International Conference on Natural Computation, vol. 1, pp. 460-462, 2009.